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If a hostile situation or a review we advise goes awry,
it is possibly injustice we and our clients have always prepared for.
But if we lose our hope and belief in what we do,

that is certainly something we can never restore.
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Corporate Information
NEEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Non-Executive Director:
Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao (Chairman)

Executive Directors:

Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren (Managing Director)

Mr. Xu Haohao
(redesignated from Non-Executive Director with effect
from 4 June 2024)

Mr. Lam Chi Shing

Ms. Li Ming

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Sze Chung

Mr. Suen Chi Wai

Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Haochao
(appointed with effect from 4 June 2024)
Mr. Lam Chi Shing
Ms. Li Ming

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chan Sze Chung (Chairman)
Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao
Mr. Suen Chi Wai
Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred
Mr. Xu Haohao
(ceased to be member with effect from 4 June 2024)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Suen Chi Wai (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Sze Chung
Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred
Mr. Xu Haohao
(ceased to be member with effect from 4 June 2024)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred (Chairman)
Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao

Mr. Chan Sze Chung

Mr. Suen Chi Wai

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lau Ka Ki, Klare

(appointed with effect from 1 August 2024)
Mr. Lee Hon Sang

(resigned with effect from 1 August 2024)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren
Ms. Lau Ka Ki, Klare

(appointed with effect from 1 August 2024)
Mr. Lee Hon Sang

(resigned with effect from 1 August 2024)

Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

EEE

FYUTES !
BAFRE(ZR)

HITES

(g (EFARACHE)

BEEEE
(B=Z_mExAMBE#E
HIEITE = MT)

MAER

ES e

BYFHTES:
MBI
Bb@ ks
SEELE

HITEE"

TEEG S (TE)

BEZKE
(B-ZE_MEXAMNAEEERT)

PRGBS AE

ES S

BREE"
BB ()

BAZKE

BSERE

BEE S

BhEREE \
(B-Z-—mMENANBRTEEEKE)

REZESE

REREE(L/E)

BRBHSELE

SEERE

HRERELE
(BEZZ-MFEXANBRTEEERE)

yMEES

SRELE(LE)
BAFREE
BRBHSEE
FEREE

RNEAME

Bzt
(BEZZZMFENA—HRELZT)

&S Vo iotast
(BZZZmF )\ A—HEEIT)

REAR

TEMHEE

Bzt
(AZZ-MFENA—BREZRT)

g S L
(BZZZmENA—BRHET)



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

BDO Limited
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

BNP Paribas Hong Kong Branch
Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
OCBC Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

HEADQUARTER AND PRINCIPAL
PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

Room 1801, 18th Floor
Allied Kajima Building
138 Gloucester Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

STOCK CODE

1078 (listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited)

WEBSITE

www.irasia.com/listco/hk/dayufinancial/
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

| am pleased to present the annual results of Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2024.

In 2024, Hong Kong’s stock market demonstrated resilience amid global economic
uncertainties, geopolitical tensions, and China’s economic stagnation. Stimulus
measures announced by China in the third quarter triggered a strong rebound in
the Hang Seng Index, which surged by 18% over the year. The rally has continued
at the time of this writing, driven primarily by the technology sector. A key catalyst
for this excitement is the rise of China-grown DeepSeek, an artificial intelligence
company developing large language models capable of rivaling — and in some
measures surpassing — their United States counterparts, while achieving significant
cost efficiencies. This breakthrough underscores China’s growing ability to innovate
and compete in the global technology arena.

DIVIDENDS

The board of Directors of the Company has resolved to recommend for the approval
of the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, 30 May 2025 (the “AGM”)
the payment of a final dividend of HK0.28 cent per share and a special dividend of
HKO0.16 cent per share for the year ended 31 December 2024. The proposed final
dividend and special dividend will together make a total dividends for the year 2024
of HKO0.44 cent per share (2023: Nil).

Subject to the approval by the Shareholders at the AGM, the proposed final dividend
and special dividend will be paid on Friday, 20 June 2025 to the Shareholders
whose names registered in the register of members of the Company at the close of
business on Wednesday, 11 June 2025.

Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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CLOSURES OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(1) For determining the entitlement to attend, speak and
vote at the AGM

The forthcoming AGM is scheduled to be held on Friday, 30 May 2025. The
register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 27 May
2025 to Friday, 30 May 2025, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. To be eligible to attend,
speak and vote at the AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited of
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 26
May 2025.

(2) For determining the entitlement to the proposed final
dividend and the proposed special dividend

For determining the entitlement to the proposed final dividend and the
proposed special dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 9 June
2025 to Wednesday, 11 June 2025, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order for
a Shareholder to qualify for the proposed final dividend and the proposed
special dividend, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited of Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 6 June 2025.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The “Management Discussion and Analysis” by the Managing Director, which
immediately follows this statement and biographical details of Directors,
incorporates the Group’s business outlook for the future.

APPRECIATION

| would like to express the Group’s appreciation for the efforts of our staff, in
particular our very innovative executive team, and look forward to their continued
support. | would also like to thank my fellow Directors, our professional advisers and
our shareholders for their support.

Kuo Jen-Hao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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Biographical Details of Directors
EEREFE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHAIRMAN OF
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao (“Mr. Kuo”), aged 48, was appointed as a Non-Executive
Director on 23 December 2019. Mr. Kuo is the chairman of board of Directors of the
Company and a member of each of audit committee and remuneration committee
of the Company. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Kuo is currently the chairman and the general manager of First Steamship
Company Limited (“First Steamship”), a substantial shareholder of the Company,
the chairman of Grand Ocean Retail Group Limited, a subsidiary of First Steamship
and the chairman of Taiwan Environment Scientific Co., Ltd. These companies listed
on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation. In addition, Mr. Kuo is also a non-
executive director and chairman of the board of Sandmartin International Holdings
Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability with its shares
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (stock code: 482).

Mr. Kuo has several years of work experience in investment advisory, financial
advisory and corporate finance at PricewaterhouseCoopers, Bank of America
Merrill Lynch and Private Equity Management Group and held various key roles
at several private and listed companies engaging in (i) the administrative and
corporate business; (i) corporate finance; and (i) general management in real
estate development business, shipping business, retailing business and logistics
business. Mr. Kuo has a wealth of experience in business strategy development and
innovation management.

Mr. Kuo graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from
Aletheia University in Taiwan and holds a Master degree of Business Administration
from Pace University in 2003 in the United States. Mr. Kuo is an inactive certified
public accountant of the New Jersey State Board of Accountancy.
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Biographical Details of Directors (Continued)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren (“Mr. Warren Lee”), aged 61, was appointed as an
Executive Director on 25 July 2019 and is the Managing Director and the chairman
of the executive committee of the Company. He was one of the founding directors of
Yu Ming Investment Management Limited (“Yu Ming”), the wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, in August 1996 and has worked in Yu Ming ever since. Mr.
Warren Lee is mainly responsible for overseeing business development of Yu Ming,
maintaining client relationship, monitoring industry developments and supervising
corporate finance advisory and asset management teams on the provision of
services to clients. Mr. Warren Lee is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company.

Mr. Warren Lee has over 20 years of experience serving as a director of the
companies listed on the Stock Exchange and overseas stock exchanges. Currently.
Mr. Warren Lee is an independent non-executive director of Wise Ally International
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 9918), since December 2019, and TIH Limited, a company listed on the
Singapore Exchange (SGX: T55), since May 2024.

Mr. Warren Lee is also a director of SHK Hong Kong Industries Limited (“SHK?”), a
company formerly listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (former stock
code: 666, which was privatised in April 2021). He was appointed as SHK’s director
in September 2004.

Mr. Warren Lee graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree from the University of
East Anglia in the United Kingdom in 1986 and obtained a distinction in Master of
Science degree from The City University Business School in London in 1988.

Mr. Warren Lee is licensed by the Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”)
to act as a Responsible Officer to carry on Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4
(advising on securities), Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) and Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO”).

Mr. Xu Haohao (“Mr. Xu”), aged 40, was appointed as a Non-Executive Director
on 31 May 2023 and was a member of each of audit committee and nomination
committee of the Company. He was redesignated as an Executive Director on 4
June 2024, ceased as the member of each of audit committee and nomination
committee of the Company and appointed as the member of executive committee
of the Company. He is also a director of a subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Xu is currently a major shareholder and executive director of Yuen Wo
International Limited, a company registered in Hong Kong.

Mr. Xu holds a Bachelor’s degree in Financial Administration from University of
Winnipeg, Canada and an EMBA degree from the City University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Xu has extensive experience in financial and corporate management. From
September 2019 to August 2022, Mr. Xu served as executive director and the chief
executive officer of Man Sang International Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 938). Mr. Xu also served as a director
and held various senior management positions including co-chairman and chief
executive officer of the companies listed on the Stock Exchange and the Shanghai
Stock Exchange from December 2014 to September 2019.

Mr. Xu is a director and shareholder of Beyond Global Enterprises Limited, a
substantial shareholder of the Company. He is also a director of Victory Gain
Ventures Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company and a subsidiary of
Beyond Global Enterprises Limited.
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Biographical Details of Directors (Continued)
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Mr. Lam Chi Shing (“Mr. Lam”), aged 44, was appointed as an Executive Director
on 25 July 2019 and is a member of the executive committee of the Company. He
joined Yu Ming in 2005. He is a director and the portfolio manager of Yu Ming and
is licensed by the SFC to act as a Responsible Officer to carry on Type 1 (dealing
in securities), Type 4 (advising on securities), Type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
and Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the SFO. Mr. Lam mainly
supervises the asset management business of Yu Ming, and is responsible for
formulating investments ideas, identifying different investment opportunities both
in listed and unlisted securities and execution of investment decisions. He is also
involved in the provision of corporate finance services by Yu Ming. Mr. Lam is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Lam has over 18 years of experience in asset management and corporate
finance gained in Yu Ming. Prior to joining Yu Ming, Mr. Lam worked in corporate
lending and syndication department of The Bank of East Asia, Limited. Mr. Lam
graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2002 with a Bachelor of
Business Administration degree, and is accredited with Chartered Financial Analyst
since September 2009.

Ms. Li Ming (“Ms. Li”), aged 47, was appointed as an Executive Director on 25
July 2019 and is a member of the executive committee of the Company. Ms. Li has
over 20 years of experience in corporate finance. She joined Yu Ming in October
2007. She is a director of Yu Ming and is mainly responsible for supervising and
leading execution of corporate finance projects of Yu Ming. She is also involved in
the provision of asset management services by Yu Ming. Ms. Li is also a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Prior to joining Yu Ming, Ms. Li worked with
Asian Capital (Corporate Finance) Limited from April 2001 to October 2007.

Ms. Li is also an independent non-executive director of Fufeng Group Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 546), since
April 2022.

Ms. Li is licensed by the SFC to act as a Responsible Officer to carry on Type
1 (dealing in securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activities as well as a Licensed Representative to carry on Type 4 (advising on
securities) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the SFO. Ms.
Li obtained Master of Finance (Investment Management) degree from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in 2010 and Bachelor of Arts degree in Business
Administration awarded by the University of Hertfordshire of the United Kingdom in
2000.
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Biographical Details of Directors (Continued)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Sze Chung (“Mr. Chan”), aged 55, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director on 26 July 2019. He is also the chairman of the audit
committee and a member of each of remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company.

Mr. Chan has over 30 years of experience in finance and accounting. He was
an independent non-executive director of Kontafarma China Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1312), from
December 2011 to June 2024.

From December 2009 to August 2010, Mr. Chan was the chief financial officer of
Coolpoint Energy Limited (now known as Viva Goods Company Limited), a company
formerly listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (former stock code: 8032) and now
transferred to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 933).

Mr. Chan became financial controller of Nam Tai Group Management Limited in
April 2001, and was promoted in September 2008 as chief financial officer of Nam
Tai Electronic & Electrical Products Limited, a company formerly listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (former stock code: 2633, which was privatised on 13
November 2009) and also as acting chief financial officer of Nam Tai Electronics, Inc.
(now known as Nam Tai Property, Inc.), a company listed on the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE: NTP).

Before joining Nam Tai Group Management Limited, Mr. Chan was employed as the
financial controller of J.I.C. Enterprises (Hong Kong) Limited, a company engaged
in manufacturing and trading of liquid crystal display panels, and was employed by
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu during the period from January 1993 to August 1997 and
served as a senior accountant at the time of his resignation.

Mr. Chan graduated from the University of Wales with a Bachelor of Arts degree in
Accounting and Finance in 1991 and obtained a Master of Arts degree in Accounting
and Finance at the University of Lancaster in December 1992. Mr. Chan is a certified
public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and that he is also
recognised as a chartered financial analyst by the CFA Institute of the United States
of America.
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Biographical Details of Directors (Continued)
EERFERE(E)

Mr. Suen Chi Wai (“Mr. Suen”), aged 60, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director on 26 July 2019. He is also the chairman of the nomination
committee and a member of each of audit committee and remuneration committee
of the Company.

Mr. Suen is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong. He was a partner of Withers
from February 2018 until his retirement from the partnership in March 2023, he
is currently a consultant of Withers. He has more than 20 years of experience in
corporate finance and with area of practice principally in initial public offerings on
the Stock Exchange, mergers and acquisitions, corporate reorganisations and
Listing Rules compliance, and he has advised clients from various industries such
as clean energy, pharmaceutical, medical, retails, manufacturing, entertainment and
biological. Before joining Withers, Mr. Suen was an associate and later a partner
of DLA Piper Hong Kong from June 2007 to May 2012 and May 2012 to February
2018, respectively, and served as a manager in the investment products department
of the SFC from October 2005 to July 2006, responsible for reviewing applications of
collective investment schemes and monitoring continuing compliance of authorised
schemes. Mr. Suen was an assistant solicitor at Woo Kwan Lee & Lo from
September 2000 to March 2005.

Mr. Suen has been serving as an independent non-executive director of Venus
Medtech (Hangzhou) Inc., a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2500), since July 2019, and BoardWare Intelligence
Technology Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1204), since June 2022.

Mr. Suen was an independent non-executive director of Xin Yuan Enterprises Group
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1748), from September 2018 to December 2024.

Mr. Suen received a Bachelor of Science degree from the University of East Anglia
in the United Kingdom in July 1987 and a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from the
University of Hong Kong in June 1998. Mr. Suen was admitted as a solicitor in Hong
Kong in October 2000 and in England and Wales in December 2003. Mr. Suen has
also been a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
since May 1998 and a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since April 1993.
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Biographical Details of Directors (Continued)

Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred (“Mr. Sum”), aged 60, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director on 26 July 2019. He is also the chairman of the
remuneration committee and a member of each of audit committee and nomination
committee of the Company.

Mr. Sum was the managing director and the head of corporate finance, equity
capital markets and debt capital markets department of BOCOM International
Holdings Company Limited (‘BOCOM”). He had been with BOCOM from September
2008 to September 2016, re-joined in March 2017 and left in August 2024. Between
September 2016 and March 2017, Mr. Sum worked in CEB International Capital
Corporation Limited and Celestial Capital Limited. Between 2002 and 2008, Mr.
Sum had been with TSC Capital Limited (now known as KGI Capital (Hong Kong)
Limited).

Mr. Sum was admitted as Certified Practising Accountant of the Australian Society
of Certified Practising Accountants in 1997 until 2008. Mr. Sum obtained a Bachelor
of Science degree from the University of East Anglia in the United Kingdom in 1986
and a Master of Commerce degree from the University of New South Wales in
Australia in 1992.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB R

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Current Reporting Period”), Da Yu
Financial Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) are principally engaged in the provision of corporate finance advisory
services and asset management services through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Yu Ming Investment Management Limited (“Yu Ming”), in investment in securities
through a wholly-owned subsidiary, Yu Ming High Dividend Fund (“YMHD Fund”),
in securities broking and placing of securities through a wholly-owned subsidiary,
Morton Securities Limited (“Morton Securities”), and in money lending business
in Hong Kong mainly through another wholly-owned subsidiary, Morgan Finance
Limited (“Morgan Finance”).

Yu Ming is licensed to carry out Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on
securities), Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) and Type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”).

YMHD Fund is a fund incorporated as an exempted company in the Cayman Islands
and registered as a regulated mutual fund under the Mutual Funds Act of the
Cayman lIslands.

Morton Securities is a securities dealer licensed to carry out Type 1 (dealing in
securities) regulated activities under the SFO. Morton Securities is also an Exchange
Participant of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
and is admitted by Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited to participate in
the Central Clearing and Settlement System as a Direct Clearing Participant (within
the meaning of the General Rules of Central Clearing and Settlement System).

Morgan Finance holds the money lenders licence, which was granted by the
licensing court pursuant to the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) and the Money Lenders Regulations, allowing Morgan Finance to
carry on money lending business in Hong Kong.

Corporate Finance Advisory

During the Current Reporting Period, the corporate finance advisory services
provided by Yu Ming mainly included the following:

()  acting as financial adviser to advise listed issuers, shareholders and investors
of listed issuers and entities on specific transactions in respect of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”),
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) and/or the Hong Kong Codes on Takeovers and
Mergers and Share Buy-backs (the “Takeovers Code”);

(i) acting as independent financial adviser to listed issuers to provide independent
advice required under the Listing Rules, the Takeovers Code or other specific
circumstances; and

(i) acting as financial adviser to listed issuers on retainer basis to advise listed

issuers on corporate strategies and compliance with the Listing Rules, the
GEM Listing Rules and the Takeovers Code.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Amongst the transactions advised include resumption of trading of Main Board listed
companies on the Stock Exchange, takeover under the Takeovers Code and hostile
situations.

Revenue for the Current Reporting Period from corporate finance advisory and
related services was approximately HK$28.8 million (2023: approximately HK$20.5
million).

Asset Management

During the Current Reporting Period, Yu Ming provided asset management services
to SHK Hong Kong Industries Limited and other two investment funds, including
YMHD Fund.

Revenue for the Current Reporting Period from asset management services was
approximately HK$19.2 million (2023: approximately HK$15.7 million), net of
intragroup asset management service fee.

Goodwill Assessment and Impairment

An accounting goodwill of approximately HK$303.0 million was recognised when
the Group acquired Yu Ming in 2019, based on Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard 3 (Revised) Business Combinations. A goodwill is continuously subject to
impairment testing and at least annually.

Impairment testing involves assessing the value in use of the cash-generating
units, the “corporate finance services, investment and others unit” and the “asset
management services unit” of Yu Ming in the case of the Group, to which the
goodwill is allocated. This assessment requires the Company to estimate the
expected future cash flows from these units and to use an appropriate discount rate
(which varies from time to time) to determine the present value of those cash flows.

During the estimation of expected future cash flows, management must consider
assumptions regarding future revenue and profits, which are contingent upon future
events and circumstances. Additionally, the discount rate depends on, inter alia,
market interest rates, market risk and asset-specific risk factors.

The board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) carefully assessed the
necessity for goodwill impairment by conducting a thorough analysis of the current
economic climate and market conditions, and finally considered no additional
goodwill impairment to be recognised in 2024 (2023: a material goodwill impairment
of approximately HK$172.4 million). If isolating the effect of non-cash goodwill
impairment, the consolidated financial results of the Company for the 12 months
ended 31 December 2024 recorded an adjusted total comprehensive income for
the Current Reporting Period of approximately HK$21.3 million, compared to the
adjusted total comprehensive income before goodwill impairment of approximately
HK$10.6 million in the previous year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEER W R (&)

Investment

During the Current Reporting Period, YMHD Fund principally carried on investment
in securities.

Other net financial gain for the Current Reporting Period from YMHD Fund’s
investment in securities was approximately HK$2.7 million (2023: Nil).

Securities Broking

During the Current Reporting Period, Morton Securities was principally engaged in
securities broking, placing of securities and investment in securities.

Morton Securities maintains a solid operation despite a small loss during the Current
Reporting Period.

Revenue for the Current Reporting Period from securities and related services was
approximately HK$5.7 million (2023: approximately HK$1.8 million).

Money Lending

During the Current Reporting Period, Morgan Finance was principally engaged in
money lending business in Hong Kong.

Nature of lending services

Morgan Finance together with its subsidiary derive referral fees and interest income
from commercial and personal lending as well as property mortgage financing. The
loans granted to customers range from unsecured loans (i.e. term loan and personal
loan) to secured loans (i.e. property mortgage and share mortgage). In view of the
economic instability, Morgan Finance continued to adhere to its cautious approach
to strengthening the overall credit risk management and control mechanism, in order
to minimise default risks, it also adjusted the interest rate and loan to value ratio on
a timely basis, according to the market situation.

Revenue for the Current Reporting Period from money lending and related business
was approximately HK$1.8 million (2023: approximately HK$5.4 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEER W R (&)

Customer profiles — Size, diversity and identity of borrowers BEEHEE —ERAZIRE ZHEUEERSH
Loan portfolio summary ERECHE
The following table provides a summary of loan products and loan size range of loan TERBMRZE_NEFER T = ¢+ A=+—HiEkEE
portfolio which were outstanding as at 31 December 2024 and 2023: CERBE VT ERERRETRREE
Unlisted Listed Loans as at
Individual corporate corporate Number of 31 December
Loan size Tenure borrowers borrowers borrower borrowers 2024
R=Z-MEFE
E N tm +=B=+-H
BRRE FH BAERA EERA EEBRA ERABE BN
HKS$ million
BEET
Mortgage loans
EIEEHN
HK$1,000,000 or below 1 month - 8 years 13 - - 13 5.1
1,000,000/ Tk AT 1A ZE8F
HK$1,000,001 — HK$5,000,000 5-11 years 2 - - 2 3.2
1,000,001/ 7.£5,000,000/8 7T 52114
15 - - 15 8.3
Term loan
ﬁgﬁéﬁfy\
HK$9,000,000 (Note) 1 - - 1 9.0
9,000,000/ 7T, (BH3E)
Total 16 - - 16 17.3
HEt
Unlisted Listed Loans as at
Individual corporate corporate Number of 31 December
Loan size Tenure borrowers borrowers borrower borrowers 2023
RZE_=%F
JFEm i) +=ZA=+—H
EFRE FH AAEBTA REERA REEFA ERABE =7
HK$ million
BEET
Mortgage loans
ZEEH
HK$1,000,000 or below 3 months — 11 years 22 - - 22 7.5
1,000,000/ T8k LA T~ SEAENE
HK$1,000,001 — HK$5,000,000 4 -12 years 4 1 - 5 7.7
1,000,001 7L 25,000,000/ 7T 47124
26 1 - 27 15.2
Term loans
ﬁﬂé’im
HK$1,000,001 — HK$5,000,000 1 -6 months - 1 1 2 5.1
1,000,001/ 025,000,000/ 7T 126f8A
Total 26 2 1 29 20.3
Hst
Note: The term loan was granted on 17 June 2024 to borrower and repayment date Wi ZAHREFRR-_ZEZWMEXA+TLHETFRERA - EXAH

HAZT-NFE+= ﬁ+t503ﬁ%§ﬁm@mﬂﬁﬁ
_7_£5F At+RAERE=ZZ-_AF+=-A++tH-

REGZHBEEARA T -_REFE— H+EH¥Z“¢
5 o

was 17 December 2024. Repayment date of the term loan was extended to 17
December 2025 on 10 January 2025. Details of the transaction were disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 10 January 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEERW RS W (E)

Top five borrowers

As at 31 December 2024, the total of the outstanding loans for the top five

borrowers amounted to approximately HK$14.2 million (2023: approximately

HK$10.6 million), representing approximately 81.9% of the Group’s total mortgage

loans and term loans portfolio (2023: approximately 52.4%). Set out below is a

summary of the top five borrowers of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

AAEHNA

RZZEZME+ZA=+—H8  AAEBRAZKEEERGE
#914,200,000/8 7L(=ZZ = =4 : #J10,600,000/8 L) ' 154
SEZBERREHERES BB 0% (ZT =4 1 4
52.4%) ° MTWLF_%_@E&_§:—¢+—HE+_
HAREBERKEZRA

Outstanding
Individual/ loan as at Concentration
Corporate Interest rate 31 December % over total
Borrower(s)  borrowers Industry Tenure (per annum) 2024 loans portfolio  Guarantee/collateral
R-Z-mF
BA tTZA=+t—-B &KHELER
BERA DEERA % FH BR(8%F) REEER A4QFEEIL ER/ERR
HK$ million
BEET
Borrower A Individual N/A (Note) (Note) 9.0 52.3%  Unsecured
TEFAA EA TEA (P EE) (B 5E) Fsgigi
Borrower B Individual N/A 5 years P+ 5% 21 11.8%  Commercial properties collateral
& AB EA TEA 5% BEMEERD
Borrower C Individual N/A 11 years P+4% 1.1 6.4%  Commercial properties collateral
fERAC EA TEA 114 EEYEERR
Borrower D Individual N/A 3 years P+ 4% 1.0 5.7%  Residential properties collateral
& AD A TR 3F EEYFEERR
Borrower E Individual N/A 8 years P+ 5% 1.0 5.7%  Residential properties collateral
EEUNS EA TER 84 EEPEEAD
Outstanding
Individual/ loanasat  Concentration
Corporate Interest rate 31 December % over total
Borrower(s) borrowers Industry Tenure (per annum) 2023  loans portfolio  Guarantee/collateral
RZBZ=#F
‘A +ZRA=+—H8 £HEEEX
EEZON PEEFRA % FH BE(BF) RERER Hap@ast BRERR
HK$ million
BE#T
Borrower A Unlisted corporate  Operation of 1 month 22% 3.6 17.7%  Personal guarantee
fitness business
TEFAA MR REREER 11E8A AARER
Borrower B Individual N/A 6 years P+5% 2.4 11.7%  Commercial properties collateral
fEFAB EA TEA 6F BEYEERR
Borrower C Unlisted corporate  Property holding 12 years P+2% 1.8 9.3%  Commercial properties collateral
fEHMAC LM REME 124 BENEERD
Borrower D Listed corporate Interior design and 6 months 24% 1.5 7.4%  Personal guarantee
equine services
& AD FiE R R 61 A EARR
% usibes
Borrower E Individual N/A 4 years P+ 4% 1.3 6.3%  Residential properties collateral
fERAE EA TEA 45 EEYFEERR
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Note: The term loan was granted on 17 June 2024 to borrower at an interest rate of
15.055556% for the first interest period and 11% per annum thereafter and
repayment date was 17 December 2024. Repayment date of the term loan
be extended to 17 December 2025 on 10 January 2025 at an interest rate of
13.616487% per annum for the interest period between 17 December 2024 and
16 January 2025 and 11% per annum thereafter. Details of the transaction were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 10 January 2025.

Credit approval processes

Before a loan is granted, the head of lending department (“LDH”) with the assistance
from outsourcing agents, has to obtain and check on the background information of
the potential borrower/guarantor (if applicable) including identity document, income
proof and residential proof, among other things at the initial stage. Upon receiving
the loan application forms, know-your-customer procedures will firstly be carried
out and credit risk assessment will then be conducted by the lending department.
Background of the potential client/corporate client (the background of its beneficial
owners will also be considered), purpose of the loan, source of fund for repayment,
value of collateral or guarantee (if applicable) and all information which is regarded
necessary will be considered before granting of the loan. Before renewal of loans,
LDH would obtain up-to-date due diligence information and perform credit risk
assessment again.

All loans must have a good and reasonable repayment prospect and loan recovery
actions will be strictly undertaken to ensure the repayment of the loans. LDH is also
responsible for ensuring on a daily basis that the relevant operational procedures
and controls implemented are adequate and effective in accordance with the
Group’s Money Lending Policy (the “MLP”) and the Property Loan Operation
Procedures Manual.

Size tests will also be prepared by the finance department to ascertain whether there
are any Listing Rules implications for granting a loan. After the credit risk assessment
is approved, the LDH will respond to the potential client the target loan amount and
if the potential client agrees to it, loan documents including mortgage/guarantee
documents will be prepared by appointed legal advisers. If notifiable transaction
is constituted, all of the Directors will be informed and the respective loan will be
subject to the Board’s approval and relevant disclosure will be made as required
under the Listing Rules.

Credits are granted according to the hierarchy of approval authorities within the
Group, based on a control limit determined by the Board, including the LDH and the
boards of directors of the respective companies within the Group and the Board, if
applicable.

This control limit, also specified in the MLP, is set according to the materiality of
the loan exposure decided by the Board from time to time. Any single loan amount
exceeding the control limit has to be approved by the Board.

EEE®ED T (H)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEER W R (&)

Impairment provisions of mortgage loans and term loans

Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The expected credit loss (“ECL”) for term loans is assessed individually and
mortgage loans is assessed collectively. In determining impairment allowances on
term loans and mortgage loans, the measurement of ECL requires estimation of the
amounts in respect of expected future cash flows and the assessment of whether
there have been a significant increase in credit risk.

The impairment provision has taken into account the financial strength of the
borrowers as well as the quality of collateral and other credit enhancements.

In respect of secured mortgage loans with the carrying amount of approximately
HK$8.3 million as at 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately HK$15.2 million), the
realisable value of collateral of such mortgage loans can be objectively ascertained
to cover the outstanding loan amounts based on valuations conducted at the end of
the financial year.

The loan to value ratio, calculated by dividing the outstanding loans of each
mortgage loan by the appraised value of its property pledged, ranged from 0.5% to
58.4% as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 0.9% to 51.0%).

Further details regarding ageing analysis, major terms, credit risk and impairment

assessment for mortgage loans and term loans are disclosed in Note 3.8, Note 19,
Note 21 and Note 38.5 to the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Overall Results

The financial results of the Group are highlighted as follows:

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEER W R (&)

Bt %5 B B8

AR E R R T A AT

2024 2023
—E-ME —Eo=F
HKS$ million HK$ million
BEBT B&E#T
Revenue Wz 55.5 43.4
Other net financial gain H A B 5 U as F58 14.6 7.3
Reportable segment revenue s o B E 70.1 50.7
Employee benefit expense EERAMAX (28.1) (20.8)
Impairment losses on financial assets, net WIS EE D RERE T (0.6) (0.1)
Impairment losses on goodwill B 2 REEE - (172.4)
Amortisation on intangible assets T A EE (3.5) (3.5)
Administrative and other expenses excluding TREETEERIEY
amortisation on intangible assets B R E R (13.1) (13.7)
Finance costs BhE AR (0.1) 0.2)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRFTSBATER,(B58) 24.7 (160.0)
Income tax expense PSR (2.2) (1.8)
Profit/(loss) for the year NEERR, (FEB) 22,5 (161.8)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign subsidiaries 35N B A a#E HYIE 3 =28 (1.2) =
Total comprehensive income/(expenses) for the year IFEZEINZE (BH)AE 21.3 (161.8)
Adjusted total comprehensive income EEERFRSEHEZ
excluding non-cash impairment losses on WERBENCHRAE
goodwill for the year 2HEINEEEE 21.3 10.6
Return on equity attributable to owners of the Company 7N &) A A FE (G 1 %5 2] 57 2% 5.5% (41.4%)
Earnings/(loss) per share (HK cents) TRREF,(EE) (BIL)
— Basic — B 1.03 (14.20)
— Diluted —#E 1.03 (14.20)

YMHD Fund became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company in February 2024.
YMHD Fund’s results were consolidated into the Group’s financial statements since

then.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEER W R (&)

Earnings and Expenses

The consolidated financial results of the Company for the 12 months ended 31
December 2024 recorded a profit for the Current Reporting Period of approximately
HK$22.5 million, compared to the loss of approximately HK$161.8 million
in the previous year. If isolating the effect of non-cash goodwill impairment,
the consolidated financial results of the Company for the 12 months ended
31 December 2024 recorded an adjusted total comprehensive income for the
Current Reporting Period of approximately HK$21.3 million, compared to the
adjusted total comprehensive income before goodwill impairment of approximately
HK$10.6 million in the previous year.

The above-mentioned increase in profit was mainly due to (i) absence of
approximately HK$172.4 million non-cash goodwill impairment; (i) increase in
corporate finance advisory income; and (jii) increase in bond investment income
during the Current Reporting Period.

The Group’s basic earnings per share for the Current Reporting Period was HK1.03
cents (2023: loss per share of HK14.20 cents).

Revenue for the Current Reporting Period increased by approximately HK$12.1
million, or 27.9%, to approximately HK$55.5 million, compared to approximately
HK$43.4 million in the previous year. This growth was mainly due to the increase in
corporate finance advisory fee income, which increased by approximately HK$8.3
million, or 40.5%, to approximately HK$28.8 million and the growth in referral fees
by approximately HK$3.4 million, or 898.9%, to approximately HK$3.7 million.

Other net financial gain increased by approximately HK$7.3 million, or 98.1%, to
approximately HK$14.6 million in 2024, compared to approximately HK$7.3 million
in 20283. This was mainly due to the increase in interest income by approximately
HK$4.8 million, or 256.3%, resulting in a interest income of approximately HK$6.6
million for the whole year.

Employee benefit expenses increased by approximately HK$7.3 million, or 35.1%,
to approximately HK$28.1 million in 2024, compared to approximately HK$20.8
million in the previous year. This change was mainly due to increase in staff bonus,
which increased by approximately HK$5.1 million, or 107.6%, to approximately
HK$9.8 million.

Profit before income tax increased by approximately HK$184.7 million, or 115.5%,
to approximately HK$24.7 million in 2024. This improvement was due to the
increase in revenue, as well as an absence of non-cash goodwill impairment of
approximately HK$172.4 million in 2024. If isolating the effect of non-cash goodwill
impairment, the adjusted total comprehensive income before impairment losses on
goodwill increased by approximately HK$10.7 million, or 100.1% to approximately
HK$21.3 million in 2024, compared to approximately HK$10.6 million in previous
year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Revenue and Financial Resources

For the Current Reporting Period, the Group had revenue of approximately HK$55.5
million (2023: approximately HK$43.4 million).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$98.6 million (2023: approximately HK$70.4 million). As at 31
December 2024, the Group’s current ratio (current assets to current liabilities) was
approximately 201.6% (2023: approximately 150.8%).

For the Current Reporting Period, the Group had no material exposure to
fluctuations in exchange rates.

Indebtedness and Banking Facilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no bank and other borrowings other than
unsecured bank overdraft of HK$0.1 million (2023: Nil).

The Group’s gearing ratio, calculated by reference to the ratio of total bank
borrowings (if any) to total equity attributable to the owners of the Company as at 31
December 2024 and 2023, was 0%.

Assets and Liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$757.2
million (2023: approximately HK$492.5 million) and total liabilities of approximately
HK$255.8 million (2023: approximately HK$182.6 million). The net assets of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 were approximately HK$501.4 million (2023:
approximately HK$309.9 million).

Capital Structure

The share capital during the Current Reporting Period was changed due to the
completion of the rights issue as disclosed in the “Use of Proceeds” section below.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s number of issued shares was
2,278,660,380 shares (2023: 1,139,330,190 shares).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEER W R (&)

Use of Proceeds

On 17 November 2023, the Company proposed to issue by way of rights (the
“Rights Issue”) up to 1,139,330,190 new shares (the “Rights Share(s)”) at a
subscription price of HK$0.15 per Rights Share on the basis of one (1) Rights Share
for every one (1) share of the Company. The aggregate nominal value of the Rights
Shares was HK$113,933,019. The reasons for the Rights Issue were: (i) to seed
money into YMHD Fund so as to expand the Group’s asset management business;
and (i) to increase the financial resources of Morgan Finance which will enable
Morgan Finance to seize new growth opportunities so as to expand the Group’s
money lending business. The Rights Issue was approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting held on 28
December 2023. The Rights Issue had been completed on 2 February 2024 and
an aggregate of 1,139,330,190 new shares had been allotted and issued by the
Company. The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue were approximately HK$170.9
million and the net proceeds from the Rights Issue, after deducting all relevant
expenses for the Rights Issue, were approximately HK$170.1 million. The net price
per Rights Share was approximately HK$0.149. The closing market price per share
of the Company on 17 November 2023 (being the date on which the terms of
Rights Issue were fixed) was HK$0.135. Details of the Rights Issue were disclosed
in the Company’s announcements dated 17 November 2023, 28 December 2023
and 1 February 2024, the Company’s circular dated 11 December 2023 and the
Company’s prospectus dated 11 January 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the net proceeds from the Rights Issue of approximately
HK$170.1 million had been fully utilised during the year.

Expansion of asset management business BEREEEBER
Expansion of money lending business BERMIEETS
Total #ast
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Commitments

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had no outstanding contracted
capital commitments.

Charges on Group Assets

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had no assets under pledge.

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposals
YMHD Fund

YMHD Fund was launched in February 2024. In February 2024, the Company
invested USD15.0 million (equivalent to approximately HK$117.4 million) in the
YMHD Fund which became wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. YMHD
Fund’s results were consolidated into the Group’s financial statements since
February 2024. The Company increased investment in the YMHD Fund of USD4.2
million (equivalent to approximately HK$32.8 million) in July 2024, with total cost
amounted to USD19.2 million (equivalent to approximately HK$150.2 million).
Details of YMHD Fund were disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 17
November 2023 and 1 February 2024, the Company’s circular dated 11 December
2023 and the Company’s prospectus dated 11 January 2024 in connection with the
Rights Issue.

Perpetual notes issued by Standard Chartered PLC (“SC Bank”),
(the “SC Notes”)

On 9 July 2024, the Group purchased a nominal amount of USD1.0 million at
a discount at approximately HK$6.8 million of the SC Notes. Together with the
SC Notes previously held, the total purchasing cost amounted to approximately
HK$13.0 million as at 9 July 2024. The SC Notes are fixed rate resetting perpetual
subordinated contingent convertible securities issued by SC Bank with the
outstanding principal amount of USD1,500.0 million and initial coupon rate of 4.3%
and callable since 19 August 2028. Details of the transaction were disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 9 July 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held total USD7.0 million nominal amount of
the SC Notes and total cost of approximately HK$47.3 million.

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of the SC Notes was approximately HK$49.7
million (representing 6.6% of the Group’s total assets). No realised gain/loss and
dividend was recorded but unrealised gain of approximately HK$2.4 million and
received coupons of HK$0.7 million from the SC Notes were recognised during the
Current Reporting Period.

SC Bank was incorporated in England and Wales as a public limited company and
its shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2888)
and London Stock Exchange (stock code: STAN.LN). SC Bank is an international
banking and financial services group with a focus on the markets of Asia, Africa and
the Middle East.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEER W R (&)

Performance of SC Notes’ issuer, SC Bank:

The SC Bank and its subsidiaries (“SC Group”) remains well capitalised and highly
liquid with a strong and diverse deposit base. The liquidity coverage ratio of 138%
reflects disciplined asset and liability management. The common equity tier 1
ratio of 14.2% is above the SC Group’s target range of 13% to 14%, enabling the
board of the SC Bank to announce a USD1.5 billion share buyback programme to
commence imminently.

Operating income of USD19.7 billion increased by 14% or 12% excluding the benefit
of two notable items and the reclassification. The double-digit growth was driven by
record performance in Wealth Solutions and strong double-digit growth in Global
Markets and Global Banking.

Net interest income increased 10%, benefitting from the roll-off of short-term
hedges of USD455 million, and improved asset mix from a reduction in treasury
assets to fund the trading book. This was partly offset by lower average interest
earning asset volumes and the impact of elevated pass-through rates on deposit
margins. Excluding the reclassification, net interest income was up 8%.

Non-net interest income increased 20%. This was driven by a record performance
in Wealth Solutions with broad-based growth across products, strong performance
in Global Markets with double-digit growth in both flow and episodic income and
strong performance in Global Banking from higher origination volumes. Excluding
two notable items of USD295 million, non-net interest income increased 16%.

Operating expenses excluding the United Kingdom bank levy increased 7%, or
6% excluding the reclassification. This was largely driven by inflation, strategic
investments and continued investments into business growth initiatives, including
strategic hiring of Relationship Managers in Wealth & Retail Banking (“WRB”) and
coverage bankers in Corporate & Investment Banking (“CIB”), partly offset by
efficiency saves. The SC Group generated 7% positive income-to-cost jaws and the
cost-to-income ratio improved by 4 percentage points to 59%.

Credit impairment of USD557 million in 2024 was up 5% year-on-year. WRB
impairment of USD644 million was up USD290 million, mainly from the higher
interest rate environment impacting repayments on credit cards and personal loans,
and the growth and maturation of the digital partnership portfolios in China and
Indonesia. This was partly offset by a USD106 million net recovery in CIB.

Other impairment of USD588 million of which USD561 million relates to write-off of
software assets, with no impact on capital ratios.

Profit from associates and joint ventures was down 47% to USD50 million mainly
reflecting lower profits at China Bohai Bank.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Restructuring, other items and Debit Valuation Adjustment (“DVA”) totalled USD797
million. Restructuring of USD441 million reflects the impact of actions to transform
the organisation to structurally improve productivity, of which USD156 million relates
to the Fit for Growth programme, partly offset by gains on the remaining Principal
Finance portfolio. Other items of USD332 million includes losses related to the
sale of Zimbabwe of USD172 million, Angola of USD26 million and Sierra Leone of
USD19 million all primarily from the recycling of FX translation losses from reserves
into the income statement, with no impact on tangible equity or capital. There was
also a USD100 million charge booked for participation in a compensation scheme
recommended by the Korean Financial Supervisory Service. Movements in the DVA
were a negative USD24 million.

Taxation was USD1,972 million on a reported basis, with an underlying effective tax
rate of 30.6% up from 29.1% in the prior year reflecting deferred tax not recognised
for losses of United Kingdom, tax adjustments of the United States of America, lower
tax-exempt income and a change in the geographic mix of profits.

Underlying return on tangible equity increased by 160 basis points to 11.7% mainly
reflecting an increase in profits.

Underlying basic earnings per share increased US39.2 cents or 30% to US168.1
cents and reported earnings per share increased US32.7 cents or 30% to US141.3

cents.

Prospects of SC Notes’ issuer, SC Bank:

Looking forward, the SC Bank expects the global growth rate to be broadly flat in
2025, moderating down slightly to 3.1% from 3.2% in 2024, but then accelerating
in 2026 to 3.3%. Support from looser financial conditions and expansionary fiscal
policy may be partly offset by protectionist trade policies and interest rates that
remain high.

Growth in SC Bank’s footprint markets across Asia, Africa and the Middle East, is
expected to outpace global growth, with Asia expanding by 4.8% in 2025, Africa
growing by 4.3% and the Middle East (including Pakistan) by 3.6%. The SC Bank
also expects growth in the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (“ASEAN”)
and India to remain healthy, despite the moderating outlook for key western trade
partners, and the SC Group uniquely positioned to take advantage of this with its
presence in all 10 ASEAN markets, as well as being one of the largest international
banks in South Asia.

Furthermore, the SC Bank is targeting a return on tangible equity approaching 13%
in 2026, and for it to progress thereafter, and aiming to deliver this through strong
income growth and improving operational leverage aided by its Fit for Growth
programme and maintaining its responsible approach to risk and capital.

Investment strategy in SC Notes:

In view of the decent yield, the Group intends to hold the investment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEER W R (&)

Perpetual notes issued by The Bank of East Asia, Limited
(“BEA”), (the “BEA Notes”)

As at 31 December 2024, Yu Ming held a total nominal amount of USD6.0 million in
the BEA Notes and the total cost amounted to approximately HK$37.2 million.

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of the BEA Notes was approximately
HK$46.7 million (representing 6.2% of the Group’s total assets). No realised gain/
loss and dividend was recorded but unrealised gain of approximately HK$5.2 million
and received coupons of approximately HK$2.7 million from the BEA Notes were
recognised during the Current Reporting Period.

BEA is incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 23). BEA and its subsidiaries (“BEA

Group”) are principally engaged in banking and financial sectors.

Performance of BEA Notes’ issuer, BEA:

In 2024, BEA Group earned a profit attributable to owners of BEA of HK$4,608
million, representing an increase of 11.9% compared with the HK$4,118 million
earned in 2023.

Basic earnings per share of BEA were HK$1.52 in 2024, compared to HK$1.32 the
previous year. The return on average assets increased by 0.1 percentage points
to 0.5%, while the return on average equity increased by 0.4 percentage points to
4.0%.

Pre-provision operating profit was held stable at HK$11,345 million. Net interest
income decreased by HK$345 million, or 2.0%, to HK$16,529 million. With the
reduction in interest rates, the net interest margin narrowed by 5 basis points year-
on-year, from 2.14% to 2.09%. Net fee and commission income increased by 6.2%
year-on-year to HK$2,802 million. This was driven by increased investment activities
and third-party insurance sales.

Net trading and hedging results and net results from other financial instruments grew
by HK$391 million, or 41.3%, to HK$1,336 million. Non-interest income rose by
14.9% to HK$4,450 million.

Overall, total operating income was held stable at HK$20,979 million.

Operating expenses rose by HK$202 million, or 2.1%, to HK$9,634 million. BEA
continued to invest in talent and digital capabilities while realising efficiency gains
from its transformation initiatives. The cost-to-income ratio for 2024 increased by
0.4 percentage points to 45.9%.

Impairment losses on financial instruments were HK$5,497 million. The BEA

Group’s impaired loan ratio stood at 2.72% at the end of December 2024, up from
2.69% at the end of December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Prospects of BEA Notes’ issuer, BEA:

The central government of China is proactively pursuing measures to rebalance
the economy and enhance self-sufficiency while reducing reliance on exports.
Apart from well-publicised efforts to secure supply chains and attain technology
autonomy, BEA expects that the authorities will continue implementing stimulus
measures to stabilise the real estate market and drive domestic consumption.

BEA believes that, Hong Kong occupies a distinct position in China’s future
development. Whether it be investment diversification for individuals, or fundraising
for Chinese corporates, Hong Kong stands as the premier and preferred financial
centre for Chinese capital. The territory possesses many strengths and is poised
to reap the benefits of China’s stimulus programmes, expansion of overseas
investment, and the ongoing internationalisation of the Chinese yuan.

Going forward, BEA will actively seek new opportunities while continuing to manage
risks prudently and maintaining a robust balance sheet. It intends to leverage its
unigue OneBank platform to play a pivotal role in facilitating the cross-boundary flow
of people, payments, and commerce. BEA is expected to continue to centralise,
streamline, and digitalise all aspects of its activities in its pursuit of becoming a truly
seamless and frictionless cross-boundary bank.

BEA recognises technology as an ongoing journey and an integral component
of its banking business. It expects that all future customer interactions and bank
operations will be digitally enhanced and increasingly Al-enabled. BEA is expected
to enable more refined and timely personalisation and rapid turnaround times,
fulfilling its commitment to serve customers’ holistic banking needs.

Investment strategy in BEA Notes:

In view of the decent yield, the Group intends to hold the investment.

Save as disclosed above, there were no significant investments, acquisitions and
disposals by the Group during the Current Reporting Period.

Segment Information

Detailed segmental information in respect of the revenue and profit or loss is shown
in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Contingent Liabilities

As at the date of this report and as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Board is not
aware of any material contingent liabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group, including its subsidiaries but excluding
associates, had 28 staff including Directors (2023: 29). The remuneration policy of
the Group is to ensure that all staff, including Directors, are sufficiently compensated
for their efforts and time dedicated to the Group and remuneration offered is
appropriate for their duties and in line with market practice. No Director, or any of
his/her associates, or executive is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.
In addition, share options may be granted to eligible employees of the Group in
accordance with the terms of the approved share option scheme. Employees are
regarded as important assets and resources of the Group. The Group encourages
employees to receive training that is related to their works and responsibilities.
Efforts including appropriate training courses arranged and/or subsidies offered as
well as materials relating to compliance and regulatory updates regularly circulated
to staff (including Directors) were made to ensure employees’ continuous training
and development.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE

The Group’s employee benefit expense mainly consisted of salaries, discretionary
bonus, mandatory provident fund and provision of long service payment for
the employees as well as fees for the Directors. Salaries, discretionary bonus,
mandatory provident fund, provision of long service payment and Directors’ fee
amounted to approximately HK$16.8 million (2023: approximately HK$15.0 million),
approximately HK$9.8 million (2023: approximately HK$4.7 million), approximately
HK$0.6 million (2023: approximately HK$0.6 million), approximately HK$0.4 million
(2023: Nil) and approximately HK$0.5 million (2023: approximately HK$0.5 million)
respectively during the Current Reporting Period.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Due to the nature of our corporate finance advisory services of non-repetitive basis,
income from corporate finance business is volatile, and usually increase when
special transaction occurred during the year such as 2024.

The Group has goodwill of approximately HK$108.8 million brought down from
last year. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. In the
course of testing, estimations have to be made. There are inherent uncertainties
related to such estimation and judgement in applying to the assessment of goodwill
recoverability. Any further impairment charges would negatively impact the Group’s
financial results.

There were intangible assets of approximately HK$57.5 million brought down from
last year. Those intangible assets were subject to amortisation and/or impairment
test. Amortisation charges amounted to approximately HK$3.5 million for the
Current Reporting Period. Any further impairment charges might have a material
adverse impact on the Group’s results.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The Group’s success depends on its ability to retain key management and other
personnel and to attract and train suitable replacements. In the event any of the
key management member or responsible officer resigns, becomes disqualified or
is otherwise ineligible to continue performing their duties, and at the same time
without immediate and adequate replacement, this could adversely affect its status
as a licensed corporation, thus jeopardizing the Group’s business and financial
performance.

Save as discussed above, other financial risks were also set out in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROSPECT

Our corporate finance business is mostly driven by the transactions mandates
secured during the year and our team will remain active in specialty works which we
are known for our competence, and to a lesser extent depends on annual retainers.
Asset management business on the contrary provides a long term steady income
and our team increased and expects to continue to negotiate additional funds under
management. Securities broking business is expected to remain a viable business
after having attained a break-even in 2024 through optimization of operations and
business. Money lending business will continue to tread cautiously amidst the soft
local economy.

Lee Wa Lun, Warren
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025

EEE®ED T (H)

REBMRBUARERBELTEERABREMBAR  ARK
SIRBIAENERAENRES - MERNETEERARHEE
ANBEHE - BABRAEHEMRANTEEREBETIG -
MARBEN R #HE AR - R s ISR B Ry f &
RARNFE  EMBEAEENER RMBRR -

B L3R E SN AR A BTSRRI RS A b s e

EVE

I

i

BMNECEREEB I EMFARSNRZZAERD - RIM
BB ISR ETE IR R R PIARE N EWHEE T - MER/D
RELERENFERBE - Rk - BETEXGRHET RHER
EHA - BB EFRETERA - WELERGRHERSE
ZEE  BHEREBR _T_NOFERKE TEE  ERE
BREBEL - ERDARGATT - ERBEERTNER
T MEEBREEERRTE -

BRI
FER

EA —T-RFE=ZA-++H

ABERMERBERDR 20245

29



30

Directors’ Report
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The board of Directors of Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
(the “Board”) presents its report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities
of the Company’s subsidiaries are provision of corporate finance advisory services,
asset management services, investment, securities broking, underwriting and
placing of securities, and money lending, details of which are set out in Note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
and a discussion on the Group’s future business development are provided in
the Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 to 5 and Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 12 to 29 of this Annual Report, respectively. Possible risks
and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are set out in the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 28 to 29 of this Annual Report and the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 42 to 62 of this Annual Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Discussion on the environmental policies and performance of the Group are set
out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 63 to 77 of this
Annual Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company itself is an investment holding company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by its operating
subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong, Yu Ming Investment Management Limited
(“Yu Ming”), Morton Securities Limited (“Morton Securities”) and Morgan Finance
Limited (“Morgan Finance”), with its clients and business partners mainly located
in Hong Kong. Yu Ming and Morton Securities are licensed by the Securities and
Futures Commission in Hong Kong, and Morgan Finance is governed by the
Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong), all of them are
subject to applicable laws, regulations and codes of relevant regulatory authorities
in Hong Kong, such as the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) and Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing Ordinance (Chapter 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong). During the year and
up to the date of this Annual Report, the Group has complied with all the applicable
laws and regulations in the relevant jurisdictions in all material respects relating to the
business operations of the Group.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES AND CLIENTS

The key relationships of the Group with its employees and clients that have a
significant impact on the Group and on which the Group’s success depends are
discussed in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 63 to 77
of this Annual Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REVIEW

The Board has established an audit committee in accordance with Rule 3.21 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”),
and now comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan
Sze Chung (chairman of the audit committee), Mr. Suen Chi Wai and Mr. Sum Wai
Kei, Wilfred and one Non-Executive Director, namely Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao. Mr. Xu
Haohao was redesignated from Non-Executive Director to Executive Director with
effect from 4 June 2024, and hence he also ceased to be a member of the audit
committee on the same day.

The audit committee has reviewed the annual results and the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2024 amounted to approximately HK$37,000 (2023: approximately
HK$67,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the top five customers together
accounted for approximately 58.3% (2023: approximately 65.5%) of the Group’s
revenue and the Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 32.2%
(2023: approximately 36.3%) of the Group’s revenue.

The Group had no major suppliers due to the nature of the principal activities of the
Group. None of the Directors or any of their close associates, or any shareholder
of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns 5% or more of the
issued shares of the Company) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
and the financial position of the Group at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 83 to 175 of this Annual Report.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend and a special dividend
of HK0.28 cent and HKO0.16 cent per share for the year ended 31 December
2024 respectively. The proposed final dividend and special dividend are subject
to the approval of the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”). Details are set out in Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment during the
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BORROWINGS

The Group had no bank loans and other borrowings other than unsecured bank
overdraft of HK$0.1 million (2023: Nil) as at 31 December 2024.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are set out in Note 31
to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company did not hold any treasury shares as at 31 December 2024.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements. Details of the distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December
2024 are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

In accordance with the laws of the Cayman Islands and articles of association of
the Company (the “Articles of Association”), the Company’s share premium account
is distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on page 176 of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the reporting period and as at the date of this report were:
Non-Executive Director:
Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao (Chairman)
Executive Directors:
Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren (Managing Director)
Mr. Xu Haohao
(redesignated from Non-Executive Director with effect from 4 June 2024)

Mr. Lam Chi Shing
Ms. Li Ming
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Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Sze Chung
Mr. Suen Chi Wai
Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred

Biographical details of Directors of the Company are set out on pages 6 to 11 of this
Annual Report.

In accordance with the article 108 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Kuo Jen-
Hao, Mr. Lam Chi Shing and Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming AGM. Each of the above retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received confirmations of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules from all Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company, and
considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has
an unexpired service contract with the Group which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

TERMS OF OFFICE FOR THE NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, all the Non-Executive Directors (including the
Independent Non-Executive Directors) were appointed without a specific term
unless terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either
party on the other, and subject to the retirement by rotation at least once every
three years and re-election at annual general meeting pursuant to the Articles of
Association or any other applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire
from their office.
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CHANGE IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Except those disclosed in the biographical details of the Directors of the Company
set out on pages 6 to 11 of this Annual Report, change in Directors’ information
since the date of approval of the 2024 Interim Report of the Company, which are
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, is set out
below:

The monthly salary of each of the two Executive Directors of the Company, Mr. Lam
Chi Shing and Ms. Li Ming, was increased by approximately 2.5% with effect from
1 January 2024 as compared with 2023.

The Directors’ fees of all Directors of the Company were respectively increased by
approximately 9.1% with effect from 1 January 2025 as compared with 2024.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid individuals are set
out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provides that every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he
or she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her office
otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has maintained appropriate
directors and officers liability insurance in respect of relevant legal actions against
the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, SHK Hong Kong Industries Limited
(“SHK”), of which Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren is a director, is obliged to pay a
management fee of approximately HK$16,804,000 to the Group in accordance with
a management agreement signed between the Group and SHK.

Save as disclosed above, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, or its
subsidiaries were a party and in which a Director of the Company or his/her
connected entities had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for employment contracts, no other contracts, relating to the management
and/or administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or subsisted during the year.

DIRECTORS’
BUSINESSES

INTERESTS IN COMPETING

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board is not aware of any Directors
of the Company being considered to have interests in businesses which compete or
are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren, as the covenantor, executed the Deed of Non-Competition
(the “Deed”) in favour of the Company (for itself and as trustee for and on behalf of
the subsidiaries) on 25 July 2019. Pursuant to the Deed, Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren
has irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken to the Company that, during the
continuation of the Deed and for as long as the Company’s shares remain listed
on the Stock Exchange and he is, directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more
of the issued shares of the Company, or otherwise regarded as the substantial
shareholder of the Company, he shall not, and shall procure his close associates not
to, be involved or engaged in any business or activity which, directly or indirectly,
competes or may compete with the business of the Group (the “Restricted
Business”), or has any interest (whether directly or indirectly) in the Restricted
Business (other than the interest in the Group). Details of the Deed are set out in
the paragraph headed “Non-Competition Undertakings” in the “Relationship with
the Substantial Shareholder upon Resumption” section in the prospectus of the
Company dated 28 June 2019.

The Company has received declaration from Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren of his
compliance with the terms of the Deed. Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren declared that he
has fully complied with the Deed since the effective date of the Deed and up to
the date of the results of rights issue (being 2 February 2024, details of which are
disclosed in the “Management Discussion and Analysis — Use of Proceeds” section
on page 22 of this Annual Report). The Independent Non-Executive Directors also
reviewed the compliance of the Deed.

Due to the shareholding of Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren in the Company was below 10%
since 2 February 2024, the Deed was terminated.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of each Directors and
Chief Executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
the Directors and Chief Executives of the Company were deemed or taken to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required to be and were recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix C8 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in shares of the Company

RZZZEF+ZA=+—0 ARABREZTLESTH
ABRAR B SHE A ERERE GEE R E5 LB ERMIEXV
BB 2Bty - R REF P IS RIERE S R EEPIEXV
BETRESD ERMG AR A LM P2 Mok R (B1ER

EESMAE RN 2 ZE \*B‘Uli/& T%%& SITHRAB G
REWEERE 2 XAR)  RALE LD LHENRIEE

7 M B (F15352 \%%Eiﬁﬁﬁﬁzyiaﬂﬂﬂ W SRR ETAR

ﬁ'JMﬁfcsﬁﬁﬁtﬁﬁf /\ﬁ?Lﬁ?ﬁ R B MEETAI([1F
AR EME AN R R 2 SRR T
RAEDARGBZ2EFR

% of the total relevant

Nature Number issued shares as at
Name of Directors Capacity of interests of shares held 31 December 2024
R=ZZ-mEF
+=ZA=+—BEEHA
EEng 51 ERMtE BERMEAR BITROEBHEES L
Xu Haohao Interest of controlled Corporate interest/ 680,106,534* 29.85%
corporation/ Personal interest
Beneficial owner
BREZR ZRF AR R RAlER
Emla A EAE R
Lee Wa Lun, Warren Beneficial owner Personal interest 227,250,000 9.97%
R E=mAA B AR
Lam Chi Shing Beneficial owner Personal interest 17,800,000 0.78%
A EREBA B AR =
Li Ming Beneficial owner Personal interest 17,800,000 0.78%
eSS BEREEBEA (EVN:da

# Details were disclosed in Note 1 in the “Substantial Shareholders’ and Other
Persons’ Interests in Securities” section below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or
Chief Executives of the Company had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme as disclosed in the “Share Option Scheme”
section below, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2024 was the
Company, its parent company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors or Chief Executives of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER

PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the Board, the following persons
(not being the Directors or Chief Executives of the Company) or corporations had
an interest (long positions) or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of
the SFO which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who/which was, directly or indirectly,
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company, other than
the interests of the Directors as disclosed in the “Directors’ Interests and Short

Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and

Associated Corporations” section above:

Long positions in shares of the Company

Name of Substantial
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DR B A RN IRIBEE S R E GPIFEIB IR ENFEZ
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BAEETHEEMSENAE— TR TRARRERAE £
BER 5% A L (R EX [EFRARE RARREE 2 i
N RO REF 2R RAR | P REZEE 2 Ea

1)

RAEXTRG2EFR

% of the total relevant

Shareholders and Nature Number of issued shares as at
Other Persons Capacity of interests shares held 31 December 2024
R-BoImE
+TZRA=t+—H{EBEH
FTERRRHEMALTER 47 ERtE BFERGOEE ERTROLHEEIL
Beyond Global Enterprises Limited Interest of Corporate interest 677,646,534 29.74%
(“Beyond Global”) controlled corporation
B3z NG ol 3 NG
Victory Gain Ventures Limited Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 664,076,534 29.14%
(“Victory Gain”) EmfAA Btk
IXL Fund Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 13,570,000 0.60%
EmfAA Btk
First Steamship Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 663,320,000 29.11%
= EmEAA Btk
Cheung Kit Shan Susanna Interest of a spouse Family interest 227,250,000 9.97%
SRR feiBtkas Rk
Allied Group Limited (“AGL”) Interest of Corporate interest 217,564,896 9.54%
teEEARAR(MaEE]) controlled corporation
B3z NG ol 3 NG
Lee Seng Hui Interest of Corporate interest 217,564,896 9.54%
TR controlled corporation
B3z NG ol 3 NG
Lee Seng Huang Interest of Corporate interest 217,564,896 9.54%
PRIE controlled corporation
B3z NG ol 3 NG
Lee Su Hwei Interest of Corporate interest 217,564,896 9.54%
EE controlled corporation
B3z NG ol 3 NG
Chan Kin Interest of Corporate interest 209,799,655 9.21%
g controlled corporation
B3z NG ol 3 NG
Argyle Street Management Interest of Corporate interest 209,799,655 9.21%

Holdings Limited (“ASMH”)

controlled corporation
S NG oF £
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Notes:

1. Victory Gain is direct wholly-owned by Beyond Global; IXL Fund is indirect wholly-
owned by Beyond Global through its wholly-owned subsidiaries; and Beyond Global
is wholly-owned by Mr. Xu Haohao. Therefore, Mr. Xu Haohao and Beyond Global
are respectively deemed to have an interest in the said shares in which Victory Gain
and IXL Fund are interested. In addition, Mr. Xu Haohao has personal interest in
2,460,000 shares of the Company.

2. Ms. Cheung Kit Shan Susanna is the spouse of Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren. By virtue
of the SFO, Ms. Cheung Kit Shan Susanna is deemed to have an interest in the said
shares in which Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren is interested.

3. Universal Way Limited holds 217,564,896 shares of the Company, which is indirect
wholly-owned by AGL through its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Mr. Lee Seng Hui, Ms.
Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee Seng Huang are the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being
a discretionary trust. Lee and Lee Trust controlled approximately 74.99% of the total
number of issued shares of AGL (inclusive of Mr. Lee Seng Hui’s personal interests).
Therefore, Mr. Lee Seng Hui, Ms. Lee Su Hwei, Mr. Lee Seng Huang and AGL are
respectively deemed to have an interest in the said shares in which Universal Way
Limited is interested.

4. ASM Connaught House Fund LP, ASM Connaught House (Master) Fund Il LP, ASM
Connaught House (Master) Fund Il LP and ASM Connaught House (Master) Fund V
LP hold 49,220,000 shares, 110,000 shares, 33,720,000 shares and 126,749,655
shares of the Company respectively, which are held indirectly by ASMH through a
number of controlled corporations. Mr. Chan Kin has over 50% controlling interests
in ASMH. Therefore, Mr. Chan Kin and ASMH are respectively deemed to have
an interest in the said shares in which ASM Connaught House Fund LP, ASM
Connaught House (Master) Fund Il LP, ASM Connaught House (Master) Fund Ill LP
and ASM Connaught House (Master) Fund V LP are interested.

Save as disclosed above, the Board is not aware, as at 31 December 2024, of any
person (not being the Directors and Chief Executives of the Company) or corporation
who/which had an interest (long positions) or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who/which was,
directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the
Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
pursuant to a resolution passed at an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 22 May 2019. The Share Option Scheme has a remaining life of
approximately 4 years as at the date of this report.

The Share Option Scheme was adopted for the primary purpose of providing
incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their contribution to the Group, which
will expire on 21 May 2029. Under the Share Option Scheme, the Company may
grant options to any participant (“Participant(s)”) which includes (1) any employee
(whether full-time or part-time) of the Group and any entity in which the Group
holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”); (2) any director (including executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive directors) of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (3) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity; (4) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity; (5) any
consultant, adviser, manager, officer or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any Invested Entity; or (6) any person
who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the
Group or any Invested Entity eligible for options under the Share Option Scheme.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme must not exceed 113,933,019 shares, being 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of resumption of trading (i.e. 26 July
2019) and the beginning of the financial year ended 31 December 2024; and being
5% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the end of the financial year ended
31 December 2024 and the date of this report due to the completion of the rights
issue on 2 February 2024. The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to a Participant in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue. The total number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be
granted to a Participant, who is a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director, in any 12-month period must not exceed 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue nor exceed an aggregate value (based on the closing price of
the shares on the Stock Exchange on the date of grant) of HK$5 million. Any further
grant of options in excess of the individual limit must be subject to shareholders’
approval.

Options granted must be taken up within 21 business days from the offer date, upon
payment of HK$1.00 per offer of grant of an option. Option may be exercised after
it has vested at any time during the period to be notified by the Board (as defined
in the Share Option Scheme) at the time of the grant of the option but shall end
in any event not later than 10 years from the offer date, subject to the provisions
for early termination of the Share Option Scheme. The Subscription Price shall be
determined by the Board (as defined in the Share Option Scheme) and notified to a
Participant and shall not be less than the higher of (a) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the offer date, which
must be a business day; (b) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five consecutive business days
immediately preceding the offer date; and (c) the nominal value of a share on the
offer date.

Details of the Share Option Scheme are disclosed in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no share option was granted, exercised,
cancelled, lapsed or outstanding under the Share Option Scheme.

The Company would comply with the requirements under the current version of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules in respect of the matters of share options.

Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEEHRSE(HE)

BRETE

AABRRZE—NFRA-TZARITZBRELRAS LER
RFBETT A RMBB AR B ((BRERT R ) - RARERH
SRRt 8] 2 RIMRE B4 -

RNBREASIZEANEERBREDEERATHAEE
FIEHEVERL - At B8R —Z - AFERA-+—HER - 1R
EIBARERT S AR A AER2EE ([28FE ) XHER
B EPERE  ()ARERASEREDSE Tk ER
BR(REERDNEMNRERS (THEBARBES)  QFE
B EAREERNEFNES(BENT - FFRIT BN
TEE) : QAKEEMAE R RS EFIRE & 88 E( 78 &
SRS IR - WAEBE S EIIREBERNEMEZTS ¢ (5)F
MAEEREMRETRREME - FBSREMBA SRR
Ml BRAL K18 SEBERER OEES 2R
HERREER A REHARENEIREEREAMAATEE
BRlA A RESBRE SR T RN ERAL -

PR IR BB AR AT 8 AT A2 1R L O BB A AR 1D A BN & NS BB
113,933,019/ %10 * BIRIREEEB(BI =T —hFtA
—HRE)R-ZE-ME+ = A=+ — B 2 M BEE AL
ARNEEETRND 210% : ARBR-ZZE_NFE A =HFK
W R -ME+ = A= +— B2 BUEE AR RANTR
£ REMEARRARB BTN Z25%  REM1218 A 8RS - [m£
HEBRBE RS TR BREBITERITRETETHIRG
BHTERBIBAARD BTG A% o FMER121E A B -
MEATERESE LR TES2HEEDERERBETES
ZERREETERITRE TEITHRMBETEHRAERARE
BT BI0.1% 3 B B E (R ) B B PRB 2 P 2 W (B
T E) 5 83B5,000,000/8 7T o 5 H 48 H E A PR 28 A9 (E A BB S
BB IR R AR AL o

R BAREAR KL B2 EE R B RERY - WM
BOHROBREZL1.00BTNER - BREATNEREER
EESe (T LRRES) R BEER Ne s SR A ERA
BT ERERIERT - R BB10FNER - XA
REABESURRRIEERETD - RBEREES(EER
BEIEF D EE - YME2EE  MENRER TISHN K
BE L (QPIREBRH(MEREXRBIMTERERAR
AT E  EERH A A EEEEEABIME AR
BRI FIHRTHE + KRR H B H— B O EE -

SRR I B RN A MR M RE33 -

BE—Z-NF+-A=+t—HILFER HEBRERERE
PRt BRI - 176 - B - SRR ARTTE -

AARBEETRE LTRAUE T LEARBEREZTENR
e

ABERMERBERDR 20245

39



40

Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEEHRE(HE)

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed above, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require
the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares were entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities nor sold or transferred treasury shares during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements. Save as the exempt connected transaction disclosed therein
are exempt from the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules, the other related party transactions do not constitute connected
transactions nor continuing connected transactions of the Company as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in the exempt connected transaction disclosed in Note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Board is not aware of any connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions made during the year ended 31
December 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
The Company has no pre-emptive rights existing.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the Company’s listed
securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A detailed Corporate Governance Report is set out on pages 42 to 62 of this Annual
Report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

On 10 January 2025, the Group, as lender, and an independent third party, as
borrower, entered into an agreement supplemental to the loan agreement dated
17 June 2024 (the “Supplemental Agreement”), pursuant to which the parties to
the Supplemental Agreement agreed to extend the repayment date of a loan in
the principal amount of HK$9,000,000 to 17 December 2025, or such other date
as may be agreed in writing between the lender and the borrower. The Group
considered the transaction could bring interest income to the Group. Details of the
transaction were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 10 January
2025.

Save as disclosed above, there are no important events affecting the Group which
have occurred after the end of the reporting period and up to the date of this Annual
Report.

AUDITOR

BDO Limited (“BDO”) is the auditor of the Company. There has been no change of
auditor in the past three years.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 were audited by BDO who will retire and, being eligible, offer itself
for re-appointment. A resolution for its re-appointment as auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the AGM.

By order of the Board
Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited

Lee Wa Lun, Warren
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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Corporate Governance Report
EERERME

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The board of Directors of Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited (the “Company”) (the
“Board”) believes that corporate governance is essential to the success of the
Company and has adopted various measures to ensure that a high standard of
corporate governance is maintained. The Company has applied the principles
(the “Principles”) and adopted code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) in Appendix C1 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) as its own code on corporate
governance practices. The current practices will be reviewed and updated regularly
to follow the latest practices in corporate governance.

The Company has complied with the Principles and the Code Provisions as set
out in the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2024, except for Code
Provision F.2.2 as set out hereunder.

Under the Code Provision F.2.2, the chairman of the board should attend the annual
general meeting. Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao, a Non-Executive Director of the Company and
the Chairman of the Board, was unable to attend the Company’s annual general
meeting held on 24 May 2024 (“2024 AGM”) due to other prior commitment. Mr. Lee
Wa Lun, Warren, an Executive Director and Managing Director of the Company, who
was elected by Directors and acted as the 2024 AGM chairman, together with all
other Board members (including the chairmen of audit, remuneration and nomination
committees) who attended the 2024 AGM, were of sufficient calibre for answering
questions from and communicating with the stakeholders at the 2024 AGM.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE CULTURE

Provide high-quality services with comradery, innovation, confidence and integrity to
our clients and share success with our employees and stakeholders. Uphold what is
right without fear and never give up.

Through regular board meetings of the Company, staff gatherings and trainings
within the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) as well as periodically review
of the Group’s policies and procedures, the Company believes that the corporate
culture has been implemented at all the times.

The Company also believes that, enhancing corporate governance can promote,
develop and maintain an ethical and healthy corporate culture, whilst an ethical and
healthy corporate culture is the source of competitive advantage that sets us apart
from peers and is important for creating long term value of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a system of corporate governance, observed the CG
Code and currently appointed three Independent Non-Executive Directors and one
Non-Executive Director constituting not less than one-third of the members of the
Board. The composition of the Board during the reporting period and as at the date
of this Annual Report is as follows:

Non-Executive Director:
Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao (Chairman)
Executive Directors:

Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren (Managing Director)
Mr. Xu Haohao
(redesignated from Non-Executive Director with effect from 4 June 2024)
Mr. Lam Chi Shing
Ms. Li Ming

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Sze Chung
Mr. Suen Chi Wai
Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company are set out on pages 6 to 11 of
this Annual Report.

Mechanism for ensuring Independent Views and Input to
the Board

The Independent Non-Executive Directors comprised top-notched professionals
(one lawyer, one accountant and one investment banker) who are capable of
safeguarding the corporate governance of the Company and protecting the interests
of all shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”). Through serving on the
Board committees, taking active participation and sharing of valuable impartial view
on matters discussed at the Board and/or Board committees meetings and taking
lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interests, all Independent Non-
Executive Directors have provided the independent views and input to the Board
and made various contributions to the effective direction of the Company.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship) between any members of the Board and in particular, between
the Chairman and the Managing Director.

The Board shall review the mechanism above on an annual basis, and has reviewed
it during the year, to ensure its implementation and effectiveness.
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tEERME(E)

Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

All Directors have access to the services of the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) who regularly updates the Board on governance and
regulatory matters. Especially for the Independent Non-Executive Directors, the
Company will keep them up-to-date with the affairs of the Group so that they may
scrutinise the Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and
objectives, and monitor performance reporting. Any Director and member of each
Board committee of the Company may take independent professional advice if they
so wish at the expense of the Company, as arranged by the Company Secretary.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has held 4 regular Board
meetings at approximately quarterly intervals in accordance with the CG Code. 6
additional Board meetings have been held when the Board considers appropriate
during the year.

Attendance of individual Directors at Board meetings for the year ended 31
December 2024:

Number of meetings

BBERY

EZERARERER

AARZARAME((ARANE AR EHMAEESETNEH
EANEEEE  2REFHIVENEHREN - FHl=BILIE
WITEE  ARFAREOMSAEZEETRAREXE &
B MERSRERARTNEERAMECERNRARZR
B UEEREER ENEERALRASEEEZES K
SMMERBLEXES  RARARAEAHER  1WER
REMELPET T

BE_Z_ NS+ _A=t+—HLFERN EEFFCOERDLE
SRAZRERT4ARESTEENEHR - ANEF R - FR
BFEERREEREHTOREIMVEREEE -

BE-T-MF+-A=+—ALEE  EFEEREINEE
B

10

Non-Executive Director
FHITEE
Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao (Chairman)

BASRELE(L/E)

Executive Directors

HITEE

Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren (Managing Director)

FEM T E(EFEICE)

Mr. Xu Haohao (redesignated from Non-Executive Director
with effect from 4 June 2024)

HREZAE(BEZT_NFNANBRAIFNTESHL)

Mr. Lam Chi Shing

MEKEE

Ms. Li Ming

FHt

Independent Non-Executive Directors
BYIBITESE

Mr. Chan Sze Chung

BRBIASE

Mr. Suen Chi Wai

FEEEE

Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred

SEESE

4/10 40%

10/10 100%

9/10 90%
10/10 100%

9/10 90%

10/10 100%
9/10 90%

8/10 80%

At least 14 days’ notice of a regular Board meeting is given to all Directors to provide
them with an opportunity to attend and all Directors are given an opportunity to
include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting. Board papers are despatched
to the Directors at least 3 days before the regular meetings (and so far as practicable
for additional meetings) to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the papers
and be adequately prepared for the meeting.

A private meeting of the Chairman of the Board and the Independent Non-Executive
Directors had been held in 2024.
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Chairman and Managing Director

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the roles of the Chairman of the Board
and the Managing Director are not exercised by the same individual.

Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao, being the Chairman of the Board, is responsible for the leadership
and effective running of the Board.

The position of Managing Director is performed by Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren, who
is delegated with the authorities to manage the Group’s business in all aspects
effectively, implement major strategies, make day-to-day decision and coordinate
overall business operation.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for running the Group and drawing up the strategies to be
adopted. It ensures that proper risk management and internal control systems are
in place and that the Group’s business conforms to applicable laws and regulations.
The Board is also responsible for shaping, monitoring and evaluating the Group’s
culture, and ensuring it is aligned with the purpose, value and strategy of the Group.

The management, under the leadership of the Managing Director, is responsible for
implementing the strategies and plans established and any instruction given by the
Board; and submitting reports on the Group’s operations to the Board on a regular
basis to ensure effective discharge of the Board’s responsibilities.

The Board may delegate any of its powers, authorities and discretion to committees
consisting of such Director or Directors and other persons as the Board thinks fit,
and it may from time to time revokes such delegation or revokes the appointment of
and discharge any such committees either wholly or in part, and either as to persons
or purposes, but every committee so formed must, in the exercise of the powers,
authorities and discretion so delegated, conforms to any regulations that may from
time to time be imposed upon it by the Board.

During regular meetings of the Board, the Board discusses and formulates the
overall strategies of the Group, monitors financial and investment performances,
discusses and approves the annual and interim results, discusses and decides on
other significant matters, if necessary.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors and officers liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company.

Terms of appointment and re-election of Directors

Non-Executive Directors (including Independent Non-Executive Directors) of the
Company have no specific term of appointment but subject to retirement and re-
election in accordance with the articles of association of the Company. At each
annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”), one-third of the Directors for the
time being or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years.
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The Company has formal letters of appointment or service agreements for Directors
setting out the key terms and conditions of their appointment.

Continuous Professional Development

Director’s training is an ongoing process. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the management had provided all members of the Board with monthly updates
giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance,
position and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each
Director to discharge their duties under the Listing Rules. The Company had funded
training courses and delivered training materials during the year and will continue
to arrange and/or funding training opportunities in respect of the roles, functions
and duties of Directors upon requested by Directors. The Company had received
record of trainings from each Director relating to development and refreshment of
their knowledge and skills on the topics of directors’ duties, corporate governance,
regulatory development, risk management, environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) reporting, business, taxation, financial reporting, anti-corruption or
other relevant topics. The participation by individual Directors in the continuous
professional development during the year is recorded in the table below:

ARABBERZESZEEIRGHHE  FTRARRET L2
AR B Akt -

FEEXRRE

EEFIABELETHRRE - BE-T-_NF+=-A=+—H
IEFEA Eﬁ@ﬁﬂ%%@%%ﬁﬁhflﬂﬁﬁ ﬁﬁ
Al KRB MA KB RIEE FERE SIEROF AT - &
EEXRANERFEESFRE LMRABITERS - A2 7¢
NGB PSR R EEIER - MEEFER - AAFKE
BEER/REDEBES 2 A - EERBEOEIIKS -
$@ﬂ5%ﬁxi$ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ§$%f TEE
B EEERE - -RRERE RE HeREARAEBRLEED®R
& B B Eﬁﬁﬂ%& RES AR £ R 2 A &
REERIEdIReeE - TRINBERNZEFTRFR2 BT XER
HIFCEE -

Attending trainings/

briefings/seminars/ Delivering talks on

webinars/ topics relating to
Reading regulatory conferences/ capital market
Directors or monthly updates workshops development
ST
ane Exg RELXTSRE
MEER R EME |EE®g Z B ERE
Bz SREHREN o T BREH
Non-Executive Director
HHITEE
Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao (Chairman) v v -
BASFE(EE)
Executive Directors
HITE
M. Lee Wa Lun, Warren (Managing Director) 4 v -
FHE A St (B FIACIE)
Mr. Xu Haohao (redesignated from Non-Executive Director with
effect from 4 June 2024) v - -
REEFRE(BZZEZNESANBEREIFNTESRET)
Mr. Lam Chi Shing 4 v v
MER S E
Ms. Li Ming 4 v -
FERL+
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUFHITEE
Mr. Chan Sze Chung 4 v -
R BIRS
Mr. Suen Chi Wai v v -
BREEEE
Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred 4 v -
SEELE
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All responsible officers and licensed representatives of the Group who are licensed
persons registered under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”), three of whom are Executive Directors of the
Company, are also required to undertake a sufficient number of hours of continuous
professional training in order to maintain their Securities and Futures Commission
licences to carry on regulated activities.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance duties as
required under the CG Code and has adopted the written terms of reference on
its corporate governance functions. The major roles and functions of the Board in
respect of the corporate governance are:

—  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance;

—  toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management;

—  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

—  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
applicable to employees and Directors; and

—  toreview the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

In 2024 and up to the date of this Annual Report, the Board has performed the
corporate governance duties in accordance with its terms of reference.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by four sub-committees, namely the executive committee,
audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee to assist
the Board in discharging its responsibilities and to enhance the Group’s corporate
governance framework. Each committee has its own defined terms of reference
which clearly state the corresponding roles and responsibilities.
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Executive Committee

An executive committee of the Board has been set up with written terms of reference
in compliance with the CG Code. The executive committee consists of Mr. Lee Wa
Lun, Warren (chairman of the executive committee), Mr. Xu Haohao, Mr. Lam Chi
Shing and Ms. Li Ming, being Executive Directors.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the executive committee, the executive
committee has the powers and discretion to, including but not limited to,
decide, approve or resolve otherwise on any expenditure, investments or capital
commitment of the Company (the “Funding Plan(s)”) not exceeding an amount
to be agreed by the Board from time to time per single Funding Plan and no cap
for total Funding Plans (excluding staff salaries, office rental and profits tax) in any
financial year. The chairman of the executive committee shall report to the Board at
the next Board meeting on all matters considered and/or resolved by the executive
committee since the last Board meeting.

Audit Committee

An audit committee of the Board has been set up with written terms of reference
in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The terms of
reference of the audit committee are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

The audit committee consists of Mr. Chan Sze Chung (chairman of the audit
committee), Mr. Suen Chi Wai and Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred, being Independent
Non-Executive Directors, and Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao, being Non-Executive Director.

The audit committee is provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties and

may have access to independent professional advice according to the Company’s

policy if considered necessary.

The major roles and functions of the audit committee are:

(@) torecommend to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of the external auditor, to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement
of the external auditor, and to consider any questions of resignation or

dismissal of the auditor;

(b) to consider and discuss with external auditor the nature and scope of each
year’s audit;

(c) to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity;

(d) to review the interim and annual consolidated financial statements before
submission to the Board;

(e) to discuss any problems and reservation arising from the interim review and
final audit, and any matters the external auditor may wish to discuss;
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() to review the external auditor’'s management letters (if any) and management’s
response; and

(9) to review the Group’s financial controls, risk management and internal control
systems.

The works of the audit committee during the year ended 31 December 2024
included:

(@) reviewing annual results for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the interim
results for the six months ended 30 June 2024;

(b) discussing with the management of the Company over the completeness,
fairness and adequate accounting standards and policies of the Group in the
preparation of the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 and the interim financial statements for the six months ended 30 June
2024;

(c) reviewing and discussing with the external auditor over the financial reporting
of the Company;

(d) reviewing and approving the 2024 audit plan and fees;

(e) recommending to the Board, for the approval by the Shareholders, of the
re-appointment of the external auditor;

() reviewing the arrangement (including investigation and following up action, if
any) under the whistle blower policy;

(9) reviewing the internal audit report; and

(h)  reviewing the effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems.

As at 31 December 2024, the arrangement for employees of the Group and those
who deal with the Group to raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal control and other matters through whistle blower policy is in
place. No reporting had been received by audit committee during the year ended 31
December 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the audit committee met 3 times with
external auditor. Each committee meeting was supplied with the necessary financial
information of the Group for enabling the members to consider, review and assess
matters of significance arising from the work conducted.
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Attendance of individual members of audit committee at audit committee meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2024:

Number of meetings

BE-T-WF+- A=+ ALFEENBRSESERET
EREARKENOLREE

EE N 3

Mr. Chan Sze Chung (Chairman) 3/3 100%
BRBIESLAE(FE)

Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao 3/3 100%
FAZEE

Mr. Suen Chi Wai 3/3 100%
REREEE

Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred 2/3 67%
SEELE

Mr. Xu Haohao (Note) 11 100%
122 5 ()

Note:  Redesignated to Executive Director and hence ceased to be a member of Mz - g —E-NENANBRRTEARNITES A THIE
audit committee with effect from 4 June 2024. During the period up to the AEBEEZES/KE - EE (T AHHR - Q8RT1AEX
date of redesignation, 1 audit committee meeting was held. LTEEggH -

The audit committee also met with external auditor without the presence of the ERZEENN S _NFEARRNTEERERENES

Executive Directors and management of the Company in 2024, and the then audit 21BN Eﬁiﬁl EZmgmidres  MEENEREZEEKER

committee members had attended such meeting. HE%Es

Remuneration Committee

A remuneration committee of the Board has been set up with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The
terms of reference of the remuneration committee are available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The remuneration committee consists of Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred (chairman of
the remuneration committee), Mr. Chan Sze Chung and Mr. Suen Chi Wai, being
Independent Non-Executive Directors, and Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao, being Non-Executive
Director.

The remuneration committee is provided with sufficient resources to perform its
duties and may have access to independent professional advice according to the
Company’s policy if considered necessary.

The major roles and functions of the remuneration committee are:

(@) to recommend to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all
remuneration of Directors and senior management;

(b) to recommend to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual

Executive Directors and senior management (as adopted the model under
Code Provision E.1.2(c)(ii);
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(c) to review and recommend to the Board performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives approved by the Board from time
to time;

(d) to review and recommend to the Board the compensation payable to
Executive Directors relating to any loss or termination of their office or
appointment;

(e) to review and recommend to the Board compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct;

() to ensure that no Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration; and

(9) to review and/or recommend to the Board matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 3 remuneration committee meetings
were held to discuss and review discretionary bonus of Executive Directors,
remuneration of all members of the Board and remuneration of a proposed
Executive Director after redesignation; and made recommendations to the Board.
There was no material matter relating to share schemes that was reviewed and/or
recommended to the Board by the remuneration committee during the year ended
31 December 2024.

Attendance of individual members of remuneration committee at remuneration
committee meetings during the year ended 31 December 2024

Number of meetings

BRERY
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ECToMFEF A=t RALFEAFHEZEESHER
FHZBEREMHER

Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred (Chairman)
BEESREEE)

Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao

FAZIE

Mr. Chan Sze Chung

BB S

Mr. Suen Chi Wai

REEEE

2/3 67%

3/3 100%

3/3 100%

3/3 100%

Nomination Committee

A nomination committee of the Board has been set up with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The
terms of reference of the nomination committee are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The nomination committee consists of Mr. Suen Chi Wai (chairman of the
nomination committee), Mr. Chan Sze Chung and Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred, being
Independent Non-Executive Directors.
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The nomination committee is provided with sufficient resources to perform its
duties and may have access to independent professional advice according to the
Company’s policy if considered necessary.

The major roles and functions of the nomination committee are:

(@ to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board at least annually and make recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships;

(c) to assess the independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors; and

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment
of the Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the
chairman and the chief executive.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 2 nomination committee meetings were
held to (i) review the structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board; (ii)
assess the independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors; (i) review the re-
election of retiring Directors at the 2024 AGM,; (iv) review the board diversity policy;
(v) review the nomination of a proposed Executive Director after redesignation and
his term of appointment and service agreement; and (vi) make recommendations to
the Board.

Attendance of individual members of nomination committee at nomination
committee meetings during the year ended 31 December 2024:

Number of meetings

LN

REZEGEREFTHERUBITERSE @« WARAQRRE
TEFRERSKBUEXSR -

REZEE I 2MAEREE

@ EIEBFRIEFSORE  ABRER(BERE A
BRAERRITE) W ERBI A AR B YR B F 6 B
HEFSHRLNERLER

b) WeEREaEERAREEESSKEMNAL  WHER
FABATHEESARLAESSREER

(© FHEZBSIIFRITESMELE R

(d) HREFZEXEFZEUAREE(LEREIFERESTR
ABEEHERERSRHER

=—-=F

1_7_@¢+ A=+—BLEFER  RIT2RREZ
BEgEHRABRNESTENERE - AR Z(bRARK ; ()7
Vﬁi#iﬂ %%E’Wﬁi\i (i) Muﬂlﬁ’\_j_ﬂliﬁﬁiﬂiﬁ
erERIERTES  (WRIESEZIUEEBUR  WRETH
FEREPTES 2 RERETHRRBEHE &w MEZF

ShRhER

ECTCMFEF A=t RALEFEARLZES2RER
RAZBEREBHHEE

Mr. Suen Chi Wai (Chairman)
BREEREERE)

Mr. Chan Sze Chung

PR BIASE

Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred
SEELE

Mr. Xu Haohao (Note)

1RE 2 5 (PE)

2/2 100%

2/2 100%

172 50%

2/2 100%

Note:  Redesignated to Executive Director and hence ceased to be a member of
nomination committee with effect from 4 June 2024. During the period up to the
date of redesignation, 2 nomination committee meetings were held.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The nomination policy of the Company sets out the nomination criteria and
procedures for providing a formal, considered and transparent procedure to the
Board, with the assistance and recommendation from the nomination committee,
for evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships. In assessing the suitability
of a proposed candidate, the nomination committee may make reference to certain
criteria such as the Company’s need, the integrity, experience in the Company
principal business and/or the industry in which the Company operates, balance of
skills, knowledge and experience on the Board, the amount of time and effort that
the candidate will devote to discharge his/her duties and responsibilities and, in the
case of an Independent Non-Executive Director, the independent requirements set
out in the Listing Rules, and take into account various aspects set out in the board
diversity policy of the Company and the number of directorship in other listed/public
companies, and in the case of Independent Non-Executive Directors, the length of
tenure, where an Independent Non-Executive Director serving more than nine years
could be relevant to the determination of a Non-Executive Director’s independence.
The secretary of the nomination committee shall invite nomination of candidates
from Board members (if any) for consideration by the nomination committee. The
nomination committee may also put forward candidates who are not nominated by
Board members. The Board shall make the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any general meeting.

In considering the recommendation of redesignation of a Non-Executive Director to
Executive Director and re-appointment of retiring Directors standing for re-election
at the 2024 AGM, the nomination committee, based on the above nomination policy,
assessed the relevant candidates on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill,
professional qualifications, independent mind and ability to commit time etc, and
made recommendations to the Board for approval.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The board diversity policy of the Company sets out the approach with the objective
of achieving diversity on the Board. The Company is committed to the benefits
of having the Board with appropriate balance of expertise, skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives. The nomination committee reviews and assesses the
Board composition on behalf of the Board and recommends the appointment of
new Directors, if necessary. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity criteria, including
but not limited to the Company’s needs, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, integrity, management experience, technical skills, industry
or professional knowledge and experience, length of service, and the amount
of time and effort that the candidate will devote to discharge his/her duties and
responsibilities and, in the case of Independent Non-Executive Director(s), the
independence requirements set out in the Listing Rules. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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The Board shall maintain a Board composition of at least one female Board member
on an ongoing basis. While in the absence of one female Board member, the Board
shall identify a pipeline of potential female candidates internally. During the year
and as at the date of this Annual Report, the Board already has one female Board
member.

The nomination committee monitor the implementation of the board diversity
policy and review it on an annual basis, which will include an assessment of its
implementation and effectiveness. The nomination committee will discuss and agree
on measurable objectives for achieving diversity of the Board, and where necessary,
make any revisions that may be required and recommend any such revisions
to the Board for consideration and approval. The Board shall further review the
implementation and effectiveness of the board diversity policy of the Company on an
annual basis.

Workforce Diversity

The gender ratio in the workforce (including senior management) as at 31 December
2024 was 17 (male) and 7 (female), women comprised approximately 29% (2023:
33%) in the workforce.

As an equal opportunity employer, the Group makes decisions on recruitment
and promotion based on meritocracy, and take into account the factors based on
its business model and specific needs from time to time. The Group keeps effort
on promoting equal opportunities and ensures all employees are treated with
dignity and respect regardless of gender and other forms of diversity such as age,
nationality, religions, family status, etc.

The Board considers that gender diversity is currently achieved and is committed to
maintain gender diversity in the workforce level.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company’s dividend policy aims to set out the approach adopted by the
Board in recommending dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profits and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for future
growth.
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Subject to the requirement of the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, the applicable laws and regulations of Hong Kong and the Cayman
Islands and any other laws and regulations applicable to the Company, and if
required, the approval of the Shareholders, the Company shall pay annual dividends
to the Shareholders if the Group is profitable, operation environment is stable
and there is no significant investment or commitment made by the Group. The
aggregate amount per year shall not exceed 30% of the consolidated annual net
profits (excluding extraordinary items, if any) attributable to the Shareholders, taking
into consideration the criteria including but not limited to the Group’s current and
future operations, financial position, development pipeline, prevailing economic
environment, contractual restrictions, capital and other reserve requirements,
dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates, as well as any
other conditions or factors which the Board deems relevant and having regard to
the Director’s fiduciary duties. The remaining net profits will be used for the Group’s
development and operations. The dividend policy allows the Company to declare
special dividends from time to time in addition to annual dividends.

The Board reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend,
modify and/or cancel the dividend policy at any time.

For details of the dividends proposed for the year ended 31 December 2024, please
refer to the “Chairman’s Statement — Dividends” section on page 4 and “Directors’
Report — Results and Dividends” section on page 31 of this Annual Report.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company has established a formal and transparent policy on Directors’
remuneration and other remuneration related matters. Such remuneration policy
is to ensure that all employees, including Directors, are sufficiently compensated
for their efforts and time dedicated to the Company and remuneration offered is
appropriate for their duties and in line with market practice. No Director, or any of
his/her associates, and executive is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

According to such remuneration policy, the policy and structure for the remuneration
of Directors are set out below:

— Independent Non-Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors

(@) Independent Non-Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors
receive a basic fee and are not covered by any type of incentive or
performance-related remuneration.

(b) The basic fee of each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors and
Non-Executive Directors is set at a level that reflects the competencies
and contribution required in view of the Group’s complexity, the extent
of the responsibilities and the number of Board meetings or relevant
meetings of the Board committee(s) that he or she has to attend.

(c) In addition to the basic fee, Independent Non-Executive Directors and
Non-Executive Directors receive compensation for being chairman of the
Board committee(s) if he or she is not the Chairman of the Board.
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&

(Applicable to Independent Non-Executive Directors only) Generally the
Company shall not grant equity-based remuneration with performance-
related elements to Independent Non-Executive Directors as this may
lead to bias in their decision-making and compromise their objectivity and
independence.

Executive Directors

(@)

When Executive Directors are employed on a contractual basis, their
remuneration is fixed according to current market rates and conditions
in Hong Kong and subject to reassessment annually or periodically, as
mutually agreed between the Company and Executive Directors.

The remuneration committee should consult the Chairman of the Board
about their proposals relating to the remuneration of other Executive
Directors and have access to professional advice if considered
necessary.

Executive Director’s remuneration consists of both variable and non-

variable elements.

The total level of the non-variable elements of the remuneration is
determined by taking into consideration the job description and
responsibilities and the Group’s magnitude and complexity. Executive
Directors may also receive other benefits, including but not limited
to, defined contribution retirement scheme plan, plan providing for
hospitalization and outpatient benefits, accommodation benefit, and use
of company car.

The variable element is discretionary in nature and consists of year end
bonuses on the basis of both the Executive Director’s and the Group’s
performances as recommended by the Chairman of the Board and
approved by the remuneration committee and the Board.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The Executive Directors are closely involved in and are directly responsible for all

activities of the Group. The Board considers that the senior management comprise

the Executive Directors.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management, being all the Executive

Directors, by band for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HK$)

(d)

@)

(b)

(©

(d)

@)

T

(EERNELIENITER)ARR —RTERTE
STIFITE R EEMR AR T R A A 2 Y
T ARESERERRFREATERTERE LS
hvac I

5=

ERTEFUAOEAZER - REAQRERITE
EHARAE - AFIREEERITHIEHE RIGHF
i€ - WA FREREHRTS -

FNZE SR E B EMNITE SN RS
AEFEIR  VERRBLEHSREXER -

PITEZZHHNREAZRIAREE -

FW2 TAREENEKT RBBEBBIHAR
B DA R AR E 2 SRS R T - TEED
AEEAMIER] - BIEE TRR R KRN E
B IRUERRIRERZ SHE - ERIERIA R
FATAE -

TERFMMEEE - QEREEE L ERELE
HHESRREFEIE  RENTEERALH
R 2 FARTEAL -

ESRSREZASHMH

BRTEFEBR2ERERABRASEREES - EFERR
WITEERRREEAR -

HE-ZT

ZWFE+ZA=t+—HIEEFE -

BREEEKE ()

2RWTESR) ZHHNFATES

Number of person(s)

Fraaa I OB T) A
1 - 1,000,000 1
2,000,001 - 3,000,000 2

6,000,001 - 7,000,000

1

Particulars regarding senior management’s and other Directors’ emoluments and

the five highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2

to the Listing Rules are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare the financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of
the profit and cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
Board adopted appropriate accounting policies consistently, made prudent and
reasonable judgements and estimates, and ensured that the consolidated financial
statements were prepared on a going concern basis.

The responsibilities of the external auditor with respect to the financial reporting
are set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 78 to 82 of this Annual
Report.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees paid/payable to the external
auditor are set out as follows:
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Audit fees payable 1,035
Rt EtER
Non-audit services — included interim review and other professional services 163
B RG—BIEPIEM L HE RS
Total 1,198
st

Internal Audit Function

The Group has engaged an independent professional adviser (the “Internal Audit
Adviser”) to carry out the internal audit function by performing an independent
appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems. The Internal Audit Adviser has conducted an annual
review and made recommendations to improve the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

The Internal Audit Adviser is independent of the Group’s daily operation and carries
out appraisal of the risk management and internal control systems by conducting
reviews, walkthroughs and tests of operational effectiveness.

Review of the risk management and internal control systems is conducted annually
and the results are reported to the audit committee and then in turn to the Board.
The audit committee members met 1 time with Internal Audit Adviser during the
year.

R ERE B RE

ARABCRE—RB L FEER ([ WEEZER DITRERE
ZHEE - ARKENREREERANSERERRER RARAN
TR AHE - NEBERERCD Y ARENREREE A
ERGVE M TTFE R LR SO 25 -

AHEZERBUNANEEN B R SELEBI K - FTHRA
METERIERHA L AR E IR R A R AT -

RBREREANBEERGNERFFET R ARERAE
REEGRERERE - FAETREREGKEH W-E‘ =R

BRH1UAEE -

ABERMERBERDR 20245

57



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
tEERME(E)

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems involve the operation
and/or supervision of the Board, the audit committee and the Internal Audit Adviser.
The main features and the key processes that have been established in reviewing
the adequacy and effectiveness of such systems are stated below.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for overseeing the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. However, such systems are designed to
manage the Group’s risks within an acceptable risk profile, rather than to eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve the business objectives of the Group. Accordingly, it
can only provide reasonable assurance but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement of management and financial information and records or against
financial losses or fraud.

The Board has overall responsibility in monitoring the process of corporate reporting
and control system throughout the Group. It delegates the duties of proper and
regular reviews on the deployment of resources and financial reporting systems, the
corporate governance practices and compliance with the Listing Rules, the SFO and
other applicable regulations to the senior management. The senior management
reviews and briefs the reporting systems with the audit committee at least annually.

The Board, through the recommendations from the senior management, has
established the Risk Management Policy which consists of an on-going process
for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks (including the ESG
risks) faced by the Group and this process includes updating the systems of risk
management and internal control when there are changes to business environment
or regulatory guidelines. The effectiveness and efficiency of the risk management
and internal control systems are reviewed annually.

The Board implements the Board’s policies and procedures on risk and control by
identifying and assessing the risks faced, and involving in the design, operation and
monitoring of suitable internal control to mitigate and control these risks.

The key processes that have been established in reviewing the adequacy and
integrity of the systems of risk management and internal control include the
following:

e  The senior management ensure the effectiveness of the daily operations
and that the operations are in accordance with the corporate objectives and
strategies.

e  The audit committee reviews risk management and internal control issues (if
any) identified by Internal Audit Adviser, external auditor, regulatory authorities
and senior management, and evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
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The Internal Audit Adviser checks for compliance with statutory requirement, internal
policies and procedures. They assess the operating effectiveness and efficiency of
the risk management and internal control systems in the course of their audit. The
audit scope and frequency are determined by the level of assessed risks and have
to be reviewed and approved by the audit committee.

The Group has already established the Inside Information Policies. They depict
clearly the decision trees to distinguish inside information and the necessary
actions. All inside information must be kept in strict confidence. Once the inside
information needs disclosure, the manner must be equal, timely and effective.
Directors and relevant officers in possession of potential inside information and/or
inside information are required to take reasonable measures to ensure that proper
safeguards are in place to preserve strict confidentiality of inside information and
to ensure that its recipients recognise their obligations to maintain the information
confidential. The Inside Information Policies shall be updated and revised as and
when necessary in light of changes in circumstances and changes in the Listing
Rules, the SFO and relevant statutory or regulatory requirements from time to time.

The Board, through the audit committee with the assistance of Internal Audit Adviser
and the senior management of the Company, reviewed the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group (including the consideration of the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Company’s accounting, internal audit, financial reporting function, as well as
those relating to the Company’s ESG performance and reporting) for the year ended
31 December 2024. The controls within these systems were considered effective
and adequate. No significant areas of concern that may affect financial, operational,
compliance controls, internal audit, risk management and internal control functions
of the Group were identified.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lee Hon Sang was the Company Secretary up to 1 August 2024. He was also
an employee of the Group and had day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs
until his retirement. He is a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He has complied with the relevant training requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Ms. Lau Ka Ki, Klare had been appointed as the Company Secretary with effect
from 1 August 2024. She is also an employee of the Group and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Group’s affairs. She is an associate member of both The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute. She
has complied with the relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company had established a shareholders’ communication policy to maintain
an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders, and shall review it on an annual basis
to ensure its effectiveness. Having reviewed the various channels of communication
with the Shareholders, the Board was satisfied with the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy during the year.

The Company communicates with the Shareholders mainly in the following ways:
(i) the holding of the AGM and extraordinary general meetings (“EGM”), if any,
which may be convened for specific purposes and provide opportunities for the
Shareholders to communicate and give their views directly to the Board; (i) the
publication of announcements, annual reports, interim reports, circulars on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange; and (jii) the availability of latest
information of the Group on the website of the Company.

The Company also releases all necessary disclosures and corporate communication
through the website of Stock Exchange in order to keep Shareholders, the public
and any other stakeholders informed of all major developments that affect the
Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the 2024 AGM was held on 24 May
2024.

The Company’s notices to the Shareholders for the AGM are sent to the
Shareholders at least 21 days and for EGM at least 14 days.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings for substantial issues,
including the re-election of retiring Directors, and voting of which are taken by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules. An explanation of the detailed procedures for
conducting a poll is provided to the Shareholders during the general meetings. All
the votes cast at the general meetings are properly counted and recorded. Any
results of the poll are published on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

Chairmen and members of the audit committee, nomination committee and
remuneration committee, as well as the chairmen and members of the independent
board committee (if any), are invited to attend the general meetings to answer
questions from the Shareholders. The management also ensures the representative
of the auditor attend the AGM.

The Board emphasizes on the importance of communication with the Shareholders

and other stakeholders and welcomes their views as well as any questions they may
have about the management and governance of the Company.
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Attendance of individual Directors at general meetings during the year ended 31
December 2024:

Number of meetings

BRERY
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E=T g+ A=+ AL FEAREAGEREFY
B

AGM
BRBFARE
1

Non-Executive Director
HHITEE
Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao (Chairman)

BASEE(ERE)

Executive Directors

HITEE

Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren (Managing Director)

FHE S (B FARACTE)

Mr. Xu Haohao (redesignated from Non-Executive Director
with effect from 4 June 2024)

HREZFE(BZT_NFNAMBRAINTESHE)

Mr. Lam Chi Shing

MEKEE

Ms. Li Ming

£

Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUFHITESE

Mr. Chan Sze Chung

PR BIAS

Mr. Suen Chi Wai

REREEE

Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred

SERELE

0/1 0%

11 100%

11 100%

11 100%

11 100%

11 100%

11 100%

11 100%

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held on 30 May 2025 and resolutions
to be proposed thereat will be voted separately by way of poll.

SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES

Enquiries by Shareholders and the investment community to be put to the Board
(including their views on matters affecting the Company) can be sent in writing to
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong. For share registration
related matters, Shareholders can contact the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited. Contact details can
be found on page 3 of this Annual Report.
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CONVENING AN EGM OF THE COMPANY BY
SHAREHOLDERS

Any one or more Shareholder holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of
voting at general meetings can convene EGM by depositing or sending a written
requisition addressed to the Board or the Company Secretary for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting within 21 days of the deposit
of the requisition, then the requisitionist(s) himself/themselves may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board will be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a Shareholder
should lodge a written request, duly signed by the Shareholder concerned, setting
out the proposals at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Board or the Company Secretary. The request will be verified with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and upon their confirmation that
the request is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will pass the request to
the Board. Whether a proposal will be put to a general meeting will be decided by
the Board in its discretion, unless the proposal put forward by a Shareholder is (a)
pursuant to a requisition by a Shareholder to convene an EGM referred to above or
(b) forms part of ordinary business to be considered at an AGM as described in the
articles of association of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

The memorandum and articles of association of the Company are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

APPROACH AND STRATEGY

Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited (the “Company”) believes in delivering long term,
sustainable value creation to our shareholders. In doing so, we recognise that the
choices we make will have an impact on the communities in which we carry on our
business and we should make such impact a positive one. We are committed to
contributing to the sustainable development of society and the environment, and
endeavour to embrace these principles as part of our practice and governance. The
Company has adopted a Sustainability Policy in November 2019 which covers our
principles in the area of employment and labour practices, business integrity, the
environment and the community.

This report outlines the sustainability initiatives and Key Performance Indicators
(“KPI”) of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group” or “we”) that are material to
the Group and its stakeholders on Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
issues for the year ended 31 December 2024. This report supplements information
disclosed in this Annual Report.

The subject areas and aspects are presented in accordance with the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the “ESG Reporting
Guide”) (renamed as ESG code with effect from 1 January 2025) set out in Appendix
C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) is well aware of its role and
responsibility in oversight of ESG matters, such as setting up ESG-related goals
and targets as well as assessment and management of material environmental
and social risks issues. The ESG works are implemented by the management
of the Company which consists of the Executive Directors of the Company. The
management is responsible for identifying ESG-related risks and determining
the appropriate risk profile for the Group. Systems and procedures are put
in place to identify, evaluate and manage the risks of business and activities,
including ESG-related risks. The results and findings are reported annually by the
management to the audit committee of the Company and the Board for review,
details of which are under the “Risk Management and Internal Control” section
contained in the Corporate Governance Report of this Annual Report.

For further information about our corporate governance, please refer to the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 42 to 62 of this Annual Report.

This report has been reviewed and approved by the Board.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The preparation of this report strictly adheres to the reporting principles of

"o«

“materiality”, “quantitative”, “balance” and “consistency”.
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HERERSEE (F)

RIE

Materiality Assessment and Stakeholder Engagement

Amongst various environmental and social issues based on the ESG Reporting
Guide, the following is the list of issues that are identified to be material and
relevant to the Group. The priorities are set based on management’s view with
considerations on align with the corporate culture, strategy, values and objectives of
the Group as well as certain conclusions from our stakeholders’ engagement. The
key stakeholders such as investors, shareholders, employees, business partners,
clients, government and other regulatory bodies have been taken into consideration.
The Group has communicated with the stakeholders through various channels such
as the Company’s website, announcements, annual general meeting, annual and
interim reports, face-to-face/online/telephone meetings. Based on management’s
view, the aspects and KPlIs relevant to this report’s disclosure are set out as follows:

Material and relevant issues:

Service responsibility (Aspect B6) general disclosure, KPI B6.2, B6.5
Anti-corruption (Aspect B7) general disclosure, KPI B7.2, B7.3

Other relevant issues:

Emissions (Aspect A1) general disclosure, KPI A1.4

Use of resources (Aspect A2) general disclosure, KPI A2.1

The environment and natural resources (Aspect A3) general disclosure, KPI A3.1
Climate change

Employment (Aspect B1) general disclosure

Health and safety (Aspect B2) general disclosure

Development and training (Aspect B3) general disclosure, KPI B3.1, B3.2
Labour standards (Aspect B4) general disclosure

Supply chain management (Aspect B5) general disclosure, KPI B5.2, B5.3, B5.4

Community investment (Aspect B8) general disclosure, KPI B8.1, B8.2

All other KPIs not mentioned above were considered not relevant for detailed
disclosure because the Group is not involved in any manufacturing or construction
activities.

Quantitative

Each of the calculations under the “A. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES
— Environmental Indicators” section has been made reference to the emission
factors in the “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange.

As regards the calculation of each social KPI under the “B. SOCIAL ISSUES” section,

it has been made reference to the “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 3:
Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Balance

This report presents an unbiased overview of the Group’s ESG performance
with both achievements and areas of improvements disclosed and includes data
comparisons with prior year to provide an objective presentation.

Consistency

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no change to the methods or KPIs used,
or any other relevant factors affecting a meaningful comparison.

REPORTING BOUNDARY

The Company is an investment holding company and the Group’s operations are
mainly carried out by its operating subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong, Yu Ming
Investment Management Limited ("Yu Ming"), Morton Securities Limited (“Morton
Securities”) and Morgan Finance Limited (“Morgan Finance”). The details of their
principal activities can be referred to “Business Review” section in “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this Annual Report.

This report mainly covers the ESG performances of the Company, Yu Ming, Morton
Securities and Morgan Finance so as to consistent with the business scopes as
disclosed in this Annual Report.

The following ESG issues are presented based on the classification of provisions by
the ESG Reporting Guide.
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RE HEREREE (E)

A. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The Group’s Sustainability Policy encompasses our general approach towards
environmental issues. We endeavour to:

observe relevant laws and regulations and aim to go beyond minimum
requirements;

—  prevent/minimise air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste;

- make efficient use of resources, including energy and water;

- minimise the impact of the Group’s activities on the environment and
natural resources; and

— engage our staff and partners to promote environmentally sustainable
business practices and constantly re-assess our processes to minimize
environmental impact.

Emissions (Aspect A1)

The Group is not involved in any manufacturing or construction activities,
hence it does not produce hazardous waste in its operations. There are no
relevant laws and regulations relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
applicable to our business.

The direct (Scope 1) greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions are mainly produced
from the occasional business travels which are mostly on a “second degree”
basis. As regards the energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions, only electricity
purchased from The Hongkong Electric Company Limited is related to the
Group’s operations. Also, the Group generates non-hazardous waste, i.e.
paper consumption, during its daily office operations.

In line with our policy to minimise air and greenhouse gas emissions, major
operations are equipped with audio conferencing facilities to minimise the need
for face to face meetings and keep business travelling to a minimum.

The Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region ("HKSAR")
proposed that it would strive for carbon neutrality by 2050. We will work
towards the same target. Other measures to achieve the target are disclosed
in the “Use of Resources (Aspect A2) and the Environment and Natural
Resources (Aspect A3)” section below.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Use of Resources (Aspect A2) and the Environment
and Natural Resources (Aspect A3)

We place a high priority on the efficient use of resources. With only 28
staff across the Group (including Directors of the Company), we consume
limited amount of electricity and paper. Water consumption is not material
to our business as it relates only to the personal consumption of our staff for
their personal hygiene. Also, the water supply and drainage facilities of our
offices are managed by property management company as our business
is operated in leased office premises. Hence, the Group does not have
water consumption and water recycling record during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, and no issue in sourcing water that is fit for use
in the Group’s operations. Nevertheless, we remind our staff to turn off water
taps when they are not in use, and fix dripping, spraying and leaky water taps
promptly to prevent waste and avoid bacterial growth to affect the hygiene
of our workplace. Moreover, our business does not involve consumption of
packaging materials.

We keep track of resources and target to reduce the usage of energy by
implementing and performing the following various energy saving practices:

- Environmental protection guidelines in relation to energy savings and
reduction in paper consumption are circulated to all staff

—  Staff are reminded to switch off lights and equipment after work, during
lunch break or during the time working outside the office and whenever
possible

- Energy efficient office equipment is always preferred in making purchase
decisions

Recycling scheme of office equipment and supplies has been also launched
within the Group.

We supported the Earth Hour 2024 organised by the World Wide Fund for
Nature and encouraged our Directors and staff to switch off the unnecessary
lighting for an hour on the event date, and continue a good practice on energy
saving in daily life.

We also target to reduce paper usage while improving efficiency in the
operations by implementing whenever possible the following business
processes to maintain a paperless office throughout the Group:

- Electronic bank and broker statements and correspondences

-  Recycling schemes for paper

— Internal electronic administration and communication platform

Starting from the 2022 annual report of the Company published in April 2023,
we used the Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) certified paper for contributing

to the environmental protection.

Except for the above-mentioned, the Group’s businesses have no direct
significant impact on the environment and natural resources.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIE

HERERSEE (F)

Environmental Indicators RIBER
Types Unit 2024 2023
k=] B —E-mE —E=—-=
Air and GHG Emissions
BREBEREHN
Direct (Scope 1) GHG emission’ kg of carbon dioxide equivalent (“kgCO.e”) - -
B (EEN)REREBHR ArZatmE(( AT _atREE])
Indirect (Scope 2) GHG emission? kgCO.,e 23,184 24,239
B (#HE2)REREHR N
Other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emission® kgCO.,e 1,863 2,137
H R (FE3))R = R H e DT B EE
Total GHG emissions (Scopes 1, 2 and 3) kgCO.,e 25,047 26,376
BEREHREE (BET - 23) P S rikE e
GHG emission intensity kgCO.e per full-time employee (“FTE”) 895 942
BEREHIREE DTZEULREE 2RES(T2RES )
kgCO,e per million revenue 452 608
DT Z&tiE 2 BBt
kgCOze per square feet 4 4
ArZEtmEs FHR
Energy Consumption
BEIRH#E
Indirect energy — Electricity consumption? kWh 32,653 34,139
AR — & ERE TR
Electricity consumption intensity kWh per FTE 1,166 1,219
ERERE FTRE ZBEE
kWh per million revenue 589 787
TR BETWE
kWh per square feet 5 5
TRE/FHR
Non-hazardous Waste
EEREY
Paper consumption® kg 388 445
HERIHFE NIy
Paper consumption intensity kg per FTE 14 16
BEREFERE AT/ 2BES
kg per million revenue 7 10
DT/ BB
kg per square feet 0.06 0.07

it does not own any vehicles, no gaseous fuel consumption or air emission
(Sulphur Oxides, Nitrogen Oxides and Particulate Matter) was directly
produced by the Group during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

2 Caused by the use of electricity purchased from The Hongkong Electric 2 HAERNEEE
Company Limited.
8 Only for paper purchased (e.g. A4 paper, A3 paper and printed paper 8

product). Office of the Group does not have a separate water meter and the
property management company could not provide the data. Therefore, water

consumption data is unavailable.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Climate Change

We integrate climate-related risks into the Company’s Risk Management
Policy. The Company, through the audit committee and with the assistance
of the management, has identified the climate-related risks relating to the
businesses and operations of the Group and categorised them into (1) physical
risks and (2) transition risks.

Physical Risks

We are aware that climate change can lead to an increase in extreme weather,
such as super typhoon, flood, drought, etc., which can affect the ecosystem.
The ecosystem destruction may have interlocking effect, such as fluctuation in
temperature, that as a result the energy consumption, equipment depreciation
and associated costs in our operations could be affected as well as the safety
of employees working at the premises may also be threaten. The Group keeps
making efforts to implement the mitigation of use of resources as disclosed
in the “Use of Resources (Aspect A2) and the Environment and Natural
Resources (Aspect A3)” section above.

In Hong Kong, super typhoon is the common extreme weather. The Group’s
operations are principally office-based. The effect on the productivity of our
staff would not be significant unless the extreme weather continues for a long
period. As circumstances allow, our staff could work from home so as to
mitigate any adverse effects. We have also developed emergency protocols
to handle such events, as outlined in our Employee Handbook, including
procedures to approach typhoon signals and rainstorm warnings.

Besides, super typhoon and heavy rain may break the office windows and
hence may destroy the Group’s documents and equipment. The management,
with assistance from the human resources department, keeps attention on the
development of the bad weather and will inform our staff to take sufficient and
necessary measures when there is an announcement of typhoon and/or rain.
Furthermore, the Group has built up a good practice many years ago to scan
all documents into electronic version and save in the computer server, and
the management information system department regularly arranges backup of
the computer server. The backup will be kept by the management information
system department and stored in safe location. In case the office windows are
destroyed by the super typhoon and resulting in the damage of the desktop
computer of our staff, we still have the backup and will not affect our daily
working.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIE

HERERSEE (F)

Transition Risks

As a financial service provider, accompanying the regulators such as the Stock
Exchange and the Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”) promote
the green culture such as paperless for registration/application, we shall
continue to explore relevant risks and opportunities to develop green services
that facilitate the Group transforming to a lower-carbon operation and provide
support to staff to meet new regulations so as to serve the long-term needs of
the environment and consider climate resilience in our businesses in the future.

Furthermore, for our asset management services, we take climate-related risks
into consideration in risk management procedures and ensure that appropriate
steps have been taken to identify, manage and monitor the relevant and
material climate-related risks for each investment strategy and fund we
manage.

SOCIAL ISSUES

Employment, Health and Safety and Labour Standards
(Aspects B1, B2, B4)

Being in the financial services industry, our people are our most important
assets that drive the long-term development and sustainability of the Group.
The Group’s policy on employment is as follows:

—  observing relevant laws and regulations;

- being an equal-opportunity employer, implementing fair practices relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits for our staff;

- providing a safe, healthy and quality workplace and protecting our staff
from occupational hazards;

—  promoting a good work-life balance for staff;

— investing in training and professional development of our staff for the
purpose of improving their knowledge and skills for discharging duties at
work; and

—  maintaining an open dialogue with our staff, facilitating a transparent two
way communication.

In Hong Kong, the Group’s employment of staff is governed by the
Employment Ordinance, the Minimum Wage Ordinance, the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, the Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance and the Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance. Our
compensation and benefits (including working hours, rest periods, welfare)
need to be competitive with other peers in the financial services sector and in
general exceeds the minimum as required by the relevant regulations. We also
have the policy against discrimination which makes reference to the Disability
Discrimination Ordinance, Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Family Status
Discrimination Ordinance and Race Discrimination Ordinance. The Group has
no known non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits
and welfare.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Owing to the nature of our businesses, work-related injuries, occupational
health issues and the incurrence of child labour are not significant risk
factors. Notwithstanding, the Group endeavours to provide a safe and
pleasant working environment for our staff. The administration department is
responsible to implement the safety and hygiene of our workplace, such as
monthly office cleaning (including cleaning of carpets, computer and telephone
equipment). We have established special work arrangements for typhoon
and rainstorm warnings to protect the safety of our staff. The management
monitors the above implementation and measures from time to time to ensure
they are adequate and up-to-date. Also, we comply with the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance to ensure occupational health and safety of our
staff. The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with any relevant laws
and regulations relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

During the past three years including the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group has no record on any work related fatalities nor lost days due to work
injury.

Besides, the Group implemented certain protocols to protect the health
and safety of our workforce, their families, local suppliers and neighbouring
communities while ensuring a safe environment for operations to continue as
usual:

° measures to maximize social distancing and staff protection within the
offices;

. meetings are held off-site or by electronic means as far as possible;

° cancellation of all non-essential travel;

e flexible and remote working plans for staff; and

. increased inventory of face masks, hand sanitiser and hygiene supplies,
and increased focus on cleaning and sanitation.

The Group does not employ permanent staffs who are below 18 years old
and prohibits the forced labour in accordance with local employment laws and
regulations. During the recruitment process, the human resources department
requires all personnel to provide valid personal identification documents
for verification purposes, while background checks will also be carried out
whenever necessary. In the unlikely event that false information or a false
identity is discovered, the Group will address the situation by closely following
the necessary procedures in accordance with laws and regulations. The Group
was not aware of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE HEREREE (E)

In 2024, there is no significant variation in employment numbers. RZE_F - EEABNTESKEE -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has a total of 28 staff (including Directors REZZBE-WF+=—A=+—H rEEHEF8ZLET(E
of the Company) (2023: 29), details are set out as follows: BEARATES)(ZTB=F :204) @ sBEWT -

Number of employees

EEAH
2024 2023
—E-QmE —E=F
By Gender EHER
Male = 21 21
Female o8 7 8
By Age Group B F A Bl
Aged below 26 2655 A T - 2
Aged 26-35 26372355 5 3
Aged 36-45 365K 2455% 1 12
Aged 46-55 463K 2555 5 4
Aged above 55 5555 A E 7 8
By Geographical Region RitE
Hong Kong BB 27 28
Taiwan 8 1 1
By Employment Type EEEER
Permanent Staff ERXET 28 28
Intern EEE _ 1

HE_Z_WE+_A=T—HIEFER  B11AZ
T=F: 6 NBRAEE  EREAHHAEHESR
4o EERKLLERFBOT ¢

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 11 persons (2023: 6 persons)
departed the Group, most of them were short-term intern. Details of the
employee turnover rate are set out as follows:

Employee Turnover Rate’

EER AL
2024 2023
—EColEF —F_=
By Gender R
Male B 22% 5%
Female o8 42% 38%
By Age Group REHHER
Aged below 26 2655 AT 100% 33%
Aged 26-35 26572355 0% 0%
Aged 36-45 365 2455% 8% 20%
Aged 46-55 ABBRE555% 17% 33%
Aged above 55 5557 A_F 13% 0%
By Geographical Region Rt E
Hong Kong Fioey 30% 18%
! Number of person(s) in the specified category left during the year divided by the 1 FRIETHENZHEBAZHRAFAR—IBTERZRA
total number of persons in the same specified category during the year. o
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Development and Training (Aspect B3)

The Group is committed to fostering a culture of continuous learning in our
organisation. Heavy emphasis is placed on staff training which is tailored to
equip our workforce with the necessary knowledge and skills relevant to their
work, covering topics such as accounting standard, anti-money laundering and
counter-terrorist financing, as well as to build our talent pool. During the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had funded its Directors and
staff to join relevant training programmes that meet the demands of the work
place and/or their personal development. The Group also regularly circulate
the compliance and regulatory updates to all staff, especially for the staff who
are licensed persons registered under the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, approximately 90% (2023: 77%)
of permanent staff (including Directors of the Company and resigned staff of
the Group) received training (collectively, “Person Trained”), total training hours
are 483 (2023: 509) and average of 18 (20283: 19) training hours per Person
Trained, details are set out as follows:

Rig - HERERRE (H)

BEK&IEYI(BHEB3)
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NEE(ZTZ=F ANE) - FEWT

Average training hours

Percentage of Person Trained (hours per Person Trained)

ZIAL TR B
BAk (BUZIATHRE)
2024 2023 2024 2023
—E-mE —E=F —EopmE —E=F
By Gender BRI
Male = 74% 91% 20 20
Female s 58% 54% 12 17
By Employee Category RIESER
Management B E 94% 95% 26 23
General —BT 48% 56% 4 10

Supply Chain Management (Aspect B5)

The Group interacts with a number of business partners such as law firms,
securities brokers, tax advisers and consulting companies. These are not
considered to pose significant environmental or social risks for our business
and engagement decisions are based on pricing, suitability as well as the
reputation of business partners. In selecting securities brokers, we also take
into considerations their contribution on the environmental protection such as
using electronic form to place investment order instead of using paper. We also
strictly monitor and prohibit any kinds of business bribery and discrimination
against any business partners. Once engaged, the performance of business
partners are then reviewed from time to time by the management on an on-
going basis, so as to guarantee the delivery of quality services that meet the
needs of the Group. The above practices are applied to and implemented on
all our business partners.

{HpEsEEE (EEBS)

AEBERMELAN - FHEL - BHBERREARF
SETEBRHELD - RPALTRABRESHRMN
EBEREARFIMGAR - MEBEREDIRE
EBBHOEE  SEUEMBEEL - EEEFFLL
B RMEZEMMHRAREOER  PINERETF
FATEREBSH I RERAERN - BHMTERE
KRB EMEAZBEBRE R TARERFZE
B —KBE BEESEBEIRRNEBEHFIRR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE HEREREE (E)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group engaged with
28 business partners (2023: 24). The number of business partners by
geographical region is set out as follow:

HE-Z-_WNF+-A=1+—ALLFER  AEEEF
To8(E( =T =4F : 24fE) EFEBLE - hdﬁg[iu a3
BRLHMBWT

2024 2023

—ECDmEF —T=F

China =2} 1 1
Hong Kong B8 24 23
Overseas B2 3 _

Service Responsibility (Aspect B6)
Service Quality

The Group’s corporate finance advisory, asset management and securities
broking businesses are regulated by the SFC and our two subsidiaries
are licensed corporations under SFO. As at 31 December 2024, all front-
line professional employees of the subsidiaries were properly licensed and
registered with the SFC. 6 employees were responsible officers (2023: 5) and
5 were licensed representatives (2023: 6). All responsible officers have over 10
years’ experience in their respective fields.

The Group’s money lending business is governed by the Money Lenders
Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and our subsidiary holds
money lenders licence. The staff in-charge-of money lending business has over
10 years’ relevant experience and keep obtaining continuous development to
maintain a professional and high quality service.

The Group gains new business through marketing initiatives, referrals from
existing clients and professional firms and the personal connections of
Directors or employees of the Group. In this regard, the Group places great
emphasis on building clients’ loyalty by providing them with prompt, competent
and unbiased professional services.

Throughout its operations, the Group conforms to the requirements of the
rules and regulations of the HKSAR, the SFC, the Stock Exchange and other
regulatory authorities, such as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, the Anti-
Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance, the Code of
Conduct for Persons Licensed by or Registered with the SFC, the Corporate
Finance Adviser Code of Conduct, the Fund Manager Code of Conduct,
the Guidelines on Competence, the Hong Kong Sponsor Due Diligence
Guidelines, and the Guideline on Compliance of Anti-Money Laundering and
Counter-Terrorist Financing Requirements for Licensed Money Lenders. When
conducting the Group’s business activities, all employees are required to be
aware of the Group’s reputation and act with the highest level of integrity and
professional ethics.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group was not aware of
any non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating to health
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to our services
provided (2023: Nil).

Owing to the nature of our businesses, the products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons as well as the quality assurance process
and recall procedures are not significant risk factors. Notwithstanding, the
Group endeavours to maintain good service quality for our clients.

Privacy of Client Information and Data Protection

The Group respects and values the privacy of all client information. In
compliance with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, the Group collects
and uses client information in a responsible and non-discriminatory manner,
restricting the use of the client information as required by the confidentiality
clause included in the mandate. All employees are required to maintain strict
confidentiality about the affairs of the Group. Employees are not allowed
to disclose to other individuals or third parties, directly or indirectly, exploit
or use confidential information concerning the Group and its clients. These
requirements on handling the confidential information have been incorporated
in our Employee Handbook. The management monitors the above
implementation from time to time to ensure it is up-to-date.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there have been no cases or
complaints in relation to violation of relevant confidentiality laws (2023: Nil).

Client Feedback Handling

Feedback and suggestions from clients provide an opportunity for the Group
to enhance the quality of its services in a sustainable manner. The Group is
committed to responding and resolving all clients’ enquiries and comments
promptly and with care in order to maintain and improve our reputation in
the corporate finance advisory industry. In compliance with the Group’s
internal guidelines on complaint handling procedures, the Group is required to
investigate each case, work out a solution and provide a written response to
the complainant promptly upon receipt of a complaint.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not receive any
material complaints regarding the services it provided (2023: Nil).
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE HEREREE (E)

Intellectual Property

We respect intellectual property rights, including but not limited to trademarks,
patents and copyrights. Employees shall not privately use or allow outside
parties to possess and exploit intellectual property, unless permission
has been obtained by copyright owners. Employees are required to notify
the department head before the use of any name, slogan or mark for any
product, program or service. To safeguard our own intellectual property, the
management information system department carries out periodic inspection of
employees’ computers, thus ensuring that genuine software is installed.

Anti-Corruption (Aspect B7)

As a financial service provider, one of the Group’s social responsibilities is to
prevent and detect money-laundering. Apart from conforming to the rules and
regulations mentioned in the “Service Responsibility (Aspect B6) — Service
Quiality” section above, the Group has established the “Anti- Money Laundering
Policy” that sets out the general framework for the Group to combat money
laundering and financing of terrorism. The Group has a zero-tolerance attitude
towards bribery, corruption and dishonest business practices. The Code of
Conduct in our Employee Handbook also sets out the standards of behavior of
Directors and staff expected by the Group and the guidelines on how to handle
different situations in business dealings.

A Whistle Blower Policy has been established to facilitate the direct reporting of
any unlawful conduct, any incident of corruption, avoidance of internal control,
incorrect or improper financial or other reporting to senior management by
our employee and those who deal with the Group. This policy is reviewed
by the audit committee of the Company annually and either circulated to our
employees periodically or placed on the corporate electronic platform of the
Group to facilitate their easy access and reporting. During the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group has no record on any concluded legal cases
regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or our employees
(2023: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, we invited the partner of a Hong
Kong law firm to deliver anti-money laundering, counter-financing of terrorism
and anti-corruption training to the Directors and staff to refresh their knowledge
on the subject matters. We also took initiatives to enhance the Directors and
staff the awareness of and sensitivity to crimes such as corruption and money
laundering by circulating the relevant reading materials for self-studly.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering (2023: Nil).
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Community Investment (Aspect B8)

We strive to excel and undertake the responsibility of a good corporate citizen
contributing to the community by encouraging our staff to enroll in charity
and social services. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
mainly sponsored in cash the activities organised by PathFinders Limited, with
an aggregate amount of HK$5,000 (2023: HK$67,000), because we share
the similar missions with this organisation. Everyone deserves to be treated
equally no matter their age, gender or background. PathFinders Limited aims
at ensuring the most vulnerable and unsupported children in Hong Kong are
protected and respected, and their migrant mothers are empowered to find a
brighter future.

Beyond our charitable activities, the Group is honoured to involved, supported
and contributed in a variety of professional associations, Chambers and non-
profit organisations, including Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies which
also concerns the ESG matters and commit to promote ESG culture in Hong
Kong.

Rig - HERERRE (H)

HERE(EHEBS)

BRI RAE  WERSEE T2NEE RS R
% REEARICEAREMENET - BEZT
ZHEFTZA=T—HIEFER  AEEFENRE
BBt BRARRMZEE - #5008 T(ZF
Z=4 :67,00087T)  FERMESKIEEEBELZE
e MmH TR - MRIRERNM - BEAABEST
ZSHF - ROHBERAREERRESEMBRRE E
PR ERIRERES - WHMOMOIMESHRILE
EHRAARK o

BREZEBI  REBEREFS2E  RHEIENHE
EREXNHE  HEERNAER  HTFEEEELT
RAAE  WABIRLESERRNONEEHERERRT
gL -

ABERMERBERDR 20245

77



78

Independent Auditor’s Report
18 3L #% BB R

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

EEE © +852 2218 8288
@E +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

To the Shareholders of Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Da Yu Financial Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages
83 to 175, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31December 2024, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA'’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment on goodwill and intangible assets

The Group had goodwill with carrying amount of approximately HK$108,788,000
and intangible assets with carrying amount of approximately HK$59,085,000 as
at 31 December 2024. Management has engaged an independent professional
valuer to assist them to perform an impairment review in accordance with the
requirements of Hong Kong Accounting Standards 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
Recoverable amounts of cash-generating units to which the goodwill and intangible
assets belong were determined based on value in use calculations, which include
significant assumptions and judgements made by management concerning
estimated future cash flows. Based on the assessment result, no impairment losses
was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2024. We identified the impairment
assessment of goodwill and intangible assets as a key audit matter because of
its significance to the consolidated financial statements and because this area
involves a significant degree of judgement and estimation made by management, in
particular the estimation of future cash flows and discount rate.

Refer to Note 4 “Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation
uncertainty”, Note 16 “Goodwill” and Note 17 “Intangible assets” to the consolidated
financial statements.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter:

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment of goodwiill
and intangible assets included:

- evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the independent
professional valuer and auditor’s expert;

- assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology in respect of the
assessment of the recoverable amounts;

- assessing the reasonableness of the underlying key assumptions and key
input data used in the assessment of the recoverable amounts;

- involving an auditor’s expert to assist us in evaluating the appropriateness
of the valuation methodology and reasonableness of key assumptions in the
value in use calculations and fair value less cost of disposal calculations; and

- performing sensitivity analysis including assessing the effect of a reasonably
possible change in discount rate and cash flows.

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BB (E)

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibility
in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report
is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

. evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

. conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concemn

basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

. plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business units
within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
review of the work performed for the purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BB (E)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ngai Hang

Practising Certificate no. P04743
Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEREZlEMEENRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-mE —T-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ek FHT FHIT
Services revenue BRTS Wz 5(a) 53,642 38,372
Interest revenue A8 W ek 5(a) 1,814 4,988
Total revenue Wt 5e 55,456 43,360
Other net income E AU A TR 3 4
Other net financial gain E At B 5 W e F R 7 14,622 7,382
Employee benefit expense EERAFHX 8 (28,091) (20,795)
Impairment losses on financial assets, net MBS EE 2 BERBEFHE 617) (100)
Impairment losses on goodwill e REER 16 - (172,453)
Administrative and other expenses TR R E MR (16,549) (17,144)
Finance costs LRSI N 10 (98) (207)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETSBALER(58) 11 24,726 (1569,953)
Income tax expense FrSfi X 12 (2,221) (1,838)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to EABEEABEREE
the owners of the Company wAL(E58) 22,505 (161,791)
Other comprehensive expenses: Hib2HEM :
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently to HigneeERoEsEnike
profit or loss: HA -
Exchange differences on translation of BN A R E /Y
foreign subsidiaries ) (1,173) -
Other comprehensive expenses for the year FRE 2 EEH (1,173) -
Total comprehensive income/(expenses) AATEEAELETEE
for the year attributable to the owners 2HEKE(BR)BHE
of the Company (Note) (P &) 21,332 (161,791)
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to DGR AELEER 13
the owners of the Company (HK cents) BR(F8) Gl)
- Basic — =R 1.03 (14.20)
— Diluted —EE 1.03 (14.20)
Note: FE -
This note does not form part of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other PEHEE I AR RAR S s R E 2 E R R A —B1D o
comprehensive income.
2024 2023
—EE —ZT_=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
For illustration purpose only EHEHEA
(Non-Hong Kong Financial Reporting (EEBIKREER
Standard (“HKFRS”) Measures): (TEBHBHREERA FHE) :
Total comprehensive income/(expenses) for the year  ZREE2HEUzE /(B 4@ 21,332 (161,791)
Add: Impairment losses on goodwill e EmEZRERRE - 172,453
Adjusted total comprehensive income REERFRESUREZ
before non-cash impairment losses REREATAS TR
on goodwill for the year® EHE BT 21,332 10,662
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)

nVTIZI*

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE

“ToMFE+-A=t—HILFE

Note: (Continued)

)

The Company believes that the adjusted financial measures provide useful
information to investors in understanding and evaluating the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) in the same manner as
they helped the Company’s management, and that the Company’s management
and investors may benefit from referring to these adjusted financial measures in
assessing the Group’s financial and operating performance from year to year by
eliminating impacts of items that the Group does not consider indicative of the
Group’s operating performance. However, the presentation of these non-HKFRS
financial measures is not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute
for the financial information prepared and presented in accordance with HKFRS.
You should not view the adjusted results on a standalone basis or as a substitute
for results under HKFRS.

There was no tax effect in respect of the impairment losses of goodwill.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBI R

As at 31 December 2024

RZZEZWF+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ek FHER FHT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets kREBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB KRR 15 156 220
Goodwill S 16 108,788 108,788
Intangible assets EWEE 17 59,085 57,537
Right-of-use assets FREEE 18 352 3,454
Mortgage loans RIBER 19 6,691 12,251
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAB=m([EAF
profit or loss (“FVPL”) Bt ABam ) WBEE 25 85,087 49,579
Other assets Hih&E 20 200 200
260,359 232,029
Current assets REBEE
Mortgage loans BIBER 19 1,564 2,968
Term loans BHIEXK 21 8,657 4,964
Contract assets BREE 22 53 53
Trade and other receivables, deposits paid B o REMERKTIE - BfTIRE
and prepayments RIBRFIA 23 3,452 3,996
Amount due from a related company JrE Uy — R BB A R SRIE 24 5,612 4,225
Financial assets at FVPL BATEGFABENPBEE 25 148,165 10,739
Client trust bank balances BEEFRTE 26 230,741 163,152
Cash and cash equivalents HERIEESEED 27 98,550 70,406
496,794 260,503
Current liabilities nREEE
Contract liabilities aHaRk 22 3,243 36
Trade and other payables and accrued expenses B 5 & B fth fE < 3018 R FE s B 2. 28 242,248 168,437
Bank overdraft RITIEX 27 76 -
Lease liabilities HEaE 18 367 3,156
Taxation payable FESREIR 537 1,104
246,471 172,733
Net current assets REBEEEE 250,323 87,770
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERARBAE 510,682 319,799
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities RS A 30 8,924 9,494
Employee benefit obligations BB BFER 29 402 =
Lease liabilities HEaE 18 - 367
9,326 9,861
Net assets BEE 501,356 309,938
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
GEVMBRR T (E)

As at 31 December 2024
RZZZWF+_HA=+—H

2024 2023
—EoNEF —BC=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Ff7E FET FHET
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to the owners of AN TEE AEL
the Company =

Share capital R 31 227,866 113,933
Reserves ] 32(a) 273,490 196,005
Total equity AR 501,356 309,938

The consolidated financial statements on pages 83 to 175 were approved and FOIEEFITSENGEMBREN S AF=A=-1++AH
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) on 27 BANRESE((ESE)IEREETE WANATEER

March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: REE
Lee Wa Lun, Warren Kuo Jen-Hao
Ty FAR
Director Director
EF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GREZEBR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

Share capital Translation Share Retained
(Note 31) reserve premium earnings  Total equity
(&S
(BEEst) BEREE R E REEF ERAE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TERT FERT TERT FET
At 1 January 2023 R-E-_=F—A—H 113,933 = = 357,796 471,729
Loss and total comprehensive expenses A& EE N2 H
for the year EREE = = = (161,791) (161,791)
At 31 December 2023 and RZE-=F+-A=+—-8kK
1 January 2024 —E-mME—F—H 113,933 - - 196,005* 309,938
Profit for the year NEEHA - - - 22,505 22,505
Other comprehensive expenses Hiv2mER - (1,173) - - (1,173)
Total comprehensive income for the year — ANE[E 2 E 54258 - (1,173) - 22,505 21,332
Issue of new shares upon rights issue HERREF T TEIR
(Note 31) (P5E31) 113,933 - 56,153 - 170,086
At 31 December 2024 R-B-NE+=A=+—H 227,866 (1,173)* 56,153* 218,510* 501,356

#

The balances represent the reserves in the consolidated statement of

financial position as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

ZEEBAN_TE_NER T -_=F+_A=+—80%
BB R AR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GEHEZRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E-NE —To=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
iE=3 FHT FHT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHFIBESRE
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRFTSEATEF] (E518) 24,726 (159,953)
Adjustments for: FHEE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BELREITE 18 86 90
Amortisation on intangible assets A 17 3,452 3,452
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEETE 18 3,102 3,439
Fair value gain including interest RATHEFANERNVBEEZ
income on financial assets at FVPL A ERE(B2EFISWMA) 7 (7,548) (5,526)
Distribution from financial assets at FVPL BAFEFABRENTBEED K 7 (129) =
Finance costs BhE A AR 10 98 207
Dividend income AR EMA 7 (336) (1)
Interest income FEWA 7 (6,609) (1,855)
Impairment losses on goodwill B 2R EEE 16 - 172,453
Impairment losses on financial assets, net MG EE 2 RERBIEFEE 11 617 100
Exchange loss, net [& 5 51855 - 19
Operating cash flows before working EEESEHAHLEED
capital changes Bene 17,459 12,425
Decrease in contract assets BHRIEERD - 1,000
Decrease in trade and other receivables, deposits & 5 & HAb fEUFIE - 2 1RE &
paid and prepayments T RIER A 217 460
Increase in amount due from a related company U —REREEE A FI3RIE L N (1,387) (192)
Increase in client trust bank balances B EFERITAA RGN (67,589) (2,415)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities AMBaEEN Chd) 3,207 (1,214)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables & 5 K H b &~ 3008 &
and accrued expenses FEETRIZ 3, O d) 73,810 (897)
Change in mortgage loans RIBE R 6,964 22,093
Change in term loans BHERE (3,983) (3,582)
Change in financial assets at FVPL BAFEFABENVISEES (137,354) -
Increase in employee benefit obligations BB &N =% 402 -
Cash (used in)/generated from operations wme () mieRe (108,254) 28,178
Taxation paid [EENE 2 (3,358) (4,066)
Interest received B U F & 6,609 1,855
Dividend received B AR S 336 1
Net cash (used in)/generated from rEE (TR, Fis
operating activities R&FE (104,667) 25,968
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

= Ry~ — =]
GEBReRER(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE_Z-WF+-—A=+—HILEFE

2024 2023
—E-mE —ET-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ek FHER FHETT
Cash flows from investing activities REZHFEEESRE
Purchase of non-current financial assets BB IFREIR A TE AERS
at FVPL BTG AR (36,669) (45,471)
Interest received from financial assets at BUCR B R AT ER ABRD
FVPL B EEN SRR 8,637 2,265
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE  BWELEE 15 (22) (100)
Purchase of intangible assets BEELEE 17 (5,000) -
Distribution from BRAFEFABmOYBEE
financial assets at FVPL 7K 129 -
Net cash used in investing activities WEEEFARSFH (32,925) (43,306)
Cash flows from financing activities METBHERERE
Proceeds from issue of new shares upon (RS 221 T AR
rights issue Fr{S5k38 170,899 -
Transaction costs attributable to issuance of BT E(E )
new shares RSBEELA (813) -
Repayment of principal portion of the lease EEHEAE
liabilities KEED 35(b) (3,156) (3,377)
Interest paid BAFE 35(b) (97) (207)
Net cash generated from/(used in) mMEEBE(ER)
financing activities ReFHE 166,833 (3,584)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RERRELEEY
cash equivalents #in G )FEE 29,241 (20,922
Cash and cash equivalents at REEENZREER
beginning of year ReZEY 70,406 91,328
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEERBE 2 E (1,173) -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year REEERZEHERRESEEY 27 98,474 70,406
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION 1.

Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability on 9 September 1999. The address of
the Company’s registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of
business is Room 1801, 18th Floor, Allied Kajima Building, 138 Gloucester
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company and the Group is principally
engaged in activities including dealing in securities, advising on securities,
advising on corporate finance, asset management, investment, money
lending and securities and related services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of the Company and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$’000) except when otherwise
indicated.

2. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

2.1 Adoption of amendments to HKFRSs - effective
on 1 January 2024

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), which are effective for
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the annual period
beginning on 1 January 2024.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current
Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and HKFRS 7

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements
(Revised) — Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause

The adoption of these amendments to HKFRSs has no material
impact on the Group’s accounting policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

2.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective

The following new and amendments to HKFRSs, potentially relevant to

the Group’s consolidated financial statements, have been issued, but

are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group.

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 21
and HKFRS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures?®

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Lack of Exchangeability’

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards — Volume 112

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

. No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the potential

impact of these new and amendments to HKFRSs. Except for the

possible impact that the adoption of the below new and amendments

to HKFRSs will have in the period of initial application, the Board so far

concluded that these new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no

material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

GEMBREMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBRRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

2. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs that have

been issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
- Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 will be first applied for the
annual reporting periods beginning on 1 January 2026 and to be
applied retrospectively. The amendments clarify guidance on timing
of derecognition of financial liabilities, on the assessment of cash
flow characteristics and resulting classification and disclosure of
financial assets with terms referencing contingent events including
environmental, social and corporate governance events, and of the
treatment of non-recourse assets and contractually linked instruments.
The Group is still in process of assessing the impact of these
amendments on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”
and will be first applied for the annual reporting periods beginning
on 1 January 2027. The new standard introduced the following new
requirements.

o Entities are required to classify all income and expenses
into five categories in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, namely the operating, investing, financing, discontinued
operations and income tax categories. Entities are also
required to present a newly-defined operating profit subtotal.
Entities’ net profit will not change.

. Entities are required to disclose within a note to consolidated
financial statements of management-defined performance
measures (“MPMs”) with a reconciliation between MPMs and
HKFRS performance measures.

o Enhanced guidance is provided on how to group the
information in the financial statements or in the notes.

In addition, all entities are required to use the operating profit subtotal
as the starting point for the consolidated statement of cash flows
when presenting operating cash flows under the indirect method.

The Group is still in process of assessing the impact of the new
standard, particularly with respect to the structure of the Group’s
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of cash flows and the additional disclosures required for MPMs. The
Group is also assessing the impact on how information is grouped
in the consolidated financial statements, including for items currently
labelled as “others”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1

Statement of compliance and basis of
preparation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Group made up to 31st December, each year.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs, which collective term includes all
applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”).

The material accounting policy information applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for financial instruments classified
as financial assets at FVPL which are stated at fair values. The
measurement bases are fully described in the accounting policies
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are
used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Although
these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and
judgement of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately
differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are described
in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

GEMBREMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-NE+-A=+—HUIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

3.3

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.

All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses
on transactions between group companies are eliminated in preparing
the consolidated financial statements.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are investees over which the Group is able to exercise
control. The Group controls investees if all three of the following
elements are present: power over the investees, exposure, or rights,
to variable returns from the investees, and the ability to use its power
to affect those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts
and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of these
elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investment in a
subsidiary is carried at cost less any impairment loss (Note 3.13).
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable at the reporting date.
All dividends whether received out of the investee’s pre or post-
acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
nV'.R 1%%*&%“11 (lllﬁ)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-NFE+-_A=1+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EAEHHBELER(E)
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.4 Goodwill 3.4 BHE

Goodwill is measured at the excess of the aggregate of the fair value
of consideration paid, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree, over the fair value of identifiable
assets and liabilities on the acquisition date.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated
to each of the relevant cash-generating units (“CGUs”) that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A CGU is
the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows
that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets. A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually, by comparing its carrying amount with
its recoverable amount, and whenever there is an indication that the
unit may be impaired.

When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then
to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying
amount to each asset in the unit. However, the loss allocated to each
asset will not reduce the individual asset’s carrying amount to below
its fair value less cost of disposal (“FVLCOD”) (if measurable) or its
value in use (“VIU”) (if determinable), whichever is the higher. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not
reversed in subsequent periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(mﬁ)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.5

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost.
The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is fair
value at the date of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over their useful lives
as follows. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. The amortisation
expense is recognised in profit or loss and included in administrative
and other expenses.

Investment management agreement 29 months

Backlog 3 years

Trade name 20 years

Securities and Futures Commission Indefinite
(the “SFC”) licences

Club membership Indefinite

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for impairment when there
is an indication that an asset may be impaired. Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for
use are tested for impairment annually, irrespective of whether there
is any indication that they may be impaired. Intangible assets are
tested for impairment by comparing their carrying amounts with their
recoverable amounts (Note 3.13).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-NFE+-_A=1+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EAEHHBELER(E)
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.6 Property, plant and equipment 3.6 M¥ - BERRE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of
property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and the
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to write off their
cost over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis at the
following rates per annum.

Office equipment 20% — 33.3%
Leasehold improvements Shorter of assets expected useful lives
and lease term

The useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sale proceeds and its
carrying amount, and is recognised in profit or loss on disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.7 Leases

The Group as lessee

All leases are capitalised in the consolidated statement of financial
position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is recognised at cost and would comprise: (i)
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability (see below
for the accounting policy to account for lease liability); (i) any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received; (jii) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee;
and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling
and removing the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the Group measures the right-of-use assets applying a cost model.
Under the cost model, the Group measures the right-of-use at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at the date of commencement of the lease.
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on
the lease liability; (i) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made; and (i) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect
any reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a change in future
lease payments arising from change in an index or rate, a change in
the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or
a change in assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms of a lease with the
lessor, where the renegotiated increases the scope of the lease that
should not be accounted for as a separate lease (whether that is an
extension to the lease term), the lease liability is remeasured using the
discount rate applicable on the modification date, with the right-of-use
asset being adjusted by the same amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-NFE+-_A=1+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EAEHHBELER(E)
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.8 MKEE

3.8 Financial assets

All regular way purchases of financial assets are recognised on the
trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase the
asset. All other financial assets are initially recognised when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant
financing component) is initially measured at fair value plus, for an
item not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing
component is initially measured at the transaction price.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. Financial assets with embedded
derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest. There are
two measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss
on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

FVPL: Financial assets at FVPL include financial assets held for
trading, financial assets designated upon initial recognition at FVPL,
or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and
interest are classified and measured at FVPL, irrespective of the
business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to
be classified at amortised cost, as described above, debt instruments
may be designated at FVPL on initial recognition if doing so eliminates,
or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments held for trading are classified as FVPL, whereby

changes in fair value, dividends and interest income are recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBRFME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.8 Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit loss (‘ECL”)
on trade receivables, mortgage loans, term loans, contract assets and
financial assets measured at amortised cost. The ECLs are measured
on either of the following bases: (1) 12-month ECL: these are the ECLs
that result from possible default events within the 12 months after
the reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECL: these are ECLs that result
from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit
losses are measured as the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall is
then discounted at an approximation to the assets’ original effective
interest rate.

The Group measured loss allowances for trade receivables, contract
assets and amount due from a related company that are trade in
nature using HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” simplified approach
and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECL. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment.

For mortgage loans, term loans and other debt financial assets,
the ECLs are based on the 12-month ECL. However, when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.8 Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and
when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in (1) the
regulatory, economic or technological environments;
(2) business or financial conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

o financial re-organisation/restructuring entered by the
debtors.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying a significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBRRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.8 Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collateral held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonably supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate. In particular, the following qualitative indicators
are taken into account in determining the risk of a default
oceurring:

. probable bankruptcy entered by the borrowers; and
] death of the debtor.
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

() the lenders of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower concessions that the
lenders would not otherwise consider;

(d) probable bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation
entered by the borrower; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.8 Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

(v)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made
are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition for financial assets.

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

GEMBRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

3. EXSHBEREFR(H)

3.8

MBEE(R)

MBEEZRERFR (&)

(iv)

v)

ERANBRERATEREMBRER
RAEBRENREATRE (FINEFHEA
WERF)  AKRBREHBEE - RIE
EEEZE(ER) - N EER
BB REARENE R P ETTAET
& o EMREHFIRDER R HER

RIS EERI B RER

—RifE - BEREEERRREAOEN
REBNPIE GRS R ERAEETRY
BT A EAS RO IR £ R E IR T HER
R E R BIRA AR ERE -

HHEEEENEREZOME - 1A
RE(BVEQFHBKIZE) RENRRD
BB o SBAVBER SR AR R R MR R AR
RESL B MATE BN TMIEL - TREE
EERMGERRIAR BB AR O ER
TEINRERY X IE R R IR 28 -

ABERERERDA 20245 H

103



104

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBRFME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.8 Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)
(vi) Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual
rights to the future cash flows in relation to the financial asset
expire or when the financial asset has been transferred and
the transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in accordance
with HKFRS 9. All regular way sales of financial assets are
derecognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group

commits to sell the asset.

3.9 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group classified its financial liabilities at amortised cost. Financial
liabilities at amortised cost, are initially measured at fair value, net
of directly attributable costs incurred and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The related
interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.10 Revenue recognition

(i)

Advisory fee income and related services

Advisory fee income from providing specified financial advisory
services and acting as independent financial adviser are
recognised over time as services are performed if the Group
has a legally enforceable right to payment for all services
provided through the end of the contract or termination date.
For other advisory contracts in which the Group does not has
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date at all times throughout the duration of the contract,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the services
for the transactions are completed under the terms of each
engagement and the revenue can be measured reliably, as only
at that time the Group has a present right to payment from the
customers for the service performed.

Advisory fee income from provision of services under retainers
is recognised over time based on contractual terms specified
in the underlying agreements, as the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s
performance as the entity performs and the revenue can be
measured reliably.

Commission based and other services are recognised at
a point in time when the services for the transactions are
completed under the terms of each engagement and the
revenue can be measured reliably, as only at that time the
Group has a present right to payment from the customers for
the service performed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-NE+-A=+—HUIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.
INFORMATION (Continued)

EXETBERER (&)

3.10 Revenue recognition (Continued) 3.10 Wz ER2 (4E)

(i) Management fee income (i) EEEUA
Management fee income from provision of investment REREBERBHNERERARERERE
management services is recognised over time based on R E BIR R A A IR E) — R
contractual terms specified in the underlying investment AHER - DRERFPREREB BN RR
management agreement, as the customer simultaneously BEFHBERBAMREHENF B K
receives and consumes the benefits providing by the entity’s BESP] SEETE o
performance as the Group performs and the revenue can be
measured reliably.

(iii) Performance fee income (iii) FKHEEURA
Performance fee income based on the performance of the KARBRATERIRERR(BIEF)H
investment company (i.e. the customer) is a form of variable KR BRGNP EPREIEEEE RS
consideration in its contract with the customer to provide EBRERN - RBBRARER,H
investment management services. Performance fee income is AR TR 158 & 18 1 3 Pl S IR (ki 3%
earned based on the performance of the investment company A RRMKRERI  EFEEBKFEAE
during the year/period, subject to the achievement of high A TEE - REBRASTE®HA/K
water mark, in accordance with the respective terms set out &= BEREQERRFTUESEIAT 8
in the investment management agreement. Performance fee AiEHEEE - k(o)A SR EE AN THE
income will not be recognised as revenue until (a) it is highly TFREHBEMAR -
probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur, or (b) the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

(iv) Commission income (iv) HLPKA

Commission income for brokerage business are recognised on
execution of purchase, sales or other transactions or services
by the Group on behalf of its clients.

Placing and sub-placing commissions are recognised at
a point in time when the relevant services completed in
accordance with the terms of underlying agreement or deal
mandate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.10 Revenue recognition (Continued)
(v) Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis using the effective interest method, by reference to
the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s gross carrying amount when the
asset is not credit-impaired. Interest income on credit-impaired
financial assets is calculated based on amortised cost (i.e.
the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
assets.

(vi) Referral fee income

Referral fee income is recognised when or as it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring promised services to
the customers in an amount to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those services.

(vii) Sundry income

Sundry income from provision of day-to-day management
(including office administration and operation) is recognised
over time as the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s performance as
the Group performs and the revenue can be measured reliably.

3.11 Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for services that the Group has transferred to a customer
that is not yet unconditional. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is due. The
Group recognised impairment loss on contract assets on the same
basis as trade receivables.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

GEMBRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBRFME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)
3.12 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through a defined

contribution plan.

The Group participates in a defined contribution retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
(“MPF”) Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(“MPF Schemes Ordinance”), for all of its employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a

percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as
employees render services during the year. The Group’s obligation
under the MPF Scheme is limited to the fixed percentage contributions

payable.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there were no forfeited
contributions available to offset future employers’ contributions to the
MPF Scheme. During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
no forfeited contribution was utilised to reduce the existing level of

contributions.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the

reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave and

maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.12 Employee benefits (Continued)

Employee benefit obligations — Long service
payments (“LSP”)

LSP under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Employment Ordinance”) is categorised as
a defined benefit plan. Employees qualified under the Employment
Ordinance are entitled to LSP in certain circumstances specified in the
Employment Ordinance. There are no legal funding requirements on
employers and the Group does not have any arrangement in place to
settle its payment obligation in the future.

The Group’s obligation to LSP is measured at:

- Gross LSP obligation which is estimated using the projected
unit credit method discounted to its present value using
yields of government bond denominated in HK$ that have
maturity dates approximating to the terms of the liabilities and
are denominated in HK$ which is the currency of the LSP
obligations; less

- Negative service costs. Under the Employment Ordinance, the
Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 426 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) and the MPF Schemes Ordinance, the
Group can offset the accrued benefits derived from the MPF
Scheme contributions against the Group’s LSP obligations.
The Group regards the MPF Scheme contributions are deemed
contributions by employees towards the LSP benefits. The
nature is negative service costs. These deemed contributions
are estimated by applying an expected investment return
rate on the MPF Scheme contributions and then attributed to
periods of service using the same attribution method for gross
LSP obligation.

Service costs are recognised in profit or loss, and include current and
past service costs (including result from a plan amendment).

Interest expense is recognised in profit or loss, and is calculated by
applying the discount rate used to measure the LSP obligation at the
beginning of the annual period to the balance of the LSP obligation,
considering the effects of benefit payments during the period.

Remeasurements of the LSP obligation, including actuarial gains and
losses, are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBRFME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.13 Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets
and investment in subsidiaries are subject to impairment testing. They
are tested for impairment whenever there are indications that the
asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of FVLCOD, and VIU. In
assessing VIU, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessment of time value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent from those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generate cash inflows independently (i.e. a CGU). As a
result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some
are tested at CGU level.

Impairment losses recognised for CGUs are charged pro rata to the
assets in the CGU, except that the carrying value of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual FVLCOD, or VIU, if determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount
and only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined if no
impairment loss had been recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
n‘mn,ji'%iﬁ%nﬁ (lllﬁ)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EAEHHBELER(E)
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.14 FiIBR 2 &5t A%

3.14 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax liabilities comprise those obligations to fiscal
authorities relating to the current or prior reporting period, that are
unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated according to the
tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they
relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to current
tax liabilities are recognised as a component of income tax expense in
profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

3.15 Foreign currency translation

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in foreign currencies are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(mﬁ)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE—

3.

ToEFE+-—A=+—RLFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.15 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a currency
different from the Group’s presentation currency, have been
converted into HK$. Assets and liabilities have been translated into
HKS$ at the closing rates at the reporting date. Income and expenses
have been converted into HK$ at the exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates, or at the average rates over the reporting period
provided that the exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly. Any
differences arising from this procedure have been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in the translation
reserve in equity.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the year/period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that year/period or
in the year/period of the revision and future years if the revision affects both
current and future years.

(@) Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

Deferred taxes

Significant judgement is required in determining the amount of
deferred taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the deferred taxes in the period in which such
determination is made. As at 31 December 2024, the Group has
unused tax losses of approximately HK$45,020,000 available to offset
against future taxable profits of the companies which incurred these
losses. Deferred tax assets are not recognised in respect of these tax
losses as per management’s judgement, it is not probable that there
will be taxable profit against which the tax losses can be utilised.
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4.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in these financial
statements, other key sources of estimation uncertainty that have
a significant risk of resulting a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within next financial year are as
follows:

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note
3.4. The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been determined
based on VIU calculations. These calculations require the use of
estimates about future cash flows and discount rates. Determining
the appropriate discount rate involves estimating the appropriate
adjustment for market risk and for asset specific risk factors. In the
process of estimating expected future cash flows, judgement is
required to determine key assumptions adopted in the cash flow
projections and changes to key assumptions can significantly affect
these cash flow projections and therefore the result of the impairment
reviews. Details of the estimates of the recoverable amounts of CGUs
containing goodwill are disclosed in Note 16.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at each reporting date. Indefinite life
intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and at other times
when such indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested
for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. When VIU calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or CGU and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows.

Impairment allowances of financial assets

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9 across all
categories of financial assets requires judgement, in particular, the
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral
values when determining impairment losses and the assessment of
a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a
number of factors, changes in which can result in different levels of
allowances.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4.
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (b)
(Continued)

Impairment allowances of financial assets
(Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk for exposures since initial recognition
by comparing the risk of default occurring over the expected life
between the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. The
Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is
relevant and available without undue cost or effort for this purpose.
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This includes quantitative and qualitative information and also,

forward-looking analysis.

5. REVENUE 5. Wi
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (@) ZiFdzE
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Revenue from contracts with customers EBEBIKREER F15558E R
within the scope of HKFRS 15: REEFEHZWE :
Services Revenue AR W 2=
Type of services RREsEER
— Advisory and related services — B M ABRARRTS 28,773 20,483
— Asset management services —BEEER® 18,266 14,747
— Securities and related services — B KABRE AR TS 1,936 1,776
— Referral fees —HENE 3,746 375
— Sundry income —FETEIT A 921 991
53,642 38,372
Revenue from contracts with customers T EBEB I KR E LR E155K8EE R
not within the scope of HKFRS 15: HRBEFEEHz2 W -
Interest Revenue FIE Wz
Loan interest income =& SN ON 1,814 4,988
55,456 43,360
Timing of services revenue recognition BEBNEREENE1SREE RN
within the scope of HKFRS 15: RIS W RSB B
At a point in time I B 2 18,462 15,871
Transferred over time R—BEEARER 35,180 22,501
53,642 38,372
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

5. REVENUE (Continued)

(b)

Transaction price allocated to remaining
performance obligations

As of 31 December 2024 and 2023, the aggregate amount of the
transaction price allocated to the performance obligations that are
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) is approximately HK$14,102,000
and approximately HK$10,090,000 respectively. The transaction price
does not include any estimated amounts of variable consideration,
unless at the reporting date it is highly probable that the Group will
satisfy the conditions of variable consideration. The Group expects to
recognise the amount as revenue when the performance obligations
are satisfied in coming 12 months, depending on the contract terms.
The following table shows the time band for remaining performance
obligations to be satisfied.

(b)
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5. W= (&)

THREHKTENEENRZE

R-B_NMER-_T-_=F+—_A=+—H ' 5H
BEZEBRANBEENRSBREWRET(HIH K
B17) » D BI#)14,102,0007% 7T & #710,090,000
BT - RSB TEEEM I ERENETEE -
MRIER IS AH - AEERE Al 48w 2 rl #K(E
B R - AEEFEHRARKI2E A EXKBANR
ER G B IEER AR + BURNE KGR -
TRINTHEXNR T BTN RHEEE o

2024 2023
—E-mE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FHTT
Remaining performance obligations FEER AT EARASZ AR Y
expected to be satisfied during: BRTENEE:
the year ended HE—_Z-_MWMF+-_A=+—H
31 December 2024 IEFE - 10,090
the year ending BE-T-_AF+=-A=1+—H
31 December 2025 IFFE 14,102 -
(Note) (Bi3E) 14,102 10,090

The information about the Group’s performance obligations is
disclosed in Note 3.10. Payment is due based on contractual terms
specified in the underlying agreements.

Note:

According to HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers, the
amount of remaining performance obligations above did not include a
significant advisory transaction subject to conditions, because according to
its mandate, as at 31 December 2024:

(i) there are uncertainties surrounding the actual amount to be
received;

(ii) the range for the final amounts to be received is wide, the worst of
it being nil;

(i) the uncertainty about the amount of advisory entitiement fee is not
expected to be resolved within a short period of time; and

(iv) there is no substantial commercial reality to ascertain the amount of
the advisory entitlement fee.

BERAANEERBOEENEREN T3 10 HEE -
NRRAR R AR 7 A A RS -

FE -

BEEBUBREERE165 [RATF A KNIK
#] PRHBTEARESETRE AR EIHOR
MEREARS  BRREHZRE  N=F=@m
FHZA=+—H:

() ERWE SR ETHEENL

(i) EREFHNeESERE  SENBRE

=
X i
&= .
=

(ii) AIZAABRCHEENN T HEEEFTEE
ERERgR &

v) RERENREERGRUARETZAAE
RIS BT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
nVT A /E\j-%%iﬁ%lzﬁ. ("‘ﬁ)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. oEWMEFR
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal KEDHNRE AR BETBELERBA([TEEER
reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision-maker (the “CODM”). RADNERBEHOABRETR B - TBEERRES
The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing ENMERETMERENIHRIR - TEHERESE
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Directors EVEH KRG MRS o

that makes strategic decisions.

Information reported to the CODM for the purpose of resource allocation and REBRDE MEHE D RIZE Eﬁfﬁﬁi%%&%%i}&ﬁ/\%

assessment of segment performance focuses on type of services provided. WA B E RN E RIS AR o T ELLRE AFT

No operating segments identified by the CODM have been aggregated in S Bl Y 4R ) SR AT 4 A ¥ﬁ$%@m7¥&%9ﬁﬁﬂqlﬁ

arriving at the reportable segments of the Group. o

The Group’s reportable and operating segments are as follows: REFK A RS RAKEDEIATE -

() Corporate finance services, investment and others — provision of (a) PEBERS - HEREM —IBHAERERERS
corporate finance advisory services including financial advisory RS - B SER RS - B SERN AR
services, services incidental to financial advisory, compliance advisory % SMERRGE  RERER SR -
services, placing agency and/or underwriting services, investment REEBREAM -

business and others.

(o) Asset management services — provision of asset management (b) BECERG —REEETIERE(SIEREE
services including investment advisory services and sundry income AR ) R A Rt AR A% R JE1S 2 FETEUR A ©
derived from provision of the services.

(©)  Securities and related services — provision of securities broking, © BHFRAEMARS - RESHFEL  BH0HRE
underwriting and placing of securities and investment in securities. ERBEHKRE -

(d)  Money lending business — provision of loan financing and related d) HEEE-REEEREE MAERS -
services.
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6.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

GEMBRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

6. 2EEM(E)

Segment revenue and results DEBU R R EE
Corporate
finance
services, Asset Securities Money
investment management and related lending
and others services services business Total
TERMERY
REREM BEEEERYE BHERABRE BEEY st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FiEx THER THEx T T
2024 —E-NE
Revenue Was
- external —GpED 28,773 19,187 5,682 1,814 55,456
- inter-segment — BB - 605 - - 605
Other net income (Note) Hoft Y A58 (FE) - 1,025 1,097 3 2,125
Other net financial gain H b B et F 5
- all generated from —2HREERS
proprietary trading EL 11,490 - 3,765 665 15,920
Less: inter-segment revenue B EPE s (1,298) (1,630) (1,097) - (4,025)
Reportable segment revenue HE D Hes
- external customers —HNERR 38,965 19,187 9,447 2,482 70,081
Results XE
Reportable segment profit/(loss) & 7 REEE(INE) -
before impairment losses on BREESHER
goodwill (if any), amortisation on ~ FIERIATIRE D&
intangible assets and income tax & F,/ (&) 22,488 6,455 (365) (400) 28,178
Reportable segment profit/(loss) B FTS5 1HRE 5 56
before income tax Al (B518) 19,036 6,455 (365) (400) 24,726*
Amounts included in the measure 51 Ak FT15 5 AR S 2 26
of reportable segment wA (BR)NEE
profit/(loss) before income tax: B
Amortisation on intangible assets 7 & & ¥ 8 3,452 - - - 3,452
Impairment losses on goodwill BEZRERE - - - - -
Depreciation e 493 641 2,052 2 3,188
Employee benefit expense EBEBAAX 12,018 9,935 5,269 869 28,091
Other information: HipEH -
Additions to specified BEHFMREBDEEL
non-current assets # 3,002 2,002 18 - 5,022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

a MR MR (48

)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. OEER(E)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) DENE R EE
Corporate
finance
services, Asset Securities Money
investment management and related lending
and others services services business Total
EFE R
REREM  BETERYE &5 REERSE BB @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TAT FHAT FHAT TAT
2023 —ETo=F
Revenue — external customers Wiz —INPE P 20,483 15,738 1,776 5,363 43,360
Other net income (Note) Hfoe A% () - - 1,056 4 1,060
Other net financial gain/(loss) Hib B s Ues,/ (B18)
— all generated from FHE-2HAEE
proprietary trading RGEE 9,571 - (241) 86 9,416
Less: inter-segment revenue B BRI ES (2,034) - (1,056) - (3,090
Reportable segment revenue ]S D HiEs
- external customers — NS 28,020 15,738 1,535 5,453 50,746
Results 3
Reportable segment profit/(loss)  #5E 7 R {EESE -
before impairment losses BREEHER
on goodwill, amortisation on PSRRI S D &
intangible assets and income tax i Fl|,/ (E18) 13,444 6,502 (7,894) 3,900 15,952
Reportable segment (loss)/profit — ErFT{58: B RS 7 &6
before income tax (B18),/ %7 (162,461) 6,502 (7,894) 3,900 (159,953)*
Amounts included in the measure &t AR FT1S ATk
of reportable segment (B1R),/ %A eE
(loss)/profit before income tax: BIE
Amortisation on intangible assets &4 A # 15 3,452 - - - 3,452
Impairment losses on goodwill B ZREEE 172,453 - - - 172,453
Depreciation wE 543 673 2,312 1 3,529
Employee benefit expense EERFIMAL 7,792 7,195 5,070 738 20,795
Other information: HpgR -
Additions to specified BEFRBEE
non-current assets 23 994 1,225 4,075 9 6,303
5 Total segment profit/(loss) equals the consolidated profit/(loss) before * EEDIBESEF], (B18) BEERBRATERAILRE
income tax, accordingly no reconciliation of this amount is presented. = (EE) - Bt - BRI EHE -
Note: None of the other net income generated from proprietary trading was M BEZTEZNFERZFE-=F+A=1+—HItHF

included in segment revenue for the years ended 31 December 2024 and

2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

GEMBRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

6. ZHERE)

Segment assets and liabilities PHEERAE
Corporate
finance
services, Asset Securities Money
investment management and related lending
and others services services business Total
TERMERY
REREM  EEEERYE BHERABRE BEEY oy
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FiEx THER THEx T T
As at 31 December 2024 R-B-_mE+=8
Er=1[
Reportable segment assets  HEHBEER
and consolidated total RREE
assets Fobo) 439,936 43,531 244,335 29,351 757,153
Reportable segment liabilities R4 5 & & 12,460 243 231,118 318 244,139
Unallocated: other payables, RS - HbEMFOE
accrued expenses, taxation BRI
payable and employee FERRIIE R
benefit obligations EERANER 11,658
Consolidated total liabilties A aEmE 255,797
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F
+=-A=+—8
Reportable segment assets BEDHEER
and consolidated total IREAE
assets Rk 237,035 40,085 177,893 37,519 492,532
Reportable segment liabilities WENHEE 10,080 859 165,409 867 177,215
Unallocated: other payables, KD HbEAZRE -
accrued expenses and EETFS &
taxation payable e FiE 5,379
Consolidated total liabilities A afEeE 182,594

For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and allocating

resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to operating segments; and

- all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than other

REESBRARIBASEERMS -

- BEENREEENE K

—  FARESEEEENE  HEMENRE B

payables, accrued expenses, taxation payable and employee benefit
obligations (except for other payables, accrued expenses, taxation
payable and employee benefit obligations attributable to securities
and related services and money lending business segments).

X - BNREREERNEL (BERNES
K ARRIRTE MR AR D B E BN TR - &
AR - BATIR R IB B RFIRBERINERID -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-NE+-A=+—HUIEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DIERE(E)
Major customers information FEXFEH
Revenue from major customers, each of whom amounted to 10% or more of REFEREPURF(ZEAMAEEHEEZE S _NFERZ
Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, is set out E_=F+ A=+ HBIEFEREE10% A E)EF]
below: N
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
Customer A! ZEA 17,839 15,761
Customer B? BB - 5,000
1 Revenue from Customer A is attributable to asset management services 1 REBEFPANBZERANEEEERBERESRIA
and securities and related services. AR -
2 Revenue from Customer B is attributable to corporate finance services, 2 REREFPBHUWEHFRENEEMERE HERH
investment and others. fth o
Geographic information o35 & K
The Group’s operations are mainly located in Hong Kong and all the Group’s AEEEBKE T EERBETRAKERMEIERDE
non-current assets (excluding mortgage loan and financial assets at FVPL) E(TeERBERMRATFETABENIHEE)Y
are located in Hong Kong. RES o
7. OTHER NET FINANCIAL GAIN 7. HttBBEWmFE
2024 2023
—E-mE —Eo=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Interest income FE2UA 6,609 1,855
Dividend income B A 336 1
Fair value gain including BATEFABZHIBEEZ
interest income on financial A ERE
assets at FVPL (BIEFBUWA) 7,548 5,526
Distribution from financial assets at FVPL BRATFEGFAEBRNMBEED K 129 -
14,622 7,382
Total interest income derived from financial assets not at FVPL for the HE_ZE-_NME+-_A=1t—HIELFEKEFZRAFE
year ended 31 December 2024 is approximately HK$8,423,000 (2023: FABROMBEEE Z&F B U A 48,423,000/ 7T
approximately HK$6,843,000). (ZZE =% : 496,843,000/ 7T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

GEMBRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

8. EEEAMX(EREESEHS)

2024 2023

—E-mE —Eo=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHER FAT

Salaries, other benefits and Directors’ fees e Hu@\fkESHeE 17,284 15,509
Discretionary bonus BIBIEAT 9,753 4,698
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BRIREFET B 652 588
Employee benefit obligation — provision of LSP BERAER —RERESEE 402 -
28,091 20,795

9. DIRECTORS’

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS

9. EEMERTEESFMEAZHS

9.1 Directors’ emoluments 9.1 EEM<
The emoluments paid or payable to the Directors were as follows: B ENESIHESNT -
Retirement
benefits
Directors’ Salaries and  Discretionary scheme
fees other benefits bonus contributions Total
FER BHREF
Ezne Hip3gFl WIETEAL BHE 53 Mzt
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
THET TET TET TiET TET
2024 —E-NE
Non-Executive Director FHITEE
Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao (Chairman) FAREE(ER) 66 - - - 66
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren TERLE
(Managing Director) (Note) (ES2a578 ) (i) 66 - 6,570 - 6,636
Mr. Xu Haohao* (G e 66 863 - 43 972
Mr. Lam Chi Shing (Note) PR ST A (B aE) 66 1,428 908 66 2,468
Ms. Li Ming (Note) Zea - (fieE) 66 1,658 908 77 2,709
Independent Non-Executive Directors BV #EHTEE
Mr. Chan Sze Chung PR BB A 66 - - - 66
Mr. Suen Chi Wai BEEEE 66 - - - 66
Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred SEERE 66 - - - 66
528 3,949 8,386 186 13,049
@ Redesignated from Non-Executive Director to Executive Director # BT -ENANHERIERNTES AT

with effect from 4 June 2024

RYWTES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBRFME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

9.1 Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

EEMERTEREFMEAZHE

(&)

9.1 EEME(R)

Retirement
benefits
Directors’ Salaries and Discretionary scheme
fees  other benefits bonus contributions Total
HeR RN
5% Hita 7 RIETEAL REGE fast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET TET THT THT
2023 —Eo=F
Non-Executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao (Chairman) BAREE(ERE) 66 - - - 66
Mr. Xu Haohao* BREREE" 39 - - - 39
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren FEGIE
(Managing Director) (Note) (ExgE) () 66 - 2,968 - 3,034
Mr. Lam Chi Shing (Note) MBS () 66 1,394 350 64 1,874
Ms. Li Ming (Note) g dct (BitzE) 66 1,617 350 75 2,108
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHTEE
Mr. Chan Sze Chung BRBERE A 66 - - - 66
Mr. Suen Chi Wai FEEEE 66 - - - 66
Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred BlERLE 66 - - - 66
501 3,011 3,668 139 7,319
* Appointed with effect from 31 May 2023 * BE-S-=FRA=T—HEEZRE

Note: In respect of the terms of employment, Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren,
Mr. Lam Chi Shing and Ms. Li Ming are entitled to a discretionary
bonus. The amount of the discretionary bonus is at the discretion
of the Board taking into account of the performance of Yu Ming
Investment Management Limited (“Yu Ming”). No salary was paid
or payable to Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

There was no arrangement under which a Director waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group. The Non-Executive Directors’ and the
Independent Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services as Directors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

9.2 Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals included 3 and 3 of the Directors for
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 respectively, details of
whose emoluments are set out in Note 9.1 above. The emoluments of
the remaining 2 highest paid individuals are as follows:

A MR MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-NFE+-_A=1+—HIFE

%SEH@&E%%E%F@H@AZ@H%

9.2 AHRBREFHMEA

BE_T_NFR-F-=F+-A=+—HL
FE hEmmaagHEASNRE=2Rk=50%
T ARAMSFBIIRN EXME o BT
& i B E A BB 2 3140 T

2024 2023
—EomE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHER FHT
Salaries and other benefits e REAMER 2,237 2,397
Discretionary bonus BB IEAT 818 291
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RINEFFT B R 103 109
3,158 2,797

Their emoluments fell within the following bands: HENMESBRIN N EE
2024 2023
—EBomE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHT
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 21,500,000/ 7T 1 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 22,000,000/ 7T 1 -
2 2

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no emoluments

were paid by the Group to the Directors or the five highest paid

individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as

compensation for loss of office.

HE_ZT-_MFER-_ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIt
FE - AEETENEENAEESTMHALTE
RN & 1ERFE M ASRINAZ S B 7 $EE) sk
BB RS 2 fR(E -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. A& A
2024 2023
—E-NE —E=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T FHTT
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 18) HEEEF B (ME18) 97 207
Interest on bank overdraft SRITEZFE 1 -
98 207
11. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 11. BRFFERARR, (F58)
2024 2023
—E-E —E2-=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAT
Profit/(loss) before income tax is arrived KRFTS R AR K (B8 ) B0k
at after charging: AT B IR{RZEEL
Amortisation on intangible assets (Note) A A (M EE) 3,452 3,452
Auditor’s remuneration [ CIE
— Audit services — B R 1,035 820
— Non-audit services —IEEH R 95 88
Depreciation of ATRZineE
— Owned property, plant and equipment —BEYE  BEEEE 86 90
- Right-of-use assets —EAEEE 3,102 3,439
Employee benefit expense (including Directors’ EERMAZ(BEESEMS
emoluments (Note 9)) (Note 8) (P 5E9) ) (MF5ES) 28,091 20,795
Finance costs BhE KA 98 207
Exchange loss, net M i 5 1R F RE 40 20
Impairment losses on financial assets, net R E 2 RER IR 617 100
Impairment losses on goodwill gz REER - 172,453
Note: Amortisation on intangible assets is included in “Administrative and fifit . MEEENBRECINGRAER REMEEKER
other expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 2 [TTHRREMRAS ] -

comprehensive income.
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12.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2023:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. Under the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 (2023: HK$2,000,000) of assessable
profits of a subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2023: 8.25%) and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%).

The amount of income tax expense in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income represents:

GEMBHRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE_Z-WF+-—A=+—HILEFE

12. FiSHiRY
HE-_Z-_NER-_ZT-_=F+_A=1+HIFE &
BREBIR AT ER B RN ER16.5%(Z T =4 :

16.5% ) 1E LB - MEBAEB MRS - —FEHE LA

JE R i 1 52,000,000 7T (= ZF = =4 : 2,000,000
rﬁyz)&s 25% (=T ==1F :8.25% )& Fi Ktr N2 FERR
PR AE16.5% (=T == : 16.5% ) &F °

FEBmkEMEHRERTAREHAXEERS

2024 2023
—E-mE —Eo=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT AT

Current tax BREAF 18
— Hong Kong profits tax —EBREH 2,804 2,413
— Over-provision in prior years —BAFERERE (13) ©)
2,791 2,407
Deferred tax (Note 30) RIERIE (M7E30) (570) (569)
Income tax expense Fris BRIz 2,221 1,838

Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting profit/(loss) at

PSP SRR KA EN G ER /(BB 24

applicable tax rates is as follows: BEANTR -
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FHT
Profit/(loss) before income tax METSHANE R, (E518) 24,726 (159,953)
Tax calculated at 16.5% TR PA16.5% &

(2023: 16.5%) (ZE==% : 16.5%) 4,080 (26,392)
Income tax at concessionary rate RERRETE 2B (165) (165)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BEZRBBA 2R 2 (2,987) (1,273)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TR S 2 ISR 2 954 28,511
Over-provision in prior years BT FE B (13) 6)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised AEREREERE 2 RS & (14) 11
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised AERAREARIGER 2 THGTE 455 1,153
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses AL AIABER ZBEER (89) (1)
Income tax expense FriS iRz 2,221 1,838

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately
HK$45,020,000 (2023: approximately HK$42,847,000) available to offset
against future taxable profits of the companies which incurred these losses.
Deferred tax assets are not recognised in respect of these tax losses as it
is not probable that there will be taxable profit against which the tax losses
can be unitilised. These tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation.
There were no material unrecognised deferred tax liabilities.

RZZBZMF+-A=+—H  X5EBERDATH
JE518.4945,020,0007 7T (ZZF Z =4 : 442,847,000/
JT) Tﬁﬁf’ﬁiﬁﬁi%%%iﬁ\zg Al 2 AR R FERR B
B AR o RN 8L R FE AR B m A AT A SR SR B S
EE - AR ZERSEERRECHIEEE - R
BRONBED - ZERBEE TS ER - NI ES
ARARBRBEHIAEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBHERMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE

“ToMFE+-A=t—HILFE

13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE

14.

TO THE OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share attributable to
the owners of the Company is based on the following data:

13.

EARBEEAEREERER,(EIR)

AR EA AR SRR R RF (518) T4
THEHE

2024 2023
—EB-NE —EB-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Earnings/(loss) for the purposes of basic and B ESREARBERA (EE)
diluted earnings/(loss) per share 2B,/ (EE)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to AAREBANEBEREEZ
the owners of the Company w A, (E18) 22,505 (161,791)
Number of shares BRHOEE

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in
ZBETERK
&7 pntE T 81

issue for the purposes of basic and diluted
earnings/(loss) per share

A EERERREERT](EE)

2,179,046,812 1,139,330,190

There were no potential ordinary shares in issue for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023. Accordingly, the diluted earnings/(loss) per
share presented are the same as the basic earnings/(loss) per share.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares of 2,179,046,812 for the
year ended 31 December 2024 is derived from 1,139,330,190 shares in
issue as at 1 January 2024 after taking into account the effects of the issue
of shares upon rights issue completed on 2 February 2024 (Note 31).

DIVIDENDS

Dividends recognised as distribution to owners of the
Company during the year

14.

BE_Z-_NMER-_ZE-_=F+"A=+—HILEE -
WEBBITEEL AR - At - SRESRF,(FER)
EGREARRTF](EE)ER -
HEZZ-_WF+-A=+—HBIEFERN - TBERHMN
T ER2,179,046,8120% - EREREBEE =T =
F—A—BERTM1,139,330, 1901 E M - W E&E
TZZENE - AZHAEROERER BN E (KT
31) e

3=\
FRARABOEATNEBADIRKNEE

2024 2023
—EBoE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET

2024 proposed final dividend declared EER-ZZNFEZRPRE
— HKO.28 cent (2023: Nil) —0.28B (= E=-=4F : &) 6,380 =

Proposed special dividend declared EEIRZZER RIS

~ HKO.16 cent (2023: Nil) —016BI(ZB==4 : &) 3,646 -
10,026 -

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend and a special
dividend of HK0.28 cent and HKO0.16 cent per share for the year ended
31 December 2024 respectively. The proposed final dividend and special
dividend are subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The proposed final
dividend and special dividend in respect of the year declared subsequent to
31 December 2024 has not been recognised as a liability as at 31 December
2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BMENRRE

Office Leasehold
equipment improvements Total
WAERE HEWELE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FExT FExT
Cost RS
At 1 January 2023 RZZT=—=F—HA—H 620 15 635
Additions NE 54 46 100
Written off A (12) - (12)
At 31 December 2023 and N-BE-_=F+-A=+—HBK
1 January 2024 —E-_mNFE—HA—H 662 61 723
Additions NE 22 - 22
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-—mME+=-A=+—H 684 61 745
Accumulated depreciation ESgik
At 1 January 2023 R-_ZE-_=%—H—H 410 15 425
Depreciation e 87 90
Eliminated on written off T S Bl 2 8 (12) - (12)
At 31 December 2023 and R-E_=F+-A=1+—HK
1 January 2024 —ZET-_mF—HF—H 485 18 503
Depreciation e 77 9 86
At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-_mFE+=-A=+—8H 562 27 589
Carrying amount EREE
At 31 December 2023 R-TE-_=F+-A=+—H 177 43 220
At 31 December 2024 REBE-NE+=A=+—H 122 34 156
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHREMaE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

16. GOODWILL 16. BHE
The amount of goodwill capitalised as an asset, arising from acquisition of a AFRUE-—HHBRARMENMEABEEZEEZEHE
subsidiary in previous years is as follows: N
HK$’000
FHET
Cost R
At 1 January 2023, R-B-=%—-A—H"
31 December 2023, —s-—=%+=-—A=+-—8 -
1 January 2024 and —E-_NE-A—HRK
31 December 2024 —E-_ME+=-HA=+—AR 302,965
Accumulated impairment Z5tEE
At 1 January 2023 R-_ZT-_=%—H—H 21,724
Impairment losses RIEEE 172,453
At 31 December 2023, N=-B=-—=F+=A=+-—8 -
1 January 2024 and —E-_WE—-A—-HR
31 December 2024 —E-_ME+=-HA=+—8 194,177
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 December 2023 RZBE_=F+-_A=+—8H 108,788
At 31 December 2024 R-EB-_mWE+=-A=+—A8H 108,788

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the CGUs, REANENS  BEIEEREELSN - FEREK
each of which represent an operating and reportable segment of the Group, AEBMLEMAIREDE - AT :
as follows:
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Corporate finance services, investment and others TERERY  IREREM
(“CF CGU") ([EMERSEEENMN]) 74,196 74,196
Asset management services BEEERE
(“AM CGU”) (BEEBBREEAENM]) 34,592 34,592
108,788 108,788
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16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of CGUs

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined from higher of
the FVLCOD or VIU which calculations based on cash flow projections from

formally approved budgets covering a five-year period.

Key assumptions adopted in the cash flow projections for impairment reviews

are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBHRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

16. BHE(A)
BeEEEMRERNR
516 75 A S A A IS BB IA A PR S PR ok
BERSEHEET  HWRBEXOEEECRER
EHE)MRSRERN -

ARNREN GRS RERMMANEZMRNAT

CF CGU
CEMERSELEN
2024 2023
—E-@mE —TB-=4F
Pre-tax discount rate FRRTITIR & 14.3% 14.9%
Operating margin within the five-year period A FHAR AL FE 59.1% - 61.2% 62.1% — 64.0%
Revenue growth rate within the five-year period T F EAR A U e 1 R R -28.1% - 1.0% 0.0% - 1.0%
Terminal growth rate KA R R 2.5% 2.5%
AM CGU
EECERSELEN
2024 2023
—2oQmE —T-=%F
Pre-tax discount rate THRTHTIA =R 15.1% 15.5%
Operating margin within the five-year period AR A AL = A 37.7% - 39.8% 39.0% - 42.1%
Revenue growth rate within the five-year period B A U 1 R R 0.1% - 3.7% 0.1% - 5.3%
Terminal growth rate KA R R 2.5% 2.5%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
nVT A Iﬁ\j %% *ﬁ %E Bﬁ. ( '“ﬁ )

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

16. GOODWILL (Continued) 16. BHE(HE)

Impairment testing of CGUs (Continued)

The revenue growth rates and operating margin within the five-year period
are based on past performance and management’s expectations of market
development.

Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using an estimated
weighted average growth rate of 2.5% (2023: 2.5%), which does not exceed
the long-term growth rate for the advisory and asset management industry
in Hong Kong. The cash flows are discounted using pre-tax discount rates
of 14.3% and 15.1% (2023: 14.9% and 15.5%) for CF CGU and AM CGU
respectively.

AM CGU

The Directors concluded that the AM CGU will generate sufficient cash flows
from their operations that justify the carrying value of the goodwill and hence
no impairment of goodwill is necessary as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

CFCGU

The Directors concluded that the CF CGU will generate sufficient cash flows
from their operations that justify the carrying value of the goodwill and hence
no impairment of goodwill is necessary as at 31 December 2024.

During year ended 31 December 2023, due to the decline in performance
of CF CGU, the dampened stock market condition and low activities in
the capital markets in Hong Kong, the cash flow forecasts, growth rates
and discount rate applied in CF CGU as at 31 December 2023 were
critically reassessed taking into consideration higher degree of estimation
uncertainties involved. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount
of CF CGU is written down to its recoverable amount of approximately
HK$122,466,000. The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based
on VIU calculations. An impairment loss of approximately HK$172,453,000
was recognised in profit or loss during year ended 31 December 2023. All the
impairment loss is allocated to goodwill of CF CGU.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of CGUs (Continued)

The discount rates used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the
relevant CGU.

GEMBHRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

e (&)
ReEEBEMRERNR (&)

PRI R ARRTHAT - WRIREMERIR S E L FE B
AR E R

Carrying
VIU amount of CGU Headroom
REELEBENZ
EAERE REE =
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHE T FET
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_WE+=-—A=+—H
CF CGU TERMEBRSELEN 139,660 122,074 17,586
AM CGU EEEERSELEMN 55,753 37,158 18,595
Total MEt 195,413 159,232 36,181
As at 31 December 2023 RZTE=Z=F+=A=+—8
CF CGU PEMERSELSN 122,466 122,466 -
AM CGU BEEERRSELESMN 48,874 35,779 13,095
Total Bt 171,340 158,245 13,095
VIU have been determined by a firm of independent professional valuer, FREBED BB EEGHEMEETEAR AR (EE

Greater China Appraisal Limited (“GCA”), using valuation techniques.

As at 31 December 2024, the management believes that any reasonably
possible change in any of the key assumptions would not cause the carrying
amount of the CF CGU to exceed the VIU of this unit.

As at 31 December 2023, if the budgeted operating margin, revenue growth
rate and terminal growth rate used in VIU calculation of the CF CGU had
been 2%, 0.5% and 0.5% lower than management estimates respectively,
the Group would have had to recognise an additional impairment loss
of approximately HK$4,538,000, approximately HK$2,812,000 and
approximately HK$3,607,000 respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, if the discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections of the CF CGU had been 0.5% higher than management’s
estimates, the Group would have had to recognised an additional impairment
loss of approximately HK$5,129,000.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the management believes that any
reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions would not cause
the carrying amount of the AM CGU to exceed the VIU of this unit.

HE ) AEERMMETE °

REB-NE+—HA=+—H  EBERR  EHEE
BROEFAEEATENE (BT EEREERERETE
AEENAREEBEELEVNEREE -

RZT==F+=-A=+—8" “ﬁﬁﬁ’\‘ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁffﬁ
SELBVHNEREENEELSHE KRG RER
KAERESRILLE R ETELE2% - 5%&0 5% -
REBE S B TR I MR EE 18 404,538,000 7T + 4
2,812,000/ 7T & 493,607,000 7T °

R-TE-=F+-A=+—H HFOLEREELELSE
VRS RERANTRELEREEHS0.5% @« A%
B 7838 I HE R R E R 18 495,129,000/8 7T °

N_B_WER_ZT_=F+_A=+—H BEER
7 EMERBRROEMSEA N CHETEEHE
EERRSELCEUMNREEBRELEMNERE
B~
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBREMEE

(%)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE—

ToEFE+-—A=+—RLFE

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. B EE
Investment
management Trade name  SFC licences Club
agreement Backlog (Note i) (Note iii) membership Total
25 RESRE
REEEHE RE (W) (B iii) it by
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
Fhx a7 a7 a7 Thn a7
Cost A
At 1 January 2023, W=Z-=%-8-RB-
31 December 2023 and “E-=Ft-A=t-BR
1 January 2024 “ZRE-A-H 15,560 9,620 69,044 3,740 - 97,964
Addition #in - - - - 5,000 5,000
At 31 December 2024 R-B-mE+=-A=1+-R 15,560 9,620 69,044 3,740 5,000 102,964
Amortisation and impairment BERRE
At1 January 2023 —“Z-=%-A-A 15,560 9,620 11,795 - - 36,975
Amortisation - - 3,452 - - 3,452
At 31 December 2023
and 1 January 2024 k=—F-mF-A-H 15,560 9,620 15,247 - - 40,427
Amortisation s - - 3,452 - - 3,452
At 31 December 2024 R-B-mE+=A=1+-H 15,560 9,620 18,699 - - 43879
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2023 RZZB-=5+-A=+-H - - 53,797 3,740 - 57,537
At 31 December 2024 R-B-mE+=A=t+-8 - - 50,345 3,740 5,000 59,085
Notes: B3

(i)

(i)

The intangible assets are used in the Group’s CF CGU and AM CGU. For
the year ended 31 December 2024, no impairment indicator was identified.
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group identified impairment
indicator of the intangible assets due to the decline in performance of
CF CGU. The recoverable amounts of the intangible assets have been
determined from VIU calculation as disclosed in Note 16.

This relates to trade name of “Yu Ming” in Hong Kong since its
incorporation in 1996 for providing corporate finance advisory and asset

management service in Hong Kong.

SFC licenses relate to the licenses that are essential for carrying out Type
1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on securities), Type 6 (advising on
corporate finance) and Type 9 (asset management) under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFO”) (collectively the “SFC Licenses”). By holding the SFC Licenses, Yu
Ming would avoid the expenditure that was required to incur for obtaining
the SFC Licenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-NFE+-_A=1+—HIFE

18. LEASES 18. #HE&
The Group has lease contracts for office premises used in its operations. REBRAENEEBEEZRNEYEHAELR - It
Lease of office premises generally have lease terms of 24 months (2023: 24 NEYEZAPBERAEA(ZE=_=F :24(8A8) °
months).
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FRAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the AEEFERAEEENRAAEMNEEANEE N
movements during the year are as follows: T
HK$’000
FET
At 1 January 2023 R-ZEBE-_=F—H—H 690
Lease modification HEBH 6,203
Depreciation nE (3,439)
At 31 December 2023 and RZZB_=F+-A=-+—HK
1 January 2024 —ETMNFE—A—H 3,454
Depreciation e (3,102)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-_NME+=-A=+—H 352
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the AEEHEEENEARERRNFEERNEE N
year are as follows: T &
2024 2023
b it 23 —E=%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHTT
At 1 January n—A—H 3,523 697
Accretion of interest recognised during the year R EB A E FERR T B 1L R 97 207
Lease modification HEEH - 6,203
Payments 3R (3,253) (3,584)
At 31 December Rt+t=BA=+—8 367 3,523
Analysed into: 2B
Current portion BN 367 3,156
Non-current portion EREN B - 367
367 3,523
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHREMaE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-NE+-A=+—HUIEFE

18. LEASES (Continued) 18. #HE (&)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in (c) REZPERIANEEMEEARENT :
relation to leases are as follows:
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEFNE 97 207
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESENE 3,102 3,439
Total amount recognised in profit or loss REBEZPERNESE 3,199 3,646
(d) Total cash outflows for leases included in the (d ZEREREXRPEENHEHERS
consolidated statement of cash flows is as THEEMT
follows:
2024 2023
—E-NE —EC=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
Within financing activities ERE/EFH 3,253 3,584
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBHRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

19. MORTGAGE LOANS 19. RIBER

2024 2023
—E-NE —Eo=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Secured mortgage loans BEMIRBER 8,255 15,219

Analysed for reporting purposes as: AR B METER AT -
— Non-current assets - ERBEE 6,691 12,251
— Current assets - MEVAE 1,564 2,968
8,255 15,219

The major terms of mortgage loans are as follows: RIBEREZHRAT :

2024 2023
—E-NE —T-=4F
Interest rate (per annum) — variable rate loan receivables P+2%-P+13% P%-P+13%

BR(EF) ZEREERK
Tenure
FH

Principal amounts

A&

Number of mortgage loans customers
RIBEREFHA
— Individual
- fEA
— Unlisted corporate
- JE LT
Loan to value ratio
BB EL X
Collateral

ER

1 month to 11 years 3 months to 12 years

1EAZE11E 3B A =125
HK$11,000 to HK$16,000 to
HK$1,986,000 HK$2,283,000
11,000 T & 16,0008 T2
1,986,0007& T 2,283,000/8 70
15 27

15 26

- 1
0.5%-58.4% 0.9%-51.0%
Residential/ Residential/
commercial commercial
properties properties

R ES ES e E/ES

“P” refers to Hong Kong dollars prime rate offered by The Hongkong
and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited from time to time to its prime
customers, which is 5.250% (2023: 5.875%) at 31 December 2024.

All mortgage loans are denominated in HK$ and were derived from operation
carried out in Hong Kong.

[PHERALBELRITARARTRAEER IR
HOBTEEFNER R -_WF+-_A=1+—QH%A
5.250%(—ZE =4 : 5.875%) °

PRERBEFUB T ERREERELENET
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

At (%)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE—

19.

ToEFE+-—A=+—RLFE

MORTGAGE LOANS (Continued)

The following is an ageing analysis for the mortgage loans that are past due
at the reporting date:

19. BRIBEM(HE)

AT AR EE A EA SRR RAMRE D

2024 2023

—E-lEF —E=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

Less than 31 days past due BEDA31H - 953
61 — 90 days 61—90H - 946
- 1,899

As at 31 December 2024, no mortgage loan was past due. As at 31
December 2023, of these mortgage loans which had been past due for one
month or above, the respective realisable value of the collaterals can fully
cover the outstanding balances of these loans at the end of such reporting
period. In respect of the mortgage loans which have been past due for less
than 1 month, the amounts mainly represent occasional delay in repayment
and are not an indication of significant deterioration of credit quality of these
mortgage loans.

The mortgage loans have been reviewed by the lending department
to assess impairment allowances which are based on an evaluation of
collectability, ageing analysis of accounts, realisable value of collateral and
on management’s judgement, including the current creditworthiness and the
past collection statistics of individual accounts and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment
of the credit risk of the customer. The main types of collateral and credit
enhancement obtained are mortgages over residential properties/commercial
properties in Hong Kong.

The Group is entitled to sell or repledge collateral when there is a default by
the borrowers. There has not been any significant change in the quality of
collateral held for mortgage loans. The market value of these collateral were
approximately HK$63,550,000 (2023: approximately HK$114,600,000).

In general, mortgage loans are granted on a secured basis with sufficient
amount of collateral provided by the borrower. Management requests
additional collateral as appropriate in accordance with the underlying
agreements, and monitors the market value of collateral during its review of
the adequacy of the impairment allowance.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 and as at 31
December 2024 and 2023, the Group has not recognised any loss allowance
for the mortgage loans with the carrying amount of HK$8,255,000 (2023:
HK$15,219,000) which are secured by collateral as the realisable value of
collateral of such mortgage loans can be objectively ascertained to cover the
outstanding loan amounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBHRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

20. OTHER ASSETS HitbEE
2024 2023
—E-mE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT T
Contribution of the guarantee fund paid to Hong Kong {4 F&EHREE
Securities Clearing Company Limited (‘HKSCC”) ([EAEE ) RE %1\1 74 50 50
Deposits with Stock Exchange: REEZ TR S -
— Compensation fund —fmEES 50 50
- Fidelity fund —GIRES 50 50
Admission fee paid to HKSCC XN FEEEE 50 50
200 200
21. TERM LOANS RIS
2024 2023
—E-mE —Eo=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Current assets REEE
Term loans BHEAE R 9,047 5,064
Less: impairment allowance B RERE (390) (100)
8,657 4,964
The major terms of term loans are as follows: EHERFZHERAT :
2024 2023
—ZT-ImF —E=5F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
Fixed rate loan receivables (per annum) (Note) 22.0%-24.0%
ELEKER(GF) (Bf=E)
Tenure (Note) 1 month to 0.5 year
FHY (Bf=E) 18 A Z=0.55
Principal amounts HK$9,000,000 HK$1,502,000 to
HK$3,562,000
PiNG 9,000,0007%& 7T 1,502,000/ T2
3,562,000/ 70
Number of term loans customers 1 2
FHEREFEA
— Individual 1 -
- fEA
— Listed corporate - 1
- bz
— Unlisted corporate - 1
- FELmhE
Number of loan renew - 1
BEEREA
Number of times rolled over - 1 time
BN ER 1R

Note: The term loan was granted on 17 June 2024 to borrower at an interest rate
of 15.0565556% for the first interest period and 11% per annum thereafter
and repayment date was 17 December 2024. Repayment date of the
term loan be extended to 17 December 2025 on 10 January 2025 at an
interest rate of 13.616487% per annum for the interest period between
17 December 2024 and 16 January 2025 and 11% per annum thereafter.
Details of the transaction were disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 10 January 2025.

BiRE

FZHEHEFRN—Z-WERATEARTFERA

EL B 15.055556% - It 1% & F I/,%H%
i%%xa,ﬁﬂz%:: —ME+=A++H - ZBEHER

NEXAPAR =T HAF—A+HERE=-ZT A
F+-_A++B B -_FT_mWE+-A++H
EZT-RF AR+ AANMEHME  FHXA
13.616487% * LB FFIE B11% - ZR B ZF1E
BEARAR-F-HEF—A+ANRZIAEAR

5E o

ABERERERDA 20245 H

137



138

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
nVT A Iﬁ\j %% %ﬁ %E Bﬁ. ( '“ﬁ )

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE—

21.

22,

ToNFF_A=1+—HILFE

TERM LOANS (Continued) 21. EHER(E)

No ageing analysis is disclosed for term loans financing, as, in the opinion of HRERIFHEFREXEKNUEE  EERREHE

the Directors, the ageing analysis does not give additional value in the view of FEVE BRI DI AR ZEIMB(E - EIEBEHIER

the nature of the term loans financing business. DT o

As at 31 December 2024, no term loans balance (2023: approximately REZZZME+=A=+—8 ' #ZauUET(ErT D

HK$3,562,000) was denominated in United States dollar (“USD”). BREHERGIE(ZT == : 493,562,000/57T) °

As at 31 December 2024, term loans were unsecured (2023: secured by RZZF-_WE+-_A=1+—H FHEFHIREEAR

guarantors), with a repayment on demand clause. (ZZ2 =% : AEREER)  AMEERTERKE
=,

In determining the ECL for term loans, the Directors have determined using RETERER BHREEEER EEEREFERS

a number of key parameters and assumptions, including the identification of TR ERRER - BIEHAIEIERER - (AEtBART8E

loss stages, estimates of probability of default, loss given default, exposures M BHEEZEE  ZORR  BRRE - ABEREE

at default, discount rate, adjustments for forward-looking information and AR REMAERE -

other adjustment factors.

Movement in impairment losses are as follows: BEREZENT -
ECL
EHEEER
2024 2023
—EDImE —T=5F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
At 1 January n—A—H 100 -
Reversal of impairment loss credited to profit or loss FARIERS 2 B E BR[O (100) -
Impairment loss charged to profit or loss KRBT 2 EEE 390 100
At 31 December R+t=BA=+—H 390 100
As at 31 December 2024, loss allowances of approximately HK$390,000 RZZEZMF+=A=+—H ' i EHERQEELE
(2023: approximately HK$100,000) was made against the gross amount of R HE£390,0008 L ( ZF = =4 : £9100,000/7T) °
term loans.

CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 22. SHEERGHNAER
LIABILITIES

The Group has recognised the following revenue-related contract assets and AEEEBAUATHEBEENEERGHNAR
contract liabilities.

2024 2023

—EomEF —EZ=F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHERT T

Contract assets BHEE 53 58

Contract liabilities AHBE 3,243 36
The timing of revenue recognition, progress billings to customers and WA - AEPHEERERBEREFPTREHE
payments on amount received from customers would affect the amount of H%@%&%ﬁ? R RPRRE HPERRNE S E

trade receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities recognised as at the WHIE - EHEEREHNAENEE -

reporting date on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

22. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (Continued)

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets and
contract liabilities is as follows:

GEMBHRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

22, EHEEREGHNEE(E)

BREAERANABENREREERRFMOT

2024 2023
—E-mEF —To=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Contract assets BREE
Within one year —&FR 53 53
Contract liabilities BHEaE
Within one year —FR 3,243 36

The contract liabilities mainly relate to the advance consideration, including
payments on account, received from customers prior to delivering of
services by the Group. When the Group receives a deposit before the service
commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract,
until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of
the deposit.

Movements in the contract liabilities during the year are as follows:

AHNBETZARSEREHREREE P REIWEN
REEH  BEER - EXREEEREMGIKIIES
K ENESRREKRELEAREE  EIERBAR
LR BBES AL

REERN - aHABENZENT

2024 2023
—E-mE —E_=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
At 1 January W—HA—8 36 1,250
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract  REEVF AL BELELZ
liabilities balance at beginning of year B R (36) (1,250)
Increase due to cash received, excluding amount REBYREWIRES ("BEEER
recognised as revenue during the year RWE R EE) MmN 3,243 36
At 31 December W+=A=+—H 3,243 36
23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 23. ESREMERIRE  BfreRHE
PAID AND PREPAYMENTS N™RIE
2024 2023
—E-mE —Eo=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FAT
Current assets RENEE
Trade receivables (Note) B 5 W RIE (M EE) 1,452 2,041
Other receivables H i FE W SR IE 260 220
Prepayments FEfSFRIA 792 787
Rental and utility deposits e RKEHE 948 948
3,452 3,996
Note: The Group normally applies credit terms to its customers according Mzt : AEE—RIZBITXBOIRERRTFPZEE - EX

to industry practice together with consideration of their creditability,
repayment history and years of establishment. Each customer has a
maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are regularly reviewed by senior
management.

A RREFRREBF ZEREN - 82FF
BRABZRSEER - AEEHEREERYRIAR
FrEARIES - BHFURMSREIEEE LT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
PAID AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

The Board considers that the fair values of trade and other receivables which
are expected to be recovered within one year are not materially different from
their carrying amounts because these balances have short maturity periods
on their inception.

The ageing analysis of the carrying amount of the Group’s trade receivables
as at the reporting date, based on invoice dates, is as follows:

23.

EZRHMERRE ENRERE

A (8])

EXZeRA BREHRHR—FAK
WRRIBR B IRET 2 BI BB - &
HEHERAEYEEAERE -

AEBE S RYGRREERHES R
BRECAMTANT ¢

B2 85 REMmE
ZEEB A TE

HENZRE SN

2024 2023

—E-NE —B-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHTT

Within 30 days 30 A 1,452 456

Over 30 days but within 60 days HBA30RER60R K - 1,330

Over 90 days but within 365 days B0 H1BR365H A - 255
Carrying amount of trade receivables, B 5 WG IRREE

net of loss allowance (FOBREIE AR ) 1,452 2,041

At each reporting date, the Group reviews trade receivables for impairment
on both individual and collective basis.

As at 31 December 2024, loss allowances of approximately HK$327,000
(2023: approximately HK$5,091,000) were made against the gross amount

REREBH - AEEHE HRIEK
A2 BIERHY

R-T-_mME+—_F=+—H  #&

HAETER R

5 N IR R

B 1B E B 49327,0008 7L (=T = =4F : £95,091,000

of trade receivables. FEIT) e
Movement in the loss allowances amount in respect of trade receivables BEZZ-_MER-_Z-_=F+-A=+—HLLFE
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as follows: HESEWFIRELEERE ZBNT
2024 2023
—EmE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBxT FHTT
At 1 January w—H—H 5,091 5,091
Written off HEH (5,091) =
ECLs recognised during the year REEREROTEREEEE 327 =
At 31 December WN+=—A=+—H 327 5,091
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBHRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

24. AMOUNT DUE FROM A RELATED COMPANY 24, FEW— BB A TRIE
2024 2023
—E-NEF —T==F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Trade in nature H54E 5,612 4,225

The balance is unsecured, interest free and with credit terms agreed by both
parties.

The ageing analysis of the amount due from a related company as at the
reporting date, based on invoice dates is within 30 days.

The relationship and transactions with the above related company are
disclosed in Notes 34(i)(a) to 34(i)(b).

ZHERELER  REREHTREREE

TR o
FEU—FEI R8BS A B R IE IR S B AR R R B BRI AR
AITAI0BR °

ER it BN B RO B R AN A2 5 TE T 5E34() (a)
W o

Z=34(i)(b)Hh

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL 25. AP EFABENMBEE
2024 2023
—ENE —T-=4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHIT
Non-current assets FREEE
Listed perpetual securities ETKEES
— Listed in Hong Kong —REBLEM 63,789 49,579
— Listed outside Hong Kong —REBAIMEE T 21,298 -
85,087 49,5679
Current assets REBEE
Equity securities held for trading FHEEE 2 IRAFE
— Listed in Hong Kong —RNEBE™ 5,823 867
Debt securities held for trading RHEEBE 2 BEBE
— Listed in Hong Kong —REA LT 18,108 9,823
— Listed outside Hong Kong —REBAIMEE ETH 28,775 49
Listed perpetual securities EHKEES
— Listed in Hong Kong —REBLEM 32,686 -
— Listed outside Hong Kong —REBAIMEE T 54,640 -
Other unlisted financial instruments HEmIEtmemTaE 8,133 =
148,165 10,739
233,252 60,318

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the listed perpetual securities represent
listed perpetual bonds with distribution rate ranging from 4.10% to 8.05%
(2023: 5.25% to 8.05%). All the perpetual securities are presented within
equity in the issuers’ financial statements.

The debt securities, listed perpetual securities and other unlisted financial
instruments are denominated in USD.

The above equity securities, debt securities, perpetual securities and other
unlisted financial instruments held for trading are classified as current assets.

Fair values for these instruments have been measured as described in Note
38.7.

These financial assets are subject to financial risk exposure in terms of credit
risk, price risk, interest rate risk and currency risk.

#_?_mi)& ?—fi-t— B=+—8  EhxE

BHBLEMKERES © DIRENT410%E8.05%(=
T = =4 :525%%E8.05%) ° FTAKEBHFERITAY
TEMER P TREZA ©

EBES « EKEE
FHE

EFREMIELTERTANUET

FPRFEEBRRAZ S - BEFES
FEMEMIASBERRBEE -

QHA%&H,HE
ZEHMBTANAFECHKEE - MHEES8. 7/ ©

ZEMBAERAZSRERRAR - BREAR
BREERBRZABERR -

- AR,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

At (%)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE—

26.

27.

ToEFE+-—A=+—RLFE

CLIENT TRUST BANK BALANCES

The Group maintains segregated deposit accounts with a recognised bank
to hold clients” monies arising from its normal course of business. The Group
has classified the clients’” monies as client trust bank balances under the
current assets section of the consolidated statement of financial position
and recognised the corresponding trade payables (Note 28) to respective
clients as it is liable for any loss or misappropriation of clients’ monies. The
segregated deposit accounts balances are restricted and governed by the
Securities and Futures (Client Money) Rules under the SFO.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

26. FFEFERITHEER

AEER —FKRANBITRARBILFERERS - AFR
REREBBETELNTEHE - HRAEEHE
PREm AR BBAREEE - ST NRIED
BRGRMBRARKNREEELD THEPEERT
e WHEREN TEEPOERE S ENRE T
28) - WU F R P AR R M E RPN R R
B(EFRIBDHRBIFKRLZERR o

27. BERBEEEEY

2024 2023
TBECmEF ==

HK$’000 HK$’000

FH&T FAT

Cash on hand and at banks FHEMETRS 13,930 17,823

Short-term time deposits with initial maturity TREER A3EARNZ

within 3 months EHETHER 84,620 52,5683
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated LREMBRARPHNES X

statement of financial position BEEEY 98,550 70,406

Unsecured bank overdraft EERRITES (76) -
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated FEReRERTNESR

statement of cash flows HeEEY 98,474 70,406

Included in cash and cash equivalents of the Group is approximately
HK$18,291,000 (2023: approximately HK$353,000) of bank balances
denominated in USD. The Group did not have significant exposure to foreign
currency risk at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Bank overdraft is denominated in USD, unsecured, interest bearing of
5.83%, repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED

GEMBHRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

28. EZRHEMEMNRERENFEX

EXPENSES
2024 2023
—E-NE —Eo=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FRT FHT
Trade payables arising from the EHR 5 R 48 IRIEH)
ordinary course of business of securities —RESBIZF
dealing and brokerage services (Note) EENE SEMNFIE ()
— Clients =] 228,498 163,160
- HKSCC —BBEE 2,228 -
Other payables and accrued expenses HAbfESFRIB R EATHX 11,522 5,277
242,248 168,437

Note:

The settlement terms of trade payables attributable to dealing in securities
are two days after the trade date.

No ageing analysis is disclosed as, in the opinion of the Directors, an
ageing analysis does not give additional value to users of this annual report
in view of the business nature of securities dealing and brokerage services.

As at 31 December 2024, included in trade payables arising from the
ordinary course of business of securities dealing and brokerage services
was an amount of approximately HK$230,741,000 (2023: approximately
HK$163,152,000) payable to clients in respect of segregated deposit
accounts balances received and held for clients in the course of the
conducting of regulated activities.

29. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Long service payments

Under the Employment Ordinance, an employee who has been employed

under a continuous contract for not less than 5 years of service is eligible for

LSP under the following circumstances:

The employee resigns at age of 65 or above;

The employee dies during employment;

The employee resigns on ground of ill health;

The fixed term employment contract expires without being renewed;

The employee is dismissed which is not because of redundancy or
serious misconduct

i - BFRZEIENBEZRNRABEGRRA/R S AR
ﬁﬁ% °

HREERR - ERNEHFR 5 R R XBE
B RERDT A ERETAFHRERERIMEE -
E LB B AR e D AT

R-ZFB-WE+_A=1+—H  BFXHRERLR
BH—REXBBRETELNEZBENRETAN
230,741,000/ 7T (=T = =4 : #)163,152,000%

L) ARHARSREXBBRETURBMERELHEN
B 17 AR P A AT RE (R 2P ST B9 FRIR o

20. BRERAEHK
REBREE
RIBER D) - REMIEA OE R AR EHTORS
FHER  RTABRT - GREDEBRES -
o [ERMEOmAIA LREM ;
©  EERSESRERET
©  EARREREES
o ERSHRERSOEHELRES:

s EERBREVFAREIBEETETH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHREMaE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

29. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 20. EEEMN&® (&)

144

(Continued)

The LSP benefit is determined with reference to the employee’s last full
month’s salary (capped at HK$22,500) and number of years of service.
An employee may also elect to use his average wages in the 12 months
immediately preceding the termination of employment contract for the
calculation. The LSP benefit is capped at HK$390,000 for each eligible
employee. The accrued benefits derived from the Group’s mandatory
contributions under the MPF Scheme in respect of that employee can be
used to offset the LSP benefit.

Under the MPF Schemes Ordinance, the Group, as an employer, is required
to make mandatory MPF contribution at 5% of the employee’s monthly salary
(capped at HK$1,500). The Group makes the contribution to a trustee. MPF
Scheme has attributes of a defined contribution plan.

The Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Agreement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 was enacted in June 2022 and
the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region announced
that the abolition of the use of the accrued benefits derived from employers’
mandatory contributions under the MPF Scheme to offset LSP will take effect
on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”).

The following key changes will take effect since the Transition Date:

- Accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF
contributions cannot be used to offset the LSP in respect of the
employment period after the Transition Date.

- The pre-transition LSP is calculated using the last month’s salary
immediately preceding the Transition Date, instead of using the last
month’s salary of employment termination date.

An actuarial valuation of LSP was carried out at 31 December 2024 by
management.
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29.

30.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-NFE+-_A=1+—HIFE

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 29. EEEANSE®E(E)
(Continued)

Movements in the liability recognised in the consolidated statement of AR RTPERNEEEHNT -
financial position are as follows:

2024
—EmEF
HK$’000
FHERT
At beginning of the year REH) -
Expenses recognised in profit or loss: RIERPRANRAX :
Current service cost BVER AR 75 AK AR 318
Interest cost B A 84
402
At end of the year RER 402
Expenses of HK$402,000 (2023: Nil) are included in employee benefit BIZ402,0008 L (— T -=F : )BT AGZEBFER
expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other HthzEWaE+TEERARALZF
comprehensive income.
The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of the reporting period RBERREANEEBEBRBROT ¢
are as follows:
2024
—EBEoQmEF
Discount rate (per annum) BHIR R (F4F) 41%
Expected rate of future salary increase (per annum) KK E & TEER IR (FF) 0.0% - 1.8%
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 30. EEMRIEERE
Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary differences under the BLEHMBEDREEEABREBEEREREEDE
balance sheet liability method using principle taxation rate of 16.5% for the H mMBEZZE-_MFR-Z-_=F+-A=+—HIt
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. The following is the deferred tax FEFEANEEREE16.5% ° N TEHIAEEE R
liabilities recognised by the Group and the movements thereon during the REET BB EREFAZE -
year.
Adjustment on intangible
assets arising from
acquisition of a subsidiary
BB —EHELQR
EENEREEFLRR
HK$’000
FAT
At 1 January 2023 R=-E-_=F—H—H 10,063
Credited to profit or loss for the year (Note 12) sFAFERBE(ME12) (569)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R =F+_A=+—BR-Z-_MFE—-A—H 9,494
Credited to profit or loss for the year (Note 12) sFAFERBE(ME12) (570)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZEBE-_mE+=-—A=+—H 8,924
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHREMaE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. &
Number of shares Amount
BRHEE ax-C)
HK$’000
FET
Authorised: JEIE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each FRR010B T2 LR
At 1 January 2023, R=-B-=%—-HA—H"
31 December 2023, —E-=f+=ZA=+—H"
1 January 2024 and —E_NE-A—HRK
31 December 2024 —E-_ME+=-HA=+—A 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Number of shares Amount
BREE Eix ]
HK$’000
FERT
Issued and fully paid: BRITRAR :
At 1 January 2023, R=ZZ_=F—A—H"
31 December 2023 and —ET-=F+-_A=+—A8k
1 January 2024 —ZE_NFE—A—H 1,139,330,190 113,933
Issue of new shares upon rights issue AR BRI TRTAR 1,139,330,190 113,933
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_mE+=-A=+—H 2,278,660,380 227,866
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company completed a rights  EE_NFE+_A=+—HILFEARN  KRABITKT
issue of 1,139,330,190 shares on the basis of one rights share for every —IRERE - BBEE —RAR R TS — AR
one share of the Company at a subscription price of HK$0.15 each. The net RS A% D HY EL#E - ££2%£971,139,330,1900% @ RIBEEX
proceeds from the rights issue were approximately HK$170.1 million. 0.158 7T o (PG FT{E 2k IE F 25 47170,100,00055 7T, ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBHRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

The share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) which was passed in
the Company’s extraordinary general meeting on 22 May 2019.

The Company operates the Share Option Scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible persons for their contribution
to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group or
any entity in which the Group holds any equity interest (the “Invested Entity”).
Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include (1) any employee
(whether full-time or part-time) of the Group and any Invested Entity; (2) any
director (including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
directors) of the Group or any Invested Entity; (3) any supplier of goods or
services to any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (4) any customer
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (5) any consultant, adviser, manager,
officer or entity that provides research, development or other technological
support to the Group or any Invested Entity; or (6) any person who, in the
sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Group
or any Invested Entity eligible for options under the Share Option Scheme.
Summary of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme set out in the
Appendix IV to the Company’s circular on 27 April 2019. Unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, the Share Option Scheme will remain in force for 10
years until 21 May 2029.

HE_Z-WF+-—A=+—HILEFE
32. RESERVES 32. #E
(a) Group (a) F=K£H
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein are AEBRNRBBECEREZE N REEREBEK
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. 273
(b) Company (b) A21F
Share Retained

premium earnings Total
B E REBR FLEC)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FHET
At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=%—HA—H - 274,754 274,754
Loss for the year FREE - (85,793) (85,793)

At 31 December 2023 and RZZEZ=F+-A=+—HRK
1 January 2024 —Z-_NFE—HF—H - 188,961 188,961

Issue of new shares upon rights issue P AR PR 1 TRTAR
(Note 31) (FiE31) 56,153 - 56,153
Profit for the year F R - 44,642 44,642
At 31 December 2024 R-B-WNE+=-A=+—H 56,153 233,603 289,756
33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 33. lERAETE

MR B ([BRERT 8 DR ARRI BB R - —NF
FEAZ+ - HHBREFRIAS L EEE -

RABETHEBE 85 a2 B M EEAERALTEHAR
KEFTEHNER R REREEEHEFREBRES
BB KRS HARERAEEF AR EABRENTMNE
B((REgR ) AEENANER - BEREEINGE
ﬁ%%ﬁi%@%ﬁ( VAEE REAIREEROIAER (T

EBARBES)  QAREREIREEENEM
i%(a?ﬁﬂ : #%ﬂ TRBIIFMITES) : QKM

AL R B A A ST E B R A0 () A dn sk R A (L e
7 (@R RESRERNREERNEFTS O/ EFMA
SHLEMREERRHAT MBS EMRN RN
BE - mRAL S KHE - Eﬁ&ﬂ%&iﬁ‘?ﬁ% P Sk(E)EE

BERBBER AL A A RENEMERELE

BEREA azﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ% B
ERERMALT - AARAHAZT-—NFENA=+tH
ﬁ@ﬁiﬁ'@%ﬁﬁ’?ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ% B EZEFHEE « BRIESTT
FEHER] - BRETEBARI0OFEEZT-NF
ﬁﬂ:+*ﬁo
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHREMaE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 33. BRETEI(E)

148

The maximum number of unexercised share options permitted to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise,
to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of resumption
of trading (i.e. 26 July 2019). The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Share Option Scheme within
any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject
to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject to
approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In addition,
any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in
excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an
aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21 business
days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
HK$1 in total by the grantee. An option may be exercised in whole or in part
by the grantee (or his/her personal representative(s)) at any time before the
expiry of the period to be determined and notified by the Board to the grantee
which in any event shall not be longer than ten (10) years commencing on the
date of the offer letter and expiring on the last day of such ten (10)-year period
subject to the provisions for early termination as contained in the Share
Option Scheme. There is no general requirement on the minimum period for
which option must be held before the exercise of any option.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the Directors, but may
not be less than the higher of (1) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the offer date, which must
be a business day; (2) the average of the closing price of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five consecutive
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (3) the nominal value
of a share on the offer date.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at
shareholders’ meetings.

No share option was granted, exercised, cancelled, lapsed or outstanding
under the Share Option Scheme for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

The Company would comply with the requirements under the current version
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules in respect of the matters of share options.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as those disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following significant related party
transactions, of which, (d) to (f) below also constituted an exempt connected

transaction under the Listing Rules, during the years ended 31 December

2024 and 2023, which were carried out in the normal course of the Group’s

business:

GEMBHRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

34. EBFIRS

Bz S A IS mAR BT rREED -

REEEE

—EMOFER_ZT_=Ft+_A=t—BLFEARAET

5| E KBRS
R RE

R 5 (B Tt ZORE EmRAIER
R5) HRAEE B EXRBBETET

2024 2023
—E_E —To=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHER FHT
Income from SHK Hong Kong Industries Limited (‘SHK”) KB # TIREER AT ([#H L)%
and its subsidiaries, a related group EB AR (—EEBER) WA
(a) Asset management fee income (Note (i)(a)) (a) BEEEEBWA (K@) 16,804 14,747
(b) Sundry income (Note (i)(b)) (o) FETEURA (HIFES) b)) 921 991
(c) Securities brokerage service (Note (i)(c)) (c) FEHAE4 AR (M) (c)) 114 23
Income from substantial shareholders of the Company K EAA T F ER T RAQNT
and entities controlled by substantial shareholders of FERRESI 2 EBUWA
the Company (the “Related Entities”) (Note (i)(c)) ([FZRARE 8 |) (M 5Ed)(c))
(d) Securities brokerage service d) FEHLELRB 358 64
Income from an entity significant influenced by REARREERREATE
a substantial shareholder of the Company ZER([ZEATETE])
(the “SF Entity”) (Note (i)(c)) (FFEE() ()
(e) Securities brokerage service ) FEHLL RS - 435
(f) Advisory fee () EERZE - 750
Notes k=S
()@ An investment management agreement (the “Investment Management ey MEARSRHBEMTIIVREEERE([IREEE

Agreement”) was entered into by the subsidiary, Yu Ming and SHK. Under
the Investment Management Agreement, Yu Ming agreed to assist the
board of directors of SHK with the day-to-day management of SHK. Yu
Ming is entitled to a management fee equal to 1.5% per annum of the
consolidated net asset value attributable to the owners of SHK, calculated
and payable in arrears on a quarterly basis by reference to the arithmetical
average of the consolidated net asset value attributable to the owners of
SHK on the last day of each calendar month during each quarter; and
a performance fee equal to 20% of the amount by which the audited
consolidated net asset value attributable to the owners of SHK of each year
ending 31 December exceeds the audited consolidated net asset value
attributable to the owners of SHK as at the end of the latest financial year
in which Yu Ming was entitled to a performance fee. SHK was the Group’s
related company since Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren was common director of
the Company and SHK.

HEl) - REREERHE  RERABEHHHTE
R TETEEERE - BRABZAESRN
THEANEEREEEFEI %I FERE(TIE
2ERTHRAANEBEEEBEEFENSTEERE
A&E— B2 FEBASFFHERS) « RIEER
HMIBEEAREBEET A=+ —BISFRELE
REREEFEBRN THEARBHERZAR
RENSOMRFERAREEELRAEEFEL
BRZ20% 2 RAE - ANFEREEREIRAK
MIZHRESR NI ANKEZBEH AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

35.

Notes: (Continued)

(i

(i)

Yu Ming provided day-to-day management (including office administration
and operation) to SHK and fees were charged in accordance with the
Investment Management Agreement.

Subsidiaries provided advisory service and securities brokerage and
related services to the related group, the Related Entities and the SF Entity
and fees were charged in accordance the terms mutually agreed by both
parties.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
the other transactions with the Group’s related parties mainly related to
the expenses paid by the Group on behalf of its related parties and net
advances made to the Group’s related parties.

The compensation of key management personnel of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024 is salaries, allowances and bonus of
approximately HK$12,863,000 (2023: approximately HK$6,877,000) and
pension costs for defined contribution plan of approximately HK$186,000
(2023: approximately HK$139,000).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had no major
non-cash transaction.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had non-
cash lease modification to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
of approximately HK$6,203,000 and approximately HK$6,203,000,
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for office premises and
office equipment.
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35.
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(ii) B SHAMERR LMt A EE - AL
EREB A ETOEMR P EZHAEENR KR ELREE
AR BRRAAEEREE S IRENBFEES
B

(i) HE-_Z-_MF+-_A=1T—HILFEALEEEFE
BIEABNFH AT S « 20 RIEA 412,863,000
BIL(ZZT == : 496,877,000/ T) &7 EHK
FERARERAK186,0008T(ZBE-=4F: 4
139,000/ 7T) °

RERERERME

() EXFREXS

BHE-Z-_MF+-_A=1+—HILFE
WEBAFRERS °

P REE

HE_Z-_=—F+_A=1+—HILtEE KX&£E@
BRBRAEMERNRARLERELTHRERE
BERAESENIRSHBEEIL NS B AL
6,203,000/ 7T } 496,203,000/ 7T °



35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b)

GEMBHRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

35. RMERTRBRME(H)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) RMETBREENEEZHER
financing activities
Lease liabilities
HEAE
HK$’000
FET
At 1 January 2023 R—ZE-_=F—HF—H 697
Changes from cash flows: REREE)
Lease payments AERK (3,377)
Interest paid BAAFIE (207)
Total changes from financing cash flows BMERSREHEE (3,584)
Other changes: Efth &5 :
Interest expenses FEFRAX 207
Lease modification HEBH 6,203
Total other changes Hth & Eh4a e 6,410
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZE—_=F+-_A=+—HERZ-ZT-_NF—HF—H 3,523
Changes from cash flows: e M
Lease payments HERK (3,156)
Interest paid BEARFLE (97)
Total changes from financing cash flows BER SR EBEE (3,253)
Other changes: Efth &8
Interest expenses MERX 97
Total other changes Hfth S Bh4aE 97
At 31 December 2024 R-B-_NE+=A=+—H 367
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHREMaE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE-Z-_WNF+_A=1T—HILFE

36. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL 36. AARTEHEA S

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of the subsidiaries at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

R -_WER_ZT_=F+_A=+—H " KBRAF
BT ¢

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company

ERREEREBAL
Directly Indirectly
Hi B
Place of
incorporation/
registration/ Issued and
Name of Company operation paid-up capital 2024 2023 2024 2023 Principal activities
{70 AR 3L/ i B/
DERER K E BORBEREA —B-RF —ZT-=F ZTINE —T-=F FEEKEH
Yu Ming Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100% 100% - - Dealing in securities,
advising on securities,
advising on corporate
finance and asset
management
] s 10,000,00077T 100% 100% - - BARS BEFRHE
RoHREERERHEER
Rzt EEER
Morton Securities Limited Hong Kong HK$48,000,000 100% 100% - - Securities broking,
(“Morton Securities”) underwriting and
placing of securities and
investment in securities
BEAEFARAH s 48,000,000 7T 100% 100% - - BARE BARBEHEKE
(BEEF]) EREBHFRE
Morgan Finance Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$6,500,000 100% 100% - - Loan financing and
related services
BEAUBAERAH s 6,500,000 7T 100% 100% - - BX@ERAERY
Mega Base British Virgin Islands USD1 - - 100% 100% Loan financing and
Resources Limited related services
HBEARES E - - 100% 100% ERFE REERS
Yu Ming High Dividend Cayman Islands USD19,200,000 100% - - - Investment in securities
Fund
HERS 19,200,000 7T 100% - - - BHRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-NFE+-_A=1+—HIFE

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

37. AATIBIRRER

COMPANY
2024 2023
—EomE —ZT=#F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FisE FHx FAT
Non-current asset FREBEE
Investment in subsidiaries B R RRIRE 496,781 346,539
496,781 346,539
Current assets REEE
Amount due from a subsidiary JE Uk — PRI BT /B A B 5K IE 20,281 26,436
Other receivables and prepayments H4th e Uk R0 % T8 A5 F00E 405 391
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRSEEY 223 1,275
20,909 28,102
Current liabilities b5 =R
Other payables and accrued expenses H BB R E 39 41
Amount due to a subsidiary e — R B A RIFRIE 29 71,706
68 71,747
Net current assets/(liabilities) BPRBEE(BF) 20,841 (43,645)
Net assets BEE 517,622 302,894
Equity fE=
Share capital [ 31 227,866 113,933
Reserves ] 32(b) 289,756 188,961
Total equity FERBE 517,622 302,894

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved and

authorised for issue by the Board on 27 March 2025 and is signed on its

behalf by:

Lee Wa Lun, Warren

THEp
Director

EF

RN EHBRRER S _AF=A =+t A%EE
FEHRAERKETE  YHATERREREE

Kuo Jen-Hao
BAR
Director

£
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

At (%)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE—

38.

ToEFE+-—A=+—RLFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial
instruments in its ordinary course of operations and in its investment
activities. The financial risks include market risk (including currency risk,
interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Financial risk management is coordinated at the Group’s headquarters,
in close co-operation with the Board periodically. The overall objectives in
managing financial risks focus on securing the Group’s short-to-medium-
term cash flows by minimising its exposure to financial markets. Long-
term financial investments are managed to generate lasting returns with
acceptable risk levels.

38.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of

BHEBEER AV ETE

REENEABEKBRERRNEREZDHEASH
IEE%EEGEEM%H - IR BET SRR (BEE

- FERERREAERRR) - EERBRRR
ﬁﬁﬂﬁxx °

BREREENASEANEE YEHEESSER
B - EEMBERNBREBRSEBREEREET
HHERAEBARS RENPEHRESTRE - AEEE
AEZZBABKFZERT EERMERMBRENESE
FEA B -

38.1 YBEEREEZEH

REEB MBI KT 25BN TERIM 5 E

financial position relate to the following categories of financial assets ERAENREE :
and liabilities:
2024 2023
—E-NE —ET-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
Financial assets MBEE
Financial assets at FVPL BAFEGFABRNRBEE 233,252 60,318
Financial assets at amortised costs: REHEN AT 2NN BEE -
— Mortgage loans —RBER 8,255 15,219
- Term loans —BHER 8,657 4,964
— Trade and other receivables, deposits paid —E 5 REMEWFE
and other assets BfRE RHEMEE 2,860 3,409
— Amount due from a related company — ek — e REEE A | 28 5,612 4,225
— Client trust bank balances —BPEFERTHE 230,741 163,152
— Cash and cash equivalents —RERBESEEY 98,550 70,406
587,927 321,693
Financial liabilities BBas
Trade and other payables and accrued expenses & 5 & H fib &1~ 7018 [ fE 515 52 232,555 164,174
Bank overdraft RITEXR 76 -
Lease liabilities HEBRE 367 3,523
232,998 167,697
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-NFE+-_A=1+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 38. I EREER AFLEE(E)
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.2 Foreign currency risk 38.2 Hhik [ B
Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash INERBRIESR T A AFESARTBESTER
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in HSNESTE R E B M E LR B RER - AEBEARE D
foreign exchange rates. Most of the Group’s transactions are carried R G ABTTHETT °
out in HK$.
The financial assets and financial liabilities which are denominated in NETHEZHBEERTBEENAT :

USD are as follows:

2024 2023
—E-mE —Eo=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FaT FAT
Financial assets denominated in USD BB EAETTEHE 160,633 13,787
Financial liabilities denominated in USD B 7% B BUAETEHE (76) =
Short-term exposure 5 HA R B 160,557 13,787
Financial assets denominated in USD BB ENETTAE 85,087 49,579
Long-term exposure R AR 85,087 49,579
A reasonable change in foreign exchange rate for USD in the next ETTHIIMNEEERRARRI1I2EANEIREEEE
12 months is assessed to result in immaterial change in the Group’s HEABBAKERBIRRETN(BER) RER
profit/(loss) after tax, retained earnings and other components of IR E ARSI D HIRE MBS -
equity.
38.3 Interest rate risk 38.3 FIZE@E b
Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash flows MERBIRESBTAZ AFESHSREHEA
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market TSRS EHELREBNER - AEBEBBER
interest rates. The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk for FERRTES  ERRRBERNZE =X
changes in market interest rates through its client trust bank balances, (RFRIEREMmE)MEAX TSRS 2R
deposits and mortgage loans at floating interest rates, which are A R R o

subject to variable interest rates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.3 Interest rate risk (Continued)

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s
profit/(loss) after tax (and retained earnings) in response to reasonably
possible changes in the interest rates at variable interest rates as at

38. MIBEAKEER AL EE(HE)

38.3 FIR @k ()

TR FREA S BT RAIE B2 FIEA
BAREY  ARERHERT, (BR)(RR
BRF) 2 BORD -

the reporting date.

2024 2023
—EomE —Eo=F

Increase/

(decrease) in retained earnings

Effect on results
after tax and Increase/

Effect on results
after tax and
(decrease) in  retained earnings

interest rate (Note) interest rate (Note)

BB EER BB EE R

Fl=Em/ REBANzNE FlZxsghn, REEFzZE

(R2) (B=E) D) (P =E)

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTET FET

Client trust bank balances — EF{EFLIRTTA S 0.5% 963 - -

Client trust bank balances ~ E {21748 (0.5%) (963) - -

Deposits IEE - 0.5% 493 0.5% 352

Deposits PEE (0.5%) (493) (0.5%) (352)

Mortgage loans RIBER 0.5% 34 0.5% 64

Mortgage loans RIBEN (0.5%) (34) (0.5%) (64)
Note: BiisE

Positive figure represents increase in profit and retained earnings or
decrease in loss whereas negative figure represents decrease in profit and
retained earnings or increase in loss as appropriate.

The sensitivity analysis of the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk at the
reporting date has been determined based on the assumed percentage
changes in interest rates taking place at the beginning of the financial year
and held constant throughout the year. The assumed changes in interest
rates are considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of
current market conditions and represents management’s assessment of
a reasonably possible change in interest rates over the period until the
next reporting date. These are the same method and assumption used
in preparing the sensitivity analysis included in consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Group accounts for the lease liabilities at amortised cost, therefore a
change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period would not affect
profit or loss and equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBHRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

MHEREER NV ETE(E)

38.4 Price risk 38.4 [E1& &k

Price risk relates to the risk that fair values or future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.

Debt securities, perpetual securities and other
unlisted financial instruments

The Group is exposed to price changes arising from investments
in debt securities, perpetual securities and other unlisted financial

BEnRRIEERTIAZAFESIRKESRE
A5 A k= i 3R B 2 R

EXES  KEZBFRAMFIF LT
TETA

REBEUD R AR AT EF ABRRNPEEE
ZEBES  KEREFLEMFELTERT AR

instruments classified as financial assets at FVPL. The Group’s price BEAZEREPER - NEBE 2 EERE R
risk exposure is summarised as follows: I

2024 2023

—E-mE —Eo=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TR FHIT

Financial assets at FVPL BRAFEF A BNV BEE 227,429 59,451
At 31 December 2024, if price had been 5% higher or lower with RZZBEZMFE+=ZA=+—8 ' WER LK
all other variables held constant, profit after tax for the year would TFE5%  MABHEMESRBEFIE  KXFE

have increased by approximately HK$10,885,000 or decreased by
approximately HK$10,885,000.

At 31 December 2023, if price had been 5% higher or lower with

2 Btk i F & 1 N 4910,885,0007% JT 3k IR 2 49
10,885,000/ 7T °

MRZZB-=F+_"A=+—H " HWEBLAX

all other variables held constant, loss after tax for the year would TFE5%  MABHEMEHRBEFIE  KXFE
have decreased by approximately HK$2,891,000 or increased by 2B ER e R 42,891,000 7T 8 1% H1 49

approximately HK$2,891,000.
Equity securities

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from equity

2,891,000/ 7T °
&N

AEBEHLINWEEEE R 2R EEL ZIRE

investments classified as trading securities. All of these investments BHER - IEZSREHY R LD -
are listed.
The Group’s listed equity securities are primarily listed on Stock AEEZ EMRAFES EERERFT LT - &

Exchange. The portfolio is in accordance with the limits set by the
Group.

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s
profit/(loss) after tax (and retained earnings) and other components
of the equity in response to the reasonably possible changes in the
relevant stock market prices, to which the Group has significant
exposure at the reporting date.

HERRAEEREZRE -

RS R RS A AR EA EARR 2 A
BMETEARALED - T3 BARERBE N
F/ (518) (RARB AR RS EAAR 5 2 B0
£ -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.4 Price risk (Continued)
Equity securities (Continued)
In response to the reasonably possible change in the market price

of the listed equity securities, the Group’s investment in listed equity
securities has the following exposures:

38. MIBEAKEER AL EE(HE)

38.4 B R (&)
BRAF 5 (48)

HELTRAELSMEZAERIEES  ~EH
R EMBRAFEZZKEFATRER :

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
Increase/ Effect on results Increase/ Effect on results
(decrease) in after tax and (decrease) in after tax and
securities’ retained earnings securities’  retained earnings
market price (Note) market price (Note)
BRBIEEER BB EER
BEmEENS KRERAZFE FTHEMELNS RIBBIZFE
(R2) (H=E) Om4) (FfH5E)
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET
Hong Kong market HEEMS 9% 438 6% 43
Hong Kong market BB (9%) (438) (6%) (43)
Note: MI5E -

Positive figure represents increase in profit and retained earnings or
decrease in loss whereas negative figure represents decrease in profit and
retained earnings or increase in loss as appropriate.

The sensitivity analysis of the Group’s exposure to equity price risk at the
reporting date has been determined based on the assumed percentage
changes in the stock market price or other relevant risk variables taking
place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout
the year. The assumed changes represent management’s assessment
of reasonably possible changes in the relevant stock market index or the
relevant risk variables over the year until the next reporting date. These
are the same method and assumption used in preparing the sensitivity
analysis included in consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

MHEREER NV ETE(E)

38.5 {5 & A K EFHE

38.5 Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial
instrument would fail to discharge its obligation under the terms of the
financial instrument and cause a financial loss to the Group.

The credit risk for liquid funds is considered negligible as the
counterparties are reputable financial institutions with high quality and
credit ratings.

The Group adopts conservative investment strategies. Usually
investments are in liquid securities quoted on recognised stock
exchanges, except where entered into for long-term strategic
purposes.

For the Group’s investments in listed debt securities and listed
perpetual securities, the investment team of the Group assess the
financial performance of the issuers to ensure that the issuers can
satisfy the repayment of the principal and interest as they fall due. The
Group has set portfolio size limits to control the Group’s exposure to
the credit risk. The Group also monitors the credit rating and market
news of the issuers of respective listed debt securities and listed
perpetual securities.

The Group is exposed to credit risk on debt securities and perpetual
securities measured at FVPL, which are not subject to HKFRS 9’s
impairment requirements as they are measured at FVPL. The carrying
value of these assets represents the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk on financial instruments not subject to the HKFRS
9 impairment requirements as at 31 December 2024. Hence, no
separate maximum exposure to credit risk disclosure is provided for
these instruments (2023: Nil).

The Group’s management considers that all the financial assets
that are not impaired for each of the reporting dates under review
are of good credit quality. The Group assessed the credit quality
of the counterparties by taking into account their financial position,
credit history and other factors. Management also regularly reviews
the recoverability of these receivables and follow up the disputes or
amounts overdue, if any. The Directors are of the opinion that the risk
of default by counterparties is low.

Generally, the Group considers that the credit risks associated with
mortgage loans and term loans are mitigated because they are
secured over properties and/or guarantee.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.5 Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Credit approval process

The Group manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the
amount of risk it is willing to accept for individual counterparties and by
monitoring exposures in relation to such limits. The Group evaluates
the credit risk for each loan application on the basis of the repayment
abilities of the customers having regard to their financial position,
employment status, past due record and credit reference checking
result (if applicable).

Before a loan is granted, the head of lending department (“LDH”) with
the assistance from outsourcing agents, has to obtain and check on
the background information of the potential borrower/guarantor (if
applicable) including identity document, income proof and residential
proof, among other things at the initial stage. Upon receiving the
loan application forms, know-your-customer procedures will firstly
be carried out and credit risk assessment will then be conducted
by the lending department. Background of the potential client/
corporate client (the background of its beneficial owners will also be
considered), purpose of the loan, source of fund for repayment, value
of collateral or guarantee (if applicable) and all information which is
regarded necessary will be considered before granting of the loan.
Before renewal of loans, LDH would obtain up-to-date due diligence
information and perform credit risk assessment again.

All loans must have a good and reasonable repayment prospect
and loan recovery actions will be strictly undertaken to ensure the
repayment of the loans. LDH is also responsible for ensuring on a
daily basis that the relevant operational procedures and controls
implemented are adequate and effective in accordance with the
Group’s Money Lending Policy (the “MLP”) and the Property Loan
Operation Procedures Manual.

Size tests will also be prepared by the finance department to ascertain
whether there are any Listing Rules implications for granting a loan.
After the credit risk assessment is approved, the LDH will respond
to the potential client the target loan amount and if the potential
client agrees to it, loan documents including mortgage/guarantee
documents will be prepared by appointed legal advisers. If notifiable
transaction is constituted, all of the Directors will be informed and the
respective loan will be subject to the Board’s approval and relevant
disclosure will be made as required under the Listing Rules.

Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

BHREBEER NV ETE(E)

38.5 {5 & Ak K B R ()

FEFHESF

AEEEBHERERERNRZHFHEZHE
REFRERR  WEBELRZERBEHA
R RER RIEGIEERR - AEEREFNE
HEENEBRERRFENEERR - EhERE
FEMBAAR - EBAARR - BEBRLREREE
AR - ER -

ERTERZAH  BEXHBEE(ERHBEE DE
SMNAIRIZZ BT - BT IAPE BRI AR S
BEERAERAER) 2ESER  BRE
fﬂ?lﬁ’ﬂl\&ﬁ%ﬁ BRASCAE © WA AR R Ak

Z o WEERBHERE  BERHEELETT
ﬁ@)ﬁ&}* REETEERRTE - ERTE
A BERBERE CERFZER (M
ZREBEXBEBEACER) BEXREH BFRE
R - %fi?%uﬁwi‘{%ZﬁE(ﬁma)ﬂ)Lx&ﬁﬁﬁ
%Bzwo?%bEZﬁﬂ SEERAT BERHEEH
EESHNRBASTER - WHEETEERR
ATl ©

FrEERNEEERIFEAEZENRAS * WA
BISEEEFAWITE  UREREERER - B
HEEMBERRA %*ETJEZKE.EUABZK(TE
KSR ) R E SRR T FH i B e 4858
EERR T REEEETIRAREAR o

MBS EITRIENR URBRERTERES
RE EMBAZEE - FERRITEESIE
% BRFEAKMECRFONEAZERS
B MREEREFPRE - ABBBIEE 2 ARER
EHEETOU - BIEER R - BEKA

FTATMNR S  FEEFHRNE  MERE
MALEESIE - WEK EMRROREED
MERAHER o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38. MiKAKEERATHENE(E)

38.5 = & A Kml B 5 & ()

38.5 Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)
Credit approval process (Continued)

Credits are granted according to the hierarchy of approval authorities
within the Group, based on a control limit determined by the Board,
including the LDH and the boards of directors of the respective
companies within the Group and the Board (if applicable).

This control limit, also specified in the MLP, is set according to the
materiality of the loan exposure decided by the Board from time to
time. Any single loan amount exceeding the control limit has to be
approved by the Board.

The Group has engaged independent professional advisers (the
“Advisers”) to carry out the internal audit function and risk management
by performing an appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems. The Advisers
have conducted regular review and compliance checking over all
aspects of credit processes to ensure that the established money
lending policy and procedures are complied with and sufficient controls
are in place to mitigate credit risk.

As at 31 December 2024, mortgage loans of the Group with carrying
amount of approximately HK$8,255,000 (2023: mortgage loans and
term loans approximately HK$20,183,000) are secured by collaterals/
guarantors. Except for the mortgage loans (2023: the mortgage loans
and term loans), none of the Group’s financial assets are secured by
collateral or other credit enhancements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.5 Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Credit approval process (Continued)

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition
of asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To
assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at
the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial
recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportable
forwarding-looking information.

(i) Trade receivables, contract assets and
amount due from a related company

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for
ECLs prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of
the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables.
The Group always measures the loss allowance for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECLs on
trade receivables are estimated by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and current market condition in
relation to each debtor’s exposure. The ECLs also incorporate
forward-looking information with reference to general
macroeconomic conditions that may affect the ability of the
debtors to settle receivables. To measure ECLs, the trade
receivables have been grouped based on share credit risk
characteristics and the days past due according to the ageing
as disclosed in Note 23. Expected loss rate of current trade
receivables, contract assets and amount due from a related
company are determined as below as the trade receivables,
contract assets and amount due from a related company
mainly represent amounts due from the customers with high
credit rating and no history of default. There is change in the
expected loss rate for trade receivables for the year ended
31 December 2024 mainly due to significant change in the
forward-looking information of trade receivables based on
which the expected loss rate is determined.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.5 Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

(i)

Trade receivables, contract assets and
amount due from a related company
(Continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s trade receivables, contract assets and amount
due from a related company using a provision matrix as at 31
December 2024 and 2023:

GEMBHRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

MHEREER NV ETE(E)

38.5 = & A Kml B 5 & ()

() EZEKZE SHEERE
W — BB A a7 B (4E)

TREFINZZB-_MFR_T_=F+=
A=+—RAKBEFERABBERAENE
SREWGIA - AHEBERER—EEHA
RAIRIERNEERBRER

Expected Gross carrying

As at 31 December 2024 loss rate amount ECLs
R-EB-mE+=A=+—H FEHEEE IREAAE FEHEEER
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Within 30 days 30HA 0.1% 7,118 1
Over 90 days but within 365 days #3890 H{EF365H A 100.0% 326 326
7,444 327

Expected Gross carrying
As at 31 December 2023 loss rate amount ECLs
RZT=Z=F+=-A=+—H iEL)pE BREA(E TEHEEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Within 30 days 30HA 0.1% 4,734 -
Over 30 days but within 60 days  #iB3081E/60H A 0.1% 1,330 -
Over 90 days but within 365 days BiB90H1B365H A 0.1% 255 -
Over 365 days iBiAm365H 100.0% 5,091 5,091
11,410 5,091
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

At (%)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.5 Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Other receivables

Upon adoption of HKFRS 9, the management of the Group
takes into account the historical default experience and
forward-looking information, as appropriate, for example the
Group considers the consistently low historical default rates
of counterparties, and concludes that credit risk inherent in
the Group’s outstanding other receivables is insignificant. The
management of the Group has assessed that these receivables
do not have a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and risk of default are insignificant, therefore the
ECLs for these receivables are not material under the 12-month
ECL and no loss allowance provision was recognised during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Mortgage loans and term loans

The Group’s internal credit risk assessment for mortgage loans
and term loans comprises the following categories:

BHREBEER NV ETE(E)

38.5 {5 & Ak K B R ()

(ii)

(iii)
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Ko AEEBERETNEERE - BUPH
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=+ A=t+—BILFETERE
RE R -

BB REHEN

AEEHRBERREREROAINEE
BB R G BIEA TR R

Internal credit risk Loans at
categories Description amortised costs
REBEERBER it BB AT R E K
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have any past-due 12-month ECL
amounts
KR HFFRBAORBRIE - WEETE AR 128 B EEE EEE
Watch list Debtor usually settles overdue balances after due date 12-month ECL
BERKR EEA—RREBI B A BB RS 12{8 AR EE R R
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition  Lifetime ECL — not
based on information from internal or external resources credit-impaired
ATER ERARHINEER - EERR B T HERRBEILM > HEHREEEE -
BEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired
&8 EBRBETEEEFEERE 2 EEBE SRR —
EfEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty ~ Amount is written off
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery of debts against the allowance
account
R AREBERNEBARRRENBREE - AW ESEELAKE BB BRI B FOR

Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.5 Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Mortgage loans and term loans (Continued)

The Group takes into consideration forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort in its
assessment of significant increase in credit risk as well as in its
measurement of ECL.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all mortgage loans and
term loans credit risk categories are classified as low risk/watch
list and 12-month ECL.

Client trust bank balances and cash and
cash equivalents

In respect of client trust bank balances and cash and cash
equivalents, the Group mitigates its exposure to credit risk
by placing deposits with banks with established credit rating.
Given the high credit ratings of the banks, management does
not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

Movement in the loss allowance in respect of trade receivables and
term loans during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as

38.

GEMBHRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

BXEREER AFEEGE)
38.5 =& ks &R EFPL ()

(iii) #ZBEEFHREHE ()

T EERRBE L BEREES
185 AEEEBERTUENRIRS
BN ERG HRTHE M AR -

RIE—NER T =F+_A=+—
A - BIBER KRB HEFRBRER 5 E
HAERK ERENI2EAEHEE
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EEEY

(iv)

REPERRITEHLIRE LREEHEY
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BE-_ZE-_MER-—ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIt
FE - BHRBGEREGHERBEREZ SN

follows: T
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
12-month ECL impaired) impaired) Total
2 HTE A 2 HITE ]
1218 A FE FEEE FEEE
FEEE (BIEERHE) (EERE) st
Trade Trade
Term loans receivables receivables
BHEXN BB EWRIE B S EWRE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FExT FET FET
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=F—H—H = 5,091 - 5,091
Impairment losses recognised BRI EEE 100 = = 100
At 31 December 2023 and R-T-_=%+—A
1 January 2024 =+—HK
—ZE-mFE—HF—H 100 5,091 - 5,191
Transfer to lifetime ECL HRE > HERER
(credit-impaired) EE(EERE) - (5,091) 5,091 -
Written off bk - - (5,091) (5,001)
Reversal of impairment losses REETIE R O (100) - - (100)
Impairment losses recognised BRERREEE 390 327 - 77
At 31 December 2024 R-B-WE+=A
=+—H 390 327 - 717
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GEMBRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.5 Credit risk and impairment assessment

38. MIBEAKEER AL EE(HE)

38.5 {5 & Ak K B R ()

(Continued)
12-month
Gross carrying amount ECL Lifetime ECL
12 R RS
RAAE FEFR 2HRNEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
g1 2] B3 A% o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TET TER TER TEx
As at 31 December 2024 R=B-mF+-A=+-A
Mortgage loans RIBET 8,255 - - - 8,255
Term loans BHER 9,047 - - - 9,047
Contract assets ANEE - - - 53 53
Trade receivables* B SR - - - 1,719 1,179
Financial assets included in other receivables, HREEAEEMERFUE -
deposits paid and other assets - Normal** BN REMEE-——R" 1,408 - - - 1,408
Amount due from a related [l —BH AR
company (trade in nature) FE(EHHE) - - - 5,612 5,612
Client trust bank balances EPELRTEN 230,741 - - - 230,741
Cash and cash equivalents BeRELZEN 98,550 - - - 98,550
348,001 - - 7,444 355,445
As at 31 December 2023 WZEZ=%F+-A=+-H
Mortgage loans RIBET 15,219 - - - 15,219
Term loans HHED 5,064 = = = 5,064
Contract assets ANBE - - - 53 53
Trade receivables* 2 SN - - - 7,182 7,182
Financial assets included in other receivables, BT AE BEEMENFUE -
deposits paid and other assets - Normal*™ BfifEe REMEE-—K 1,368 - - - 1,368
Amount due from a related el — BB AR
company (trade in nature) HE(BHNE) - - - 4,225 4,225
Client trust bank balances RPEARTER 163,152 = = = 163,152
Cash and cash equivalents BERRLEED 70,406 - - = 70,406
255,209 - - 11,410 266,619
& For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * MAEBERA BT EARENE SRR

approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix
is disclosed in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.
* The credit quality of the financial assets included in other
receivables, deposits paid and other assets is considered to be
“normal” when they are not past due and there is no information
indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.6 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to meet
its obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled
by delivering cash or other financial assets. The Group is exposed to
liquidity risk in respect of settlement of other payables and its financing
obligations, and also in respect of its cash flow management. The
Group’s objective is to maintain an appropriate level of liquid assets to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long term.

The Group manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring
scheduled debt servicing payments for long-term financial liabilities as
well as cash-outflows due in day-to-day business. Liquidity needs are
monitored on a day-to-day basis. Long-term liquidity needs for 360-
day lookout period are identified monthly.

The Group maintains cash, short-term bank deposits and marketable
securities to meet its liquidity requirements for up to 30-day periods.
Funding for long-term liquidity needs is secured by the ability to sell
long-term financial assets.

Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual maturities for its
non-derivative financial liabilities as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

GEMBHRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

8. MKEMEREN A FENE(HE)

38.6 B E = ER

mBED RS R EAEEREBITARNES
SEMHBEEGENBABRBEEEZRRE
M - NEBEESEEMENFIRREITRIE A
FEARTERSREEETHAERSDE SR
B - AREZ BIREREREE 2 REEEKF -
NENEREHARDESTE -

AEE T BB BEELEG RAM R ENERY
MABEBHRSRL - UWERHEHRBEESFE -
AEBZAERARPESTE L SBAEER
HIB0 R EHIRBESTE -

AEBSFR S MHRRTERREEREF AR
NARKZIORMEAZARDESTE - BBH
ERPUBEEZRNRERARDHESTE -

ATAOMAAEER S _NEFR_FT=_=
+=ZA=t+—BZITENBREZRHELOH

R o
Total
contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount cash flow on demand
EHREE —F R
BREE ReRERHE RER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FExT FET
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZT-_WFE+—-A=+—H
Non-derivatives: FELTAE -
Trade and other payables and B S5 REAMENRIER
accrued expenses PR 232,555 232,555 232,555
Bank overdraft RITEX 76 76 76
Lease liabilities HEAE 367 370 370
232,998 233,001 233,001

ABERERERDA 20245 H

167



168

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.6 Liquidity risk (Continued)

38. MIBEAKEER AL EE(HE)

38.6 B E = Ak ()

Total More than
contractual Within 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than
amount cash flow on demand 2 years
EHRBE 1FR HiB15{E
REE ReREHLEHE RER DR2F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FExT FET FHET
As at 31 December 2023 RIB-=4F
+=A=+—8
Non-derivatives: IENTAE -
Trade and other payables 5 RHAFENFIE
and accrued expenses RpEEtFX< 164,174 164,174 164,174 -
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,523 3,622 3,252 370
167,697 167,796 167,426 370
38.7 Fair value measurements 38.7 AV {EFTE
Financial assets carried at fair value B FEIRZHEEE

The following table presents financial assets measured at fair value
at the reporting date in accordance with fair value hierarchy. The
hierarchy groups financial assets into three levels based on the relative
reliability of significant inputs used in measuring the fair value of these
financial assets and liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the following
levels:

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities;

- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e.

as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-NFE+-_A=1+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38. MiKAKEERATHENE(E)

38.7 Fair value measurements (Continued) 38.7 AV EFE (&)

BAFESEZMHEE (&)

Financial assets carried at fair value (Continued)
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial asset is ATFEERHEREATEFEMSBERNZ#H
ABBEREER  ZEBHVBEEETERS
significant to the fair value measurement. 55 o

categorised in its entirety is based on the lowest level of input that is

The financial assets measured at fair value in the consolidated

KRBV ERARNIEZ AT B EVMBEEET
statement of financial position are grouped into the fair value hierarchy D AUTHAFERER
as follows:

As at 31 December 2024
R-B-WE+=—A=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
- E-E H=E st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FHER FExT
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVPL BATEFABENTIEEE
— Listed equity securities held —BFEEEN LT
for trading R AN E 5,823 - - 5,823
— Listed debt securities — FhfE%ES
(Note 38.7(a)) (Hi3£38.7(a)) - 46,883 - 46,883
— Listed perpetual securities — ETKEES
(Note 38.7(a)) (Mi3£38.7(a)) - 172,413 - 172,413
— Other unlisted financial instruments —H#3F Fi4 @ T &
(Note 38.7(b)) (H13£38.7(b)) - - 8,133 8,133
Total fair value AFERE 5,823 219,296 8,133 233,252
As at 31 December 2023
RZTZ=F+=-A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—E FfE E=IE #aEt
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT FET FHT
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVPL BRATEF AN BRNVBEE
— Listed equity securities held —FEEEM
for trading ETRARE S 867 - - 867
— Listed debt securities — EhEBE S
(Note 38.7(a)) (Pff5£38.7(a)) - 9,872 - 9,872
— Listed perpetual securities — ErKERES
(Note 38.7(a)) (Pff5£38.7(a)) - 49,579 - 49,579
Total fair value N EAE 867 59,451 - 60,318
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.7 Fair value measurements (Continued)
Financial assets carried at fair value (Continued)

There were no transfers between levels during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

(@) Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2
fair value measurements

Fair value of listed debt securities and listed perpetual
securities have been determined by a firm of independent
professional valuer, GCA, using valuation techniques.

The methods and assumptions applied for the valuation of the
debt securities and listed perpetual securities are as follows:

Listed debt securities and listed perpetual securities with
market quote in an active market, the fair value will be the mid-
market quote plus accrued but unpaid interest. The fair value
of these listed debt securities and listed perpetual securities
is approximately HK$219,296,000 (2023: approximately
HK$59,451,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the suspended equity security
was delisted and the management considered the fair value
of the security was zero. Fair value loss of approximately
HK$127,000 was recognised in the profit or loss during the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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38. MIBEAKEER AL EE(HE)

38.7 X F{EFTE ()
B A FESRZMHEEE (&)

BE T _MFER-_ZE_=F+_-A=+—H1t
FE - BRzETEES -

(@) HERWMAE_EBLTVEE
PTER 0 2 8 AR

FHEBES R ETXERESZATER
BB B (A (E AT EEE ST E R A E R

EE5E -

BERES R ETKERESEERTERZ
TERBRET

RERMISHEAMEREZ EHES
FHER ETMKEES  HAFEAMS
WETREEN EEAERTZFE o %
ErMEKEFR M KEZHFZ AT
B#9219,296,0008 L (ZT==F : &
59,451,000/ 7T) °

R-TB-=F+-A=+—8 - %=k
REHFERGREREREBRAZS S LA
FEAT BE-ZT_=—F+-_A=1+—
HIEFE - AFEEEL127,000%8 TE
RIBEERER ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.7 Fair value measurements (Continued)

Financial assets carried at fair value (Continued)

(b)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3
fair value measurements

The methods and assumptions applied for the valuation of the
unlisted investment are as follows:

The significant unobservable inputs of the investments of the
Group are the net asset value of the underlying investments
held by the investee. The Group has determined that the
reported net asset values represent the fair values of the
investments provided by the external counterparties.

Reconciliation for financial instruments carried at fair value
based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) are as

GEMBHRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

38. MiKAKEERATHENE(E)

38.7 A FEFE(H)
BAFESEZMHEE (&)

b) HERMTEE=ZEXIFEFE
FTER 8 2 85 AR

FEETIR B M ER TR 2 75 KRR
T

AEBRENEAIFAEREARB AR
RERAFANEERENEEFE - &
SENARHZ BEFEERINBE TR
BHATEE -

ARNBAFUERGARE(E=F)RRQ
FENSH IR ZHRAT :

follows:
2024 2023
ZECmEF —E=5F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHER FHT
At 1 January w—A—H - =
Additional securities acquired A FH 7,815 -
Net gain recognised in profit or loss ER=P Rz K 318 -
At 31 December Rt+—A=+—H 8,133 =

38.8 Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities

The disclosures set out in the tables below include financial assets and

financial liabilities that:

are offset in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position; or

are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or
similar agreement that covers similar financial instruments,
irrespective of whether they are offset in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position.

Under the agreement of continuous net settlement made between the

Group and HKSCC, the Group has a legally enforceable right to set

off the money obligation receivable and payable with HKSCC on the

same settlement date and the Group intends to set off on a net basis.

38.8 WHMBEERMBKAE

TRAMEHNEERE TISBNBEERTBE

&

o REAKESAMERRRAE : K

o  FETREMUSRTANARHHITL
BFHEE SRR - MRS
EARAEEE SRR A

REAEEEEBEE 2 MIEHNSEFEAS
et AR A )E R 58 BB TREA AR R
FEHHEEBAEEHERKRNENTRAE B
REERHRFRELLE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBRRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.8 Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities (Continued)

Except for balances which are due to be settled on the same date being
offset, amounts due from/to brokerage clients that are due to be settled
on delivery versus payment basis, amounts due from/to HKSCC that
are not to be settled on the same date, financial collateral including cash
and securities received by the Group, and deposit placed with HKSCC
and brokers do not meet the criteria for offsetting in the consolidated
statement of financial position since the right of set-off of the recognised
amounts is only enforceable following an event of default.

38. MIBEAKEER AL EE(HE)

38.8 MEMBEER MK EE(R)

BRAMESHR B 2 I E eI - R IR A
LEPESRENREAR LRMEENSHE - &
W N EBAEETERR BB T UEEER
B BBER R (BEAKEMEERNE S RE
) RERRBBBENREL T HARNGER R
BN R REEO R - AACHERS A
REMERE R AR BIBAT

Gross
amounts of
recognised Net amounts
financial of financial
(assets)/ assets/
Gross liabilities (liabilities)
amounts of set off in the in the
recognised consolidated consolidated
financial statement statement
assets/ of financial of financial
(liabilities) position position  Net amount
REE 0%
MRRIEE RESHEMR
ERIANE ZCRIANE MREHZ
BE/ (BE) MBEE/
(BfE) A% JBfEEE (AR B8 B
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FEx TER TR FTEx
As at 31 December 2024 RZB-_NFE+=-A=1+—H
Financial assets BB EE
Trade receivable arising from the ordinary &% 5 & £& 40 iR 1)
course of business of securities dealing ~ —AREFSBIZPELH
and brokerage services B 5 ENGRIE 2,114 (2,114) - -
Financial liabilities g =t
Trade payables arising from the ordinary — :B%32 5 K48 40 IR%H)
course of business of securities dealing ~ — & BIZRE £
and brokerage services & S REFRIE (4,342) 2,114 (2,228) (2,228)
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=A=1+—H
Financial assets B EE
Trade receivable arising from the ordinary 5% %2 5 M A& 40 BRI #Y
course of business of securities dealing ~ — AR EFEBIZHELH
and brokerage services B 5 WG 45 (36) 9 9
Financial liabilities BBaE
Trade payables arising from the ordinary  B5 % 5 M A& 40 IRTEH)
course of business of securities dealing ~ —AREFSBIZPELH
and brokerage services B S ENTIE (36) 36 - -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

39. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern and to provide an adequate return to the

39.

GEMBHRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

ErERE

AEE 7 BARER B R RERANEEARNAFRLE
HEEBERABREHEHEE

shareholders.
The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure and makes N5 B FE TR I E HAER B EL AN A I R R A AR R
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic FAREAREHE - AEB U\ AEEER R AEERIH
conditions. The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of debt to B o
equity ratio.
The debt to equity ratio at reporting date was as follows: RiE Bz B EESL=T
2024 2023
ZEBE-mEF ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Total debt A fEEmE 76 -
Total equity MR 501,356 309,938
Debt-to-equity ratio R Bk by K 0:1 0:1

Each of Yu Ming and Morton Securities is registered with the SFC for the
business it operates in. Yu Ming and Morton Securities are subject to liquid
capital requirements under Securities and Futures (Financial Resources)
Rules (“SF(FR)R”) adopted by the SFC. Under SF(FR)R, each of Yu Ming
and Morton Securities must maintain its liquid capital (assets and liabilities
adjusted as determined by SF(FR)R) in excess of statutory floor requirement
or 5% its total adjusted liabilities, whichever is higher. The required
information is filed with SFC on a regular basis and Yu Ming and Morton
Securities have complied with those requirements during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

BHENBEESSREMEEEBNBESEM - R

rEEEFABTERERM2ES MR (MBRER)
RATEFEHEMBRER)RAUNDETRBESR
E e RIFEZMBE(MERER)RA - SHREEES

BRRBERDES (BREZFLPE (MERER)RAIE
EZERABREENAGE)BHEE TRAELECDHE
BEATEZ% (NREERE) - IREZERBEH
RXTERS  BHRLEERFHE_T_MFER-F
“=FF A=t HUEFEARETRERE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

At (%)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE—

ToEFE+-—A=+—RLFE

40. LITIGATIONS

On 8 May 2017 Yu Ming received a writ of summons dated 5 May 2017 filed
by China Health Group Limited (formerly China Healthcare Holdings Limited)
as plaintiff (“Plaintiff”) against (i) Yu Ming; (the “Action”) (i) 4L 4; and (jii)i
1S as defendants under High Court Action No. HCA1077/2017. Pursuant
to the statement of claim therein, Plaintiff sought, inter alia, against Yu Ming
a declaration that the engagement letter entered into in March 2016 and
another engagement letter entered into in May 2016 between Plaintiff and
Yu Ming are void and an order that Yu Ming do forthwith pay the sum of
HK$5,300,000, being the fees paid by Plaintiff to Yu Ming under the said
engagement letters, to Plaintiff. Yu Ming has appointed legal advisor to act for
it in relation to the Action, and based on the information and documents Yu
Ming provided to it, such legal advisor is of the opinion that Yu Ming has good
prospect of successfully defending the Action. Furthermore, Yu Ming has on
7 June 2017 taken out an application to the court to strike out the Action on
the ground that it discloses no reasonable cause of action and/or is frivolous
or vexatious and/or is unnecessary and tends to prejudice, embarrass or
delay the fair trial of the action and/or is otherwise an abuse of the process
of the court. The hearing of the application scheduled to be heard on 21
June 2017 has been adjourned by consent. Plaintiff filed and served its
affirmation in opposition to the striking out summons on 29 August 2017,
and Yu Ming filed and served its affirmation in reply on 1 November 2017.
The hearing for the striking out summons was heard on 19 June 2018 and
the application was dismissed. Plaintiff filed its amended statement of claim
(which amendments are principally additional details which Plaintiff averred
support its claims, but no amendments were made to the actual claims
and reliefs sought against the defendants in the statement of claim) on 30
August 2018, Yu Ming has filed its defence and counterclaim by 11 October
2018 and Plaintiff has filed its reply and also served a Mediation Notice on 4
January 2019. Yu Ming served its request for further and better particulars
of Plaintiff’s reply on 10 January 2019 and filed and served an amended
defence on 17 January 2019. Mediation took place on 25 February 2019
but was unsuccessful and the parties failed to reach any agreement. Plaintiff
filed and served answers to the request for further and better particulars of
Plaintiff’s reply on 18 April 2019. The Plaintiff has filed in court a re-renewed
writ of summons on 4 June 2019, and the re-renewed writ of summons has
expired on 8 May 2020. The Plaintiff has not applied for a renewal of the
expired re-renewed writ of summons after May 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

LITIGATIONS (Continued)

The Group’s legal advisor is of the view that Yu Ming is entitled to rely on the
“indoor management rule”, which states that any person contracting with
a company and dealing in good faith with the same may assume that acts
within its constitution and powers have been properly and duly performed
and are not bound to inquire whether acts of internal management have
been regular. They are also of the view that there are contemporaneous
records and correspondence evidencing Yu Ming’s work done for the
plaintiff pursuant to the engagement letters. Based on the information
and documents provided to it by Yu Ming, the Group’s legal advisor is of
the opinion that, the vagaries of litigation aside, Yu Ming is very likely to
successfully defend the Action.

The Directors, having obtained the legal opinion from the legal advisor,
considered that the financial impact arising from providing the above litigation
is insignificant and accordingly, no provision in respect of this case was made
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

On 10 January 2025, the Group, as lender, and an independent third party,
as borrower, entered into an agreement supplemental to the loan agreement
dated 17 June 2024 (the “Supplemental Agreement”), pursuant to which the
parties to the Supplemental Agreement agreed to extend the repayment date
of a loan in the principal amount of HK$9,000,000 to 17 December 2025,
or such other date as may be agreed in writing between the lender and the
borrower. The Group considered the transaction could bring interest income
to the Group. Details of the transaction were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 10 January 2025.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
Board on 27 March 2025.

40.

41.

42,

GEMBHRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HILFE

BN

AEBERBHRS - RMARKEIAEREERA] -
ERREEAATR-FHRARR LA L REZ A BB
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ENR5 - AHREMBERRARBREREHERE
FRER TAE » RIBRHAERHNOEM L AEH
FEBHERRS  MRFRNESRR2CRBEEAKEH
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BEBREH
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*”*E(VEFM*‘?)’U\)?’%EEL@?%_ZQ_EE/‘TH‘?—J:E

XMl Lz ((HamE]) Bt #Ek
el #177 B B %7 £9,000,000/8 7T 2 B A (E 8 H H
EREZZ-AF+-A++LR  KERAEERAE
EREZH MAH - ZK;%EM%EA?&%T?%ZKEI&BK
MBWA - ZRGZHABEERR AR _Z_HF—H
THTEEZ XERBEE -

#AEM R R

HZEPBHRRN =
REETIE -

C—RFE=ZA-ttHEEESIE

ABERERERDA 20245 H

175



176

Five Year Financial Summary

LEMBME

Year ended 31 December

BE+-HA=+—HLEE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—T-TE —E-—F —E-— —E-=F T
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FAT FET FAT FAT FHET
Results:
ES N
Profit/(loss) attributable to the owners of the Company
NAREB AEEER(EE) 48,708 1,135 5,365 (161,791) 22,505
Adjusted profit before goodwill impairment losses (if any)
attributable to the owners of the Company
RATRE ABIGREE 2 RAERER (08 )KL AR T 48,708 1,135 27,089 10,662 22,505
As at 31 December
R+=—HA=+—8
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—ERoRF - —fF —E-— —E-=F —E-E
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHTT FHTT FHT FHT FHExT
Assets and liabilities:
EEREE:
Current assets
MENE EE 131,394 305,671 279,636 260,503 496,794
Total assets
BEMATE 514,935 679,097 655,336 492,532 757,153
Current liabilities
mENEE 36,512 201,474 173,544 172,733 246,471
Total liabilities
AfEeE 49,706 212,733 183,607 182,594 255,797
Total equity
G g G 465,229 466,364 471,729 309,938 501,356
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